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We are relentless 
in our pursuit of 
excellence
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Report of Chair of Board 
and Chief Executive
Welcome to the Monash Health Annual Report 2018-19
Our progress over the past year shines 
through the many achievements 
highlighted in this report. 

In our 165th year, the care we provide to 
our community continues to grow with 
4.1 million episodes of patient care, an 
increase of nine per cent over last year.

A highlight was the launch of our Strategic 
Plan 2019-2023, which provides our 
focus for the next five years, setting out 
our aspirations for the future and what we 
will do to meet the needs of the local and 
broader Victorian community.

Our strategic intent we are relentless 
in our pursuit of excellence defines our 
approach as a leading teaching and 
research health service of international 
standing. After much consultation, we 
identified six guiding principles:

 ▪ We consistently provide safe, high 
quality and timely care

 ▪ We provide experiences that exceed 
expectations

 ▪ We work with humility, respect, 
kindness and compassion in high 
performing teams

 ▪ We integrate teaching, research and 
innovation to continuously learn and 
improve

 ▪ We orientate care towards our 
community to optimise access, 
independence, and wellbeing

 ▪ We manage our resources wisely and 
sustainably to provide value for our 
community

Andrew Stripp 
Chief Executive

Dipak Sanghvi 
Chair of Board

Our health professionals made 
improvements to clinical practice across 
the world, conducting world-class clinical 
and translational research, with 531 new 
research projects and 1,417 patient-focused 
research projects currently underway. 

We have continued to deliver our 
Transforming Care Program of work, 
introducing initiatives across the 
organisation, enabling us to provide the 
best possible care and experience for our 
consumers.

A stand-out for this portfolio has been our 
work towards the introduction of our largest 
technology-based transformation, the 
Electronic Medical Record (EMR) Program, 
implemented in August 2019.

In line with our guiding principles, 
we launched an Equity and Inclusion 
Strategy. The Strategy ensures we are 
a place of opportunity and inclusion for 
our employees. We worked with our 
community, setting strategies and key 
actions to improve and enhance the care 
we provide. 

The $135 million expansion of Casey 
Hospital continued, and we look forward 
to the phased opening of clinical spaces 
next year. Australia’s first Victorian Heart 
Hospital and upgrades to Monash Medical 
Centre’s Emergency Department also 
progressed well. 

In the following pages, you will find 
highlights that reflect our large and 
diverse health service and demonstrate 
our principles, values and commitment to 
excellence.

Acknowledgements

It is a privilege and honour for both of us 
to lead this organisation, full of dedicated 
individuals who share a passion for 
achieving excellence.

We extend thanks to our Board Members 
and Executive team for their leadership. 
To all Monash Health employees, thank 
you for your work and the wonderful 
contribution you make every day to 
the health of our consumers. To our 
community, we thank you for your 
feedback, which provides us with rich 
insights into how we can improve and 
continue to grow.

In addition, we recognise and honour 
the incredible strength our 377 official 
volunteers bring to Monash Health; along 
with more than 100 volunteers who visit 
our hospitals from organisations such 
as the Starlight Children’s Foundation, 
Ronald McDonald House and Clown 
Doctors.  

We acknowledge and thank the Victorian 
Government, Department of Health and 
Human Services (DHHS) and Federal 
Government for supporting us to serve 
our diverse and evolving community.

Together, we are delighted to share the 
Monash Health Annual Report 2018-19.
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The year in review

We consistently 
provide safe, high 
quality and timely care
The implementation of the EMR Program 
is pivotal in transforming how care is 
provided. It will provide clinicians with 
access to timely information about the 
people they are caring for, and assist 
them in making decisions with easier 
access to best practice information.

In addition to our digital strategy, we 
have embraced a whole-of-hospital 
transformation with our Transforming 
Care Program, enabling us to provide the 
best possible care and experience for 
our consumers. The Program comprises 
12 connected streams of work through 
leadership, teamwork and redesigning 
systems and processes. 

Our achievements in this financial year 
include:

 ▪ Monash Health was the first service 
in Victoria to implement the Neonatal 
Early Onset Sepsis Calculator to keep 
newborn babies with their mothers so 
that bonding and breastfeeding can 
be enhanced. 

 ▪ Monash Health was the statewide 
lead for the DHHS Maternity and 
Newborn Rural and Regional 
Operating Model, to support women 
in determining the safest places to 
deliver.

 ▪ A Telehealth service was established 
across 13 adult specialties, reducing 
patients’ travel costs by more than 
$25,000 and travel by 450 hours.

 ▪ Hospital at Night implemented 
the electronic Smartpage system, 
improving the way clinical teams 
communicate patient-related task 
requests and evenly distribute 
workload at night. 

 ▪ A single point of contact model was 
introduced in surgery to reduce the 
amount of time patients waited for 
elective surgery and pre-surgical 
appointments. This improved 
consumer experience and there was 
a seven per cent reduction in the 
number of patients waiting longer 
than clinically recommended.

 ▪ Mental Health continued to develop 
its Consumer and Family Carer 
Service and strengthen its Advocacy 
Committee with the addition of 12 
new members and inpatient Peer 
Support Workers.

 ▪ Our emergency department 
implemented an Upfront Senior 
Decision Making Model of Care to 
improve the length of stay and access 
to Short Stay through timely delivery 
of high quality, patient-centred care. 
This involved more efficient triage, 
which enabled early assessment 
of patients by senior clinicians and 
the timely development of definitive 
management plans. 

 ▪ Our Diagnostic Imaging Services 
redesigned the Radiologist workforce 
from a campus, modality-based 
model to a subspecialty model,  

which is improving the quality, 
accuracy and efficiency of the service.

 ▪ Structural reporting was implemented 
in Perinatal Medicine and Imaging for 
obstetric ultrasound, improving safety, 
quality and efficiency.

 ▪ Monash Children’s Hospital gained 
a magnetic resonance imaging 
(MRI) licence, significantly increasing 
access to this vital technology for our 
youngest patients.

 ▪ Enhanced team-based management 
improved significantly, with 42 ward 
governance meetings established 
monthly. Thirty five wards now have 
set ward rounds and a simple set 
of discharge planning guidelines to 
ensure patients are discharged with 
the information and support they 
require.

 ▪ E-journey boards and patient 
information technology systems in 162 
clinical areas were established. This 
enabled timely and consistent visibility 
of individual inpatient journeys and 
identified delays in patient care.

 ▪ We introduced an internal electronic 
referral triage system across 46 adult 
and paediatric specialist clinics. The 
time taken to process a referral from 
initial receipt to booking the first 
appointment has been reduced from 
16 to six days, eliminating the need for 
paper and reducing the risk of losing 
referrals. 

01
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We provide 
experiences that 
exceed expectations

02

Our Patient Experience Strategy was developed 
by embracing patient, family, carer and employee 
feedback to identify where improvements were 
needed.

The strategy is being implemented through initiatives focused on 
five key areas:

 ▪ Discharge planning business rules

 ▪ Cleaning strategy

 ▪ Food strategy

 ▪ Ward processes (including effective ward rounds and nurse 
rounding)

 ▪ Emergency departments’ program of works.

Over the past 12 months Monash Health has implemented several 
projects, programs and processes, aligned with our priority areas, 
to deliver positive patient experiences.

Our key achievements this financial year are: 

 ▪ Partnering with our consumers to improve their health service 
by rolling out MY Passport, which provides clear and simple 
instructions on what they need to do when they leave hospital 
and ensure safe discharge.

 ▪ Continuing to facilitate regular Schwartz Rounds across all 
our sites, giving clinical and clinical support employees an 
opportunity to discuss the social and emotional issues that 
arise when caring for patients. 

 ▪ Launching Monash Voices, which is a library of patient, family 
and employee stories that can be accessed for coaching and 
education of our teams.
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Casey Hospital Expansion Project

This $135 million expansion will support the rapidly growing 
population of Melbourne’s south east with an expanded and 
enhanced Casey Hospital. The expansion will ensure consumers 
in the Casey, Cardinia and East Gippsland areas get the care, 
treatment and birthing support they need and enable education 
and training for medical, nursing and allied health students.

In September 2018, Casey Hospital’s main entrance and 
reception space were completed and officially opened. 
This included a new Casey Terrace Café and an Education Hub, 
providing Monash University students with a space to collaborate 
and learn.

A new pharmacy space opened in March 2019, with advanced 
refrigeration, security features, additional storage, extra work 
stations and collaborative meeting spaces for employees and 
students.

Monash Medical Centre 
Emergency Department Expansion

An upgrade to Monash Medical Centre’s emergency department 
has commenced. The $72 million capital project is due for 
completion in 2022. It will include an expanded adult emergency 
department and a fully separated paediatric emergency 
department, which means children requiring urgent care will be 
seen in a more appropriate environment.

The new emergency department will have extensive diagnostic 
imaging integration and dedicated assessment areas for mental 
health patients. An important aspect of the project is the change 
to traffic flow around our busiest campus. The project aims to 
improve vehicle and pedestrian access to the campus. To do 
this, we are installing new traffic signals on Clayton Road and a 
dedicated entry for emergency vehicles. 

Victorian Heart Hospital

The planned Victorian Heart Hospital received additional funding 
from the Victorian Government and the design, planning and early 
works are underway. It will be Australia’s first dedicated cardiac 
hospital. 

We will provide full clinical services within the state-of-the-art 
facility, which will also house a number of Monash University’s 
program and student education initiatives. 

The new hospital will eventually have 206 beds and the capacity 
each year to provide 2,000 cardiac surgeries, 10,000 cardiac 
catheterisation laboratory procedures and 108,000 consultations, 
and will also provide clinic, telehealth, and outpatient 
appointments.

Early preparatory works at the hospital campus, located on 
Monash University’s Clayton Campus, have started.

Cranbourne and Pakenham Community Hospital

A community hospital located closer to the population centre 
in Pakenham was announced by the Victorian Government this 
year. Also announced were plans for the redevelopment of our 
Cranbourne Hospital.

These facilities will be managed by Monash Health and aim 
to provide improved access to in-demand services, closer to 
patients’ homes.

A consultative committee is being formed to ensure the hospital 
meets the needs of the local community.

We continued to work with the DHHS to build for the 
future with our current flagship projects.
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Imran Hanif, Support Services and Central Production Kitchen Manager.
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Congratulations to our people
Recognising our people’s work and achievements
Our Special Thanks and Recognition (STAR) Program supports 
our relentless pursuit of excellence by acknowledging and 
celebrating individuals and teams who bring to life our guiding 
principles. The most outstanding nominees are invited to receive 
their awards at the quarterly Senior Leadership Team meeting 
held at our Clayton campus. Employees can nominate their 
colleagues via an online portal, making it easy and quick to say 
thanks and recognise colleagues and teams.

Once a year we recognise outstanding achievement across the 
organisation at the Monash Health Awards. In addition to this, our 
medical, nursing and midwifery and allied health groups also hold 
annual awards to recognise excellence by individuals and teams 
within their workforces.

We value and appreciate our employees’ and volunteers’ years 
of dedication to the Monash Health mission. In November each 
year, we celebrate all the key milestones from 10 to 50 years of 
employment and 5 to 25 years of volunteering, acknowledging the 
significant contributions that our employees and volunteers make 
during their careers.

2018 Victorian Public Healthcare Awards

Winners

 ▪ Category: Minister for Health’s Award for improving 
children’s health. 

Escaping to fantasy land: using leading-edge technology 
to distract children during medical procedures. Jeff Chen 
and the MRI department trialled leading-edge virtual reality 
technology to improve childrens’ MRI experience. 

 ▪ Category: Secretary’s Award for improving the 
integration of care for patients with chronic and 
complex conditions.

A proactive system of care for patients with life-limiting 
chronic conditions. Associate Professor Peter Poon and 
the Supportive Chronic Conditions Care team developed a 
system of care for patients with life-limiting chronic conditions.

Highly commended

 ▪ Category: Safer Care Victoria compassionate 
care award.

Introduction of Schwartz Rounds. Our Patient Experience 
team introduced Schwartz Rounds, an initiative from the 
Schwartz Centre for Compassionate Care in Boston that 
provides a structured forum where clinical and clinical support 
employees come together to discuss the emotional and 
psychological aspects of working in healthcare.

Finalists

 ▪ Category: Excellence in women’s health.

When the ‘Below 100’ project was born! The ‘Below 100’ 
project was created by Dr Mark Tarrant, Colleen White, Jade 
Johnstone and the Casey Maternity Team to reduce the 
number of growth restricted babies and stillbirths. 

 ▪ Category: Improving Indigenous health.

The Healthy Koori Kids Clinic was established to deliver 
a comprehensive and culturally informed multidisciplinary 
health service for Aboriginal children and young people in 
out-of-home-care. The clinic consists of a paediatrician, 
psychologist, speech therapist, dental therapist, community 
development worker, Aboriginal paediatric nurses and also 
includes a care coordination role for families accessing the 
clinic.

Victorian Honour Roll of Women

Our Head of Gynaecology, Professor Beverley Vollenhoven, was 
inducted into the Victorian Honour Roll of Women this year for 
being instrumental in ensuring access to critical reproductive and 
women’s health services in Victoria. 

Queen’s Birthday Honours List

 ▪ Dr Robert Stunden, Head of Paediatric Surgery at Casey 
Hospital, was recognised for his service to medicine in the 
field of paediatric surgery. 

 ▪ Mr Shashi Kochhar, President of Friends of the Children 
Foundation and founder of the Walk for Monash Children’s 
Hospital, was recognised for his service to the community 
through charitable initiatives. The Walk has raised more 
than $750,000 over the past six years to help purchase vital 
medical equipment.

Dr Robert Stunden, Head of Paediatric Surgery.
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We are proud to continue supporting our Aboriginal community.

We have improved our care of Aboriginal women and their 
families by working together with Koori Maternity Services. We 
developed several initiatives, including introducing an Aboriginal 
Health Liaison Midwife, creating the Bubup Bag, and displaying 
photographs of Aboriginal babies in our maternity hospitals. 

The number of women identifying as Aboriginal on admission to 
Monash Health doubled from 2017-18 to 2018-19, with benefits 
including accessing care earlier in pregnancy, an increase in 
exclusive breastfeeding, reduced smoking during pregnancy, and 
fewer Aboriginal babies born early.

Tracey Stephens, Aboriginal Health Midwife.
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We work with humility, 
respect, kindness and 
compassion in high 
performing teams
Humility, respect, kindness and compassion are incorporated into 
our training, education and service delivery.

We continued to facilitate regular 
Schwartz Rounds, giving clinical and 
clinical support employees an opportunity 
to discuss the social and emotional issues 
that arise when caring for patients. 

We launched an Equity and Inclusion 
Strategy 2018-23, which illustrated our 
commitment to reflecting the community 
we serve and promoting fair opportunity 
and resource for all. Together with our 
community, we set strategies and key 
actions to improve and enhance our 
care. The five focus areas of the strategy 
are Aboriginal Health and Employment, 
Cultural Diversity, Lesbian, Gay, Bisexual, 
Transgender and Intersex (LGBTI), 
Disability and Gender. 

 ▪ We implemented a new Aboriginal 
Employment Policy, and now have 52 
employees who identify as Aboriginal, 
an increase of 174 per cent. 

 ▪ Tracey Stephens, our Aboriginal 
Midwife, was recognised as HESTA 
Midwife of the Year for improving 
maternity and healthcare outcomes 
for Aboriginal women and babies by 
implementing culturally appropriate 
and safe maternity healthcare 
services.

 ▪ Our LGBTI subcommittee is 
developing and promoting our policies 
and protocols in partnership with 
LGBTI communities.  

We actively promote the right to free 
expression of gender and sexuality 
in healthcare settings to avoid 
discrimination against LGBTI patients. 
This is in line with the DHHS Rainbow 
eQuality Guide and is endorsed by the 
Monash Health Board. The committee 
also organised an awareness event 
to celebrate International Day Against 
Homophobia, Biphobia, Interphobia 
and Transphobia with an open Q&A 
session about LGBTI issues.

03
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We integrate 
teaching, research 
and innovation to 
continuously learn 
and improve
This year, we were proud to have the largest intake of health 
professionals across Victoria.

04
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We provide a supportive and dynamic environment for healthcare 
professionals to conduct world-class clinical and translational 
research to drive improved clinical practice. 

New research projects approved 
(470 in 2017-18)

New Quality Improvement and 
Service Activities registered 
(229 in 2017-18)

Research projects underway 
involving patients, including:

 ▪ Clinical drug trials

 ▪ Device trials

 ▪ Trials addressing key questions in clinical 
medicine, public health and the social sciences

 ▪ 458 clinical drug and device trials.

(1,135 in 2017-18)

Our research and 
partnerships

Our research

531

322

1,417

Ram Nataraja, Director, Surgical Simulation.

15 The year in review



Our Monash Children’s 
Hospital School continues 
to ensure children and 
young people have 
access to high quality 
and responsive learning 
support that will ensure 
continuity of their 
education regardless of 
their health condition.

Our Monash Children’s Hospital School teacher and student at Science Week.
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Strength in collaboration and partnership

A world leader in translational research.
Home to world-class scientific facilities.

Monash Health Translation Precinct (MHTP) is a partnership 
between Monash Health, Hudson Institute of Medical Research 
and Monash University, where links are strengthened between 
education and training, basic and clinical research and patient 
care. 

This collaborative initiative translates scientific discoveries and 
innovations to deliver world-leading healthcare in Melbourne’s 

south east. MHTP is also a critical component of Monash 
Partners Academic Health Science Centre. Through these 
partnerships, leading researchers have direct access to clinicians 
and consumers, enabling scientific breakthroughs to reach the 
bedside more efficiently than ever before.

We actively work with other world-class researchers to deliver the 
best possible care for our community.

A world-first safety trial has shown promising results for 
stroke treatment. The trial led by Professor Henry Ma, Head 
of Neurology at Monash Health, Hudson Institute of Medical 
Research and La Trobe University, has the goal of broadening the 
treatment options available for stroke patients. He said, “We have 
fantastic treatments for stroke such as endovascular clot retrieval 
and also clot-busting medications, but we know that for too many 
patients, even these treatments are not enough. A significant 
number of patients may not have access to these therapies, or 
they’re not possible due to circumstances.” The trial’s first patient, 
67-year-old Kevin Baird, was left with significant speech problems 
and upper-limb weakness from a stroke in February 2018. 

After stem cells were administered 10 hours following the stroke, 
Kevin made incredible progress in his speech and movement. 
While it remains unknown whether the stem cells directly 
contributed to Kevin’s recovery, researchers were encouraged by 
his progress. 

“ It is a long process, but we are hopeful that 
this collaboration can contribute to the next 
great breakthrough in global stroke care, 
and prevent ongoing disability for patients.” 

- Professor Henry Ma

Applying research learnings to clinical care

Professor Henry Ma and trial’s first patient Kevin Baird.
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We orientate 
care towards our 
community to optimise 
access, independence, 
and wellbeing

Monash Health in the Community is helping people live their best lives. 

05

Monash Health in the Community provides and coordinates 
integrated, multidisciplinary, community-based healthcare 
for people of all ages from Bayside to Cardinia. We work with 
individuals and groups in various settings including Community 
Health centres, partner facilities and in clients’ homes.

Some services target specific populations or needs such as: 
aged care, Aboriginal health, refugee health, youth, rehabilitation, 
disability, victims of sexual assault and family violence, chronic/
complex disease, children and families, mental health, health 
promotion, respite, support for carers, and other vulnerable 
groups. Other Community services focus on education, clinical 
research and advocacy.

Using a collaborative and creative process through 41 sessions 
with employees, clients and our healthcare partners, we have 
identified our goals and developed the strategic direction. 
Our partners comprised of councils, government, not-for-
profit agencies, General Practitioners, local health service 
providers and representatives from the Aboriginal, migrant 
and neighbourhood community. The goals are: to disrupt the 
trajectory of chronic disease; improve the health and social 
wellbeing of people experiencing vulnerability; minimise the 
need for hospital use, and improve client access, outcomes and 
experiences while living within their means.

Our highlights include:

 ▪ The successful Monash Watch trial has been extended. This 
means our team of Personal Health Coaches and Telecare 
Guides can continue using technology, and personal visits, to 
monitor and stay connected with some of our most vulnerable 
clients in their homes. 

 ▪ Our Forensic Mental Health in Community Health program 
pilot has been highlighted by the DHHS for being innovative 
and achieving early successes to date.

 ▪ Our South Eastern Centre Against Sexual Assault and Family 
Violence has gained ongoing funding for our Making Rights 
a Reality program. This diverse and responsive model is the 
only service of its kind in Victoria.

 ▪ Our internationally-recognised Hospital in the Home program 
has increased to 160 beds. The program enables patients to 
receive acute care where they reside, freeing up beds within 
our hospitals.

 ▪ Monash Health has become an NDIS provider and has been 
recognised for its multidisciplinary teamwork within our 
hospitals. We have also led the development of the Disability 
Action Plan.

Monash Health’s Family Violence Unit has trained 
over 3,300 employees, the largest number trained 
in Victoria this year, with a focus on high-risk areas 
such as maternity, emergency and mental health.

3,300
employees 
trained
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 ▪ Our Community Rehabilitation team has launched the 
CARDIHAB Smart CR application to determine whether 
a mobile-enabled application is a viable alternative to a 
traditional centre-based program for clients and patients over 
65 years of age.

 ▪ Our inaugural Aged Care Art Competition in collaboration with 
social work, residential care and aged and community care 
teams.

 ▪ Our Aboriginal Health Working Group and the Community 
team led development of the next Monash Health Innovate 
Reconciliation Action Plan with input from the Aboriginal 
community, employees and representative organisations. This 
is with Reconciliation Australia for final approval.

 ▪ Our Community team have won awards in the following areas: 

 · Supporting Healthy Populations

 · Improving Aboriginal Maternal Health

 · Building system-wide response to family violence

 · Piloting a guardianship in hospitals program 

 · Compassionate care

 · Improving workforce wellbeing and safety

 · HESTA Midwife of the Year 2019.

Ruth Peters, Endorsed Enrolled Nurse
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We manage our 
resources wisely 
and sustainably to 
provide value for our 
community

 ▪ We are committed to reducing our ecological footprint and 
are actively improving environmental sustainability.

 ▪ We are accountable for our environmental impact by having a 
Monash Health Eco Champions Committee and membership 
in the Victorian Green Hospitals Round Table Group.

 ▪ We are reducing waste and this year have diverted almost two 
tonnes of PVC, over five tonnes of electronics and over three 
tonnes of single-use metal instruments from landfill.

 ▪ We are reducing greenhouse gas emissions by having a Bicycle 
Users Group, a Hospital Car Share and fuel efficient fleet cars.

 ▪ We implemented a new Distribution Service Centre aimed to 
improve the value and efficiency of our procurement and stock 
management systems.

 ▪ Through various improvement initiatives we were able to identify 
areas of efficiency and redirect funds to increase our medical 
equipment expenditure.

We continue to look for ways of working smarter and more 
efficiently to return value to our community. This year, we 
increased our spend on medical equipment, facilities, services and 
infrastructure through the reinvestment of savings. 

06
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Tuan Thai, Biomedical Engineer, Clinical Engineer.
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The Monash Health Foundation is the 
philanthropic heart of Monash Health

By building meaningful partnerships with our donors and 
fundraisers, the Monash Health Foundation ensures philanthropic 
support for Monash Health goes where it is most needed. This 
year, generous donations have enabled the purchase of state-
of-the-art equipment, new investment in research, and provided 
additional comfort and wellbeing programs for consumers and 
their families. 

Throughout 2019, we established new streams of giving and 
built on the successes of previous years. Community support is 
essential, and we say thank you to every person who has helped 
make a difference over the past year.  

In particular, we give thanks to the following for their contributions:

 ▪ The Dandelion Wishes Committee led by Lincoln and 
Veronique Wulff, saw this year’s Dandelion Wishes Gala 
achieve great success, with over 950 guests and close 
to $800,000 raised to ‘re-write the stars’ for the patients 
of Monash Children’s Hospital through the purchase of 
equipment for the Paediatric emergency department.

 ▪ Chris and Sarah Sexton hosted a beautiful event in memory 
of their son, Oisin. The Brightest Star cocktail evening 
held on the rooftop of PWC, raised over $65,000 for the 
Paediatric Intensive Care Unit (PICU) to establish The Sexton 
Scholarship. The scholarship supports programs and training 
to improve patient care and family support within PICU. 

 ▪ Nine amazing people came together to climb Mt Kilimanjaro in 
support of Monash Health and raised over $46,000. It takes a 
special kind of person to succeed in the fundraising, training 
and adventure journey these people took on, and we are 
incredibly grateful for their commitment.

 ▪ Effie Atkins and her incredible committee raised over $50,000 
by hosting two events: a high tea and gala to fund a position 
“Dr Hope” within the clinical trials department. Dr Kate 
Webber has been appointed in the role and is working to 
support many more patients like Effie.

 ▪ Monash Health employees who contributed to our workplace 
giving program, iGive, collectively gave more than $75,000 to 
Monash Health programs and services.

 ▪ The Lions Club of Waverley are long term supporters of the 
Monash Children’s Hospital. This year they have donated 25 
Kangaroo Chairs to our Neonatal Intensive Care Unit. The chairs 
are used for parents to share bonding time with their new babies.

 ▪ The Biggest Playdate, organised by patient and parent Vanessa 
Miranda, raised $30,000 for the Monash Children’s Hospital 
Cancer Centre, to support osteosarcoma research. The Biggest 
Playdate is a wonderful family day that truly brings the community 
together in a united effort to support children’s health. 

 ▪ The Friends of the Children Foundation showed their ongoing 
dedication in supporting the Walk for Monash Children’s Hospital, 
with 2,000 people raising nearly $200,000. These funds will help 
purchase a cardiovascular ultrasound to improve care for infants 
who have fetal cord restriction and congenital diaphragmatic 
hernias.

 ▪ The annual 65k for Cystic Fibrosis endurance event raised 
nearly $116,000 to support research and clinical improvements 
into cystic fibrosis. Thank you to the committee and the 250+ 
participants for their commitment and passion to support cystic 
fibrosis patients and their families.

 ▪ The Rotary Club of Emerald chose Monash Children’s Hospital 
as the charity partner for their Kids Fun Run with Thomas. Over 
$45,000 was raised for the Children’s Cancer Centre at this great 
family day out where children raced against Thomas the Tank 
Engine (Puffing Billy) at Emerald Station.

 ▪ Thank you to the Monash Cystic Fibrosis Foundation for their 
annual golf day and continued support. They provide significant 
funding throughout the year to purchase equipment and fund 
new initiatives.

 ▪ Patrick Tessier hosted the 15th Bailey’s Day and raised over 
$170,000. Hosted in memory of Patrick’s son, Bailey, the event 
provides support for the Children’s Cancer Centre by funding a 
Fellow position. This year’s event was particularly special as it 
featured a performance by patient Georgia Russell and one of her 
oncologists, Dr Yoni Diamond, who is a Bailey’s Day Fellow.

 ▪ My Room and Channel 9 came together once again for the 
3rd annual Nine Footy Show Telethon, televised in August the 
event raised a record amount to fund clinical research and 

Generous donations from the broader community help ensure the very 
best care can be delivered throughout Monash Health.
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The vision of one individual 
inspires a whole community to give

Whether it be a school group holding a walkathon, a committee 
organising a gala ball or a group of colleagues participating 
in a head shave; what these people have in common is their 
passion to support the work of Monash Health and inspire their 
community to make a difference.

Often that passion comes from being a patient in one of our 
hospitals, a friend or family member of a patient, or a consumer of 
one of our services. Other people are simply inspired by the work 
of Monash Health, knowing one quarter of Victoria’s population 
may need to use our services at some stage of their lives. 

For Richard Lim, that passion comes from his strong philanthropic 
beliefs and a desire to give to his local community. 

Richard has worked extremely hard to overcome adversity and 
rebuild a life for himself and his family after arriving in Australia 
in 1980 as a refugee. Life has certainly had its challenges for 
Richard, but through this, he continues to be generous and 
humble, giving to many organisations throughout his life, including 
Monash Health, and in particular, Monash Children’s Hospital. 

After graduating from university as a pharmacist, Richard was 
employed for several years at Monash Health, at what was then 
known as Queen Victoria Hospital. He stayed on at Monash 
Medical Centre before opening Lim’s Pharmacy in the heart of 
Springvale.

Now a successful businessman, Richard remains connected 
with Monash Health and his community spirit. Over the past two 
years, Richard has inspired the local Cambodian community to 
generously support the fundraising events he has organised, 
raising over $200,000 to support the delivery of excellence across 
Monash Health.  

Richard’s passion and connectedness to his community has 
brought support from many individuals and businesses, offering 
goods, services and monetary donations. He successfully 
hosted two dinner dances and one very extraordinary Buddhist 
Flower Ceremony. The support of his staff, family and friends to 
volunteer their time at these events and offer their support is a 
true testament to this wonderful man.

Community fundraising is at the heart of the Monash Health Foundation.

Thank you

Philanthropy plays such an important role at Monash Health in 
enabling the provision of greater patient experiences, funding 
new initiatives and the purchase of improved technologies and 
equipment.

We extend our gratitude to those who have raised funds in 
celebration of a special occasion or have given a gift in memory 
of a loved one.

A special message of thanks also to our dedicated auxiliary 
members who work tirelessly to raise funds for Monash Health. 
The commitment from this wonderful group of people to support 
our Monash Health patients continues to inspire generosity from 
our community.

Contributions to the Monash Health Foundation can be made by 
contacting 9594 2700 or emailing 
foundation@monashhealth.org

trials in support of their goal to achieve a 100% cure rate for 
childhood cancer as well as purchasing medical equipment 
and provide family support.

 ▪ Moose Enterprise have provided generous support to the 
Monash Children’s Hospital, through significant financial 
contributions, thousands of dollars’ worth of toys, and 
volunteering their time to enhance programs that encourage 
play and allow children to be children within the hospital 
environment.

 ▪ The Freemason’s Foundation distributed $300,000 as part 
of their outstanding commitment of $1.8 million to purchase 
equipment for Paediatric Services. This year’s funds will 
purchase essential equipment to fit out the newly developed 
Paediatric ED, including a mobile x-ray.

 ▪ The Walt Disney Company Australia for their continued 
generosity over the last five years and invaluable contribution 
to enhancing the patient and family experience for children in 
hospital.

A list of our generous supporters is on page 74.
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Jessie McPherson Private Hospital

The 103-bed tertiary private hospital is 
proud to have a team of highly skilled and 
dedicated employees and is equipped 
with some of the best medical facilities 
in Victoria. Specialist services include 
cardiology, cardiothoracic surgery, 
neurosciences, vascular, gastrosciences, 
general medicine and respiratory, 
maternity and neonatal services. 

The co-location of the hospital with 
Monash Medical Centre provides 
consumers with confidence and access 

to a wide range of services and facilities 
such as pharmacy, pathology and 
diagnostic imaging. This affiliation also 
provides consumers with access to the 
specialist services and state-of-the-art 
teaching and research facilities that 
Monash Health has to offer. The tertiary-
level status, with 24/7 support from 
Monash Health, provides consumers with 
the assurance that Jessie McPherson 
Private Hospital is one of the safest 
private hospitals in which to receive care.

The hospital’s ‘Point of Care Goals’ were 
developed following input from employees 
and consumers about what constitutes 
safe and quality care. These goals reflect 
consumers’ values and how they relate to 
healthcare access and delivery, and how 
this translates into exceptional care for 
every patient, every time.

As a tertiary-level private hospital, Jessie 
McPherson Private Hospital is able to 
provide highly-specialised obstetric and 
neonatal services in a private hospital setting.

Jessie McPherson Private Hospital is in the unique position of being a 
not-for-profit tertiary private hospital and a fully-owned subsidiary of 
Monash Health. 

Safe patient care is our 
number one priority 

and processes are in 
place to provide the best 

patient outcomes.

Bella Kelly, Maternity Services Unit Manager.
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Cassie’s story 
Cassie and Todd were expecting their first child when Cassie 
began to experience unusual symptoms, resulting in Bobby being 
born six weeks prematurely. This case study is an example of how 
the multidisciplinary teams at Jessie McPherson Private Hospital 
and Monash Health work together to provide a safe place to birth 
for all pregnancies; both high and low risk.

Pregnancy

Our pregnancy was progressing well until 26 weeks, when I 
began to experience intense itching on my hands, arms and legs. 
Blood tests confirmed that I had cholestasis of pregnancy, and an 
ultrasound scan showed that the baby’s weight had dropped to 
the lowest 5th percentile.

From that moment, things moved very quickly and we were 
transferred to obstetrician Dr Shavi Fernando and Jessie 
McPherson Private Hospital’s care. We were aware that our 
baby could be severely growth restricted, and may be in need of 
assistance when born. We found a whole new level of strength 

and positivity we didn’t know was possible. 
We trusted in the healthcare system and that the call would be 
made when necessary to induce birth. 

Choosing Jessie McPherson Private Hospital

Early in our pregnancy, we decided on the hospital that was 
closest to our home. In hindsight, we should have put more 
thought into the decision, especially with regards to the facilities. 
For example, we didn’t know that we couldn’t have our baby at 
the chosen hospital before 36 weeks, let alone where we would 
go if we had a pre-term birth.

We knew we wanted to go through the private system; Jessie 
McPherson Private is the perfect solution - private with all the 
facilities of a large public hospital.

We are booked into Jessie McPherson Private Hospital for our 
second baby, as we feel more comfortable and confident with the 
facilities.

Birth experience

Bobby arrived on my birthday, six-and-a-half weeks premature.

All of the midwives and doctors we dealt with in the birth suite 
were excellent. However, as our baby’s health was not ideal we 
didn’t stay there long and headed to theatre for an emergency 
caesarean section.

Bobby was born weighing 1.6kgs and he needed help to breathe. 
He was whisked off for care with paediatrician Dr Jenny Gregor, 
who continues to be Bobby’s doctor, and this is another reason 
we wouldn’t go anywhere else but Jessie McPherson.

Post-Natal Care

After a period in recovery, we headed up to the maternity ward; 
we found all the midwives to be just incredible. It took about 24 
hours after Bobby’s birth before we were both well enough to 
finally meet. It would then be another day or two before that first, 
beautiful, amazing cuddle.

Throughout all of this, Dr Fernando visited every day and the 
midwives helped endlessly with my milk supply.

Bobby would remain in the Special Care Nursery (SCN) for five 
long weeks. My physical recovery was lengthy, and I found it 
incredibly emotional leaving my baby every day. Whilst Bobby 
was in the SCN, I would arrive in the morning and stay until late in 
the evening, feeding him and watching his health improve.

We waited patiently and the day we came home was just magical. 
On the day we left the SCN, there were tears, photos, big bags 
of chocolates and lots of thank you cards. We had a lot to be 
thankful for.

Jessie McPherson Private Hospital has seen a 14 per 
cent increase in births in 2018-19 compared with the 
previous financial year. We hope this trend continues as 
we strive to provide exceptional care to every patient.

Case study:

14%
increase

Cassie and Bobby
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Report of Operations

In accordance with the Financial Management Act 1994, I am 
pleased to present the report of operations for Monash Health for 
the year ending 30 June 2019.

Responsible bodies declaration

Dipak Sanghvi 
Chair, Board of Directors

Melbourne 
19 August 2019
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At Monash Health, we are trusted to provide safe, high-quality 
healthcare for people at all stages of life, from pre-birth to end-
of-life. We do this in all types of settings, including hospitals, the 
community, and people’s homes. Together we work with a range 
of partner organisations to improve the health of our community 
and, when needed, we deliver treatment and care to people 
unwell or injured, in recovery, in support of their daily life, in birth, 
or at the end of their life.

Strategic intent

We are relentless in our pursuit of excellence.

Purpose

To deliver quality, patient-centred healthcare and services that 
meet the needs of our diverse community.

Our guiding principles

 ▪ We consistently provide safe, high quality and timely care

 ▪ We provide experiences that exceed expectations

 ▪ We work with humility, respect, kindness and compassion in 
high performing teams

 ▪ We integrate teaching, research and innovation to 
continuously learn and improve

 ▪ We orientate care towards our community to optimise access, 
independence, and wellbeing

 ▪ We manage our resources wisely and sustainably to provide 
value for our community

About 
Monash Health

Lannah
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Our care at a glance 
2018-19

Total episodes of care* 
(3.8m in 2017-18)

Births 
(10,026 in 2017-18)

Total hospital admissions 
(260,082 in 2017-18)

Emergency department 
ambulance arrivals 
(58,852 in 2017-18)

Outpatient services 
(1.38 in 2017-18)

Emergency department 
attendances across our three 
campuses 
(226,314 in 2017-18)

Pathology tests 
(1.04 in 2017-18)

Procedures performed 
(46,898 in 2017-18)

Mental Health client consumer 
contacts 
(283,708 in 2017-18)

Paediatric admissions 
(40,987 in 2017-18)

*Excludes surgical operations, total hospital admissions, births, ambulance arrivals and paediatric admissions.

4.1m 10,357

265,027 63,133

1.55m 231,856

1.09m 46,812

335,428 41,203
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Our story

As a major metropolitan health service in Melbourne, with more 
than 18,000 employees, we provide care to south eastern 
metropolitan and rural Victoria from over 40 locations via 
telehealth, and in people’s communities and homes.

Monash Health uniquely cares for people across the full human 
lifespan, from pre-birth to end-of-life, providing integrated, 
comprehensive, and often highly complex care.

We improve people’s health and experiences through:

 ▪ Prevention 

 ▪ Early intervention

 ▪ Community and home-based treatment and rehabilitation

 ▪ Specialised surgical; and medical diagnosis; treatment and 
monitoring services; including primary, secondary, tertiary 
and some quaternary level care. We assume a specialist 
referral role for many specialities serving greater Melbourne, 
Victoria and interstate

 ▪ Hospital and community-based mental health services

 ▪ Comprehensive sub-acute and aged care programs

 ▪ Palliative care

 ▪ Research

 ▪ Teaching the next generation of healthcare professionals 
through undergraduate, postgraduate, vocational and 
specialist programs, simulation and telehealth.

Monash Health holds a privileged position as the largest and most diverse health network within the 
Victorian healthcare system and one of the largest and most diverse in Australia. 
Our size and scope of services are comparable with world-leading international healthcare services.

Andrew Stripp, Chief Executive.
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Our tertiary health services

This includes the provision of neurosurgery, cardiac care and 
paediatric sleep medicine for regional and rural communities, and 
our partnering with health services in regional and rural locations 
in the provision of care for their communities, including via the use 
of telehealth technology.

We are one of only two services in Australia that provide 
combined kidney and pancreas transplants, and one of only two 
DHHS designated centres in Victoria with an acute stroke unit 
that provides an endovascular clot retrieval service. 

We are the dedicated statewide provider of thalassaemia care, 
and in partnership with other tertiary health services, we provide 
statewide paediatric services in intensive care, cancer services, 
cardiac care, surgery, rehabilitation, sleep disorders, forensic 
medicine and palliative care.

Monash Health is home to Victoria’s first Jack Jumper Ant 
Clinic, providing immunotherapy for Victorians and people from 
interstate.

Monash Health provides a range of medical and surgical tertiary health services locally, 
statewide and nationally for children, adolescents and adults.
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Our campuses
The types of services we provide at each of our campuses is evolving to ensure we continue to meet 
the changing needs and expectations of our community, adopt the latest advances in health science 
and technology and provide consistently safe and high quality care across each of our campuses.

We provide the following teaching, research and care across our campuses: 

Casey Hospital

Casey Hospital serves one of the fastest growing areas in 
Melbourne’s south east and provides emergency, general 
medical, mental health, rehabilitation, surgical and ambulatory, 
maternity and special care nursery services. The hospital is a 
provider of paediatric services for Monash Children’s Hospital and 
leading cardiovascular services.

The expansion of Casey Hospital, including the addition of an 
intensive care unit and more operating theatres, will provide the 
rapidly growing local community with easier access to higher 
acuity care.

Cranbourne Integrated Care Centre

Cranbourne Integrated Care Centre provides a range of same-
day acute and sub-acute services including surgery, renal 
dialysis, specialist consulting, regional ophthalmology, mental 
health and community health services, and a community 
rehabilitation centre.
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Jessie McPherson Private Hospital

A tertiary-level private hospital co-located at Monash Medical 
Centre, Jessie McPherson Private Hospital offers a range of 
specialist services for people in Melbourne, regional Victoria, 
interstate and overseas. Further information on Jessie McPherson 
Private Hospital is on Page 24.

Kingston Centre

Kingston Centre is a large sub-acute facility specialising in high-
quality rehabilitation and functional restoration, including the full 
range of allied health services for adults of all ages, transitional 
care, and aged mental health. The centre provides specialist 
services for older people including aged care assessment, 
cognitive dementia and memory services, a Falls and Balance 
Clinic, Pain Clinic, clinical gait analysis and continence service.

Kingston Centre is at the forefront of research into movement and 
gait disorders, aged mental health and geriatric medicine.

Dandenong Hospital

Dandenong Hospital is a large acute hospital providing several 
general and specialist services to the community of Dandenong 
and its surrounding areas. These services include an emergency 
department, general medical and surgical, intensive care, 
maternity care, special care nursery, paediatrics, outpatients, day 
chemotherapy, home haemodialysis, mental health and allied 
health services. Dandenong Hospital also provides specialist 
services including orthopaedic, plastics, vascular, facio-maxillary, 
gynaecology, respiratory and infectious diseases.

Monash Children’s Hospital 

Monash Health provides the third busiest paediatric service in 
the country, caring for more than 100,000 children every year. 
Monash Children’s Hospital is a network of paediatric healthcare 
services across three campuses – our main campus is co-located 
with Monash Medical Centre, and satellite campuses are at 
Dandenong and Casey Hospitals. 

Monash Children’s Hospital is a comprehensive tertiary, teaching 
and research hospital, providing more than 30 specialist services 
and programs including Early in Life Mental Health Service co-
located with the new statewide Child Inpatient Unit; Victoria’s 
largest Neonatal Intensive Care Unit; leading paediatric services in 
Rehabilitation, Oncology, Paediatric Intensive Care; and Palliative 
Care. 

Monash Children’s Hospital is also a statewide provider of 
children’s cancer services and the Victorian Referral Centre for 
many low-volume and highly complex cases. We uniquely link our 
paediatric and adult services to create positive, safe, and high 
quality transitions of care as children progress to our adult services. 

Our campuses

32Monash Health - Annual Report 2018-19



Monash Medical Centre 

Monash Medical Centre is a major tertiary, teaching and research 
hospital providing a comprehensive range of specialist surgical, 
medical, allied health, mental health and palliative care services. 

Monash Medical Centre has one of the state’s busiest emergency 
departments; is the primary campus for world-renowned 
cardiovascular care; provides one of Victoria’s largest women’s 
health services, uniquely offering maternity and newborn services, 
including a Neonatal Intensive Care Unit and Special Care Unit on 
the one campus; is a statewide provider of thalassemia care; and is 
a designated national provider of renal and pancreatic transplants.

Moorabbin Hospital

Moorabbin Hospital incorporates Monash Cancer Centre, one of 
Victoria’s leading cancer treatment centres, hosts the Southern 
Melbourne Integrated Cancer Service, and provides elective 
surgery and dialysis. Home to Victoria’s first Patient Simulation 
Centre, the hospital plays a major role in the education and training 
of undergraduate and postgraduate medical students, nurses and 
allied health professionals. The hospital is a centre for research, 
and in particular, a major contributor to cancer-related research.

Community Health Services

Monash Health’s community health services operate across 21 
locations and supports our local community to improve, maintain 
and manage health, independence and wellbeing by providing 
or connecting with integrated, multidisciplinary care. The aim is 
to support and prepare consumers to self-manage their health 
and healthcare. Monash Health Community delivers services to 
people of all ages, supporting them through all stages of their 
care and delivering an integrated pathway from acute and sub-
acute care to the community.

Aged Care

Monash Health provides a range of aged care services across 
Melbourne’s south east including low level care in hostels, high 
care in nursing homes, hospital in the home,  respite care, 
dementia-specific care, specialised aged mental health care and 
palliative care.

Mental Health

Monash Health operates eight mental health facilities, including 
inpatient, residential, community care and drug and alcohol 
facilities. The comprehensive range of mental health services 
provided to adults and children includes alcohol and drug; 
telephone psychiatric triage; crisis assessment and treatment; 
consultation liaison psychiatry; mobile support and treatment; 
acute inpatient care; extended inpatient care; perinatal and infant 
care; eating disorders care; gender dysphoria; prevention and 
recovery care; community residential and rehabilitation services; 
agile psychological medicine outpatient assessments; and Police, 
Ambulance and Clinical Early Response (PACER) response.

33 Our campuses



Rapid growth

The south east growth corridor of Casey and Cardinia is the 
fastest growing region in the state.

High birth rates

The south east of our primary catchment area has a younger 
population and higher birth rates.

Ageing populations

The north west of our primary catchment area has significantly 
higher rates of older persons than the state average.

Multicultural diversity

Approximately 20,000 residents are Aboriginal, over a third of 
residents were born overseas, and we have the largest refugee 
and migrant community in Victoria.

Inequity

Many of our local communities experience some of the greatest 
socioeconomic disadvantage and highest rates of unemployment 
in the state.

More illness

There is a higher prevalence of cancer and neurological 
conditions, chronic diseases, including diabetes, heart disease 
and asthma, and risk factors such as obesity and high blood 
pressure.

Monash Health’s reach also extends across the state of Victoria, 
and across Australia for some of our specialist services. The local 
government areas that comprise our secondary catchments are 
Bayside, Frankston, Knox and the Mornington Peninsula. Our 
tertiary catchment area includes Bass Coast, Baw Baw, East 
Gippsland, Latrobe, South Gippsland and Wellington.

Our community
Monash Health is privileged to be an integral part of the local communities we care for across 
our primary catchment area. Our people are from local government areas, including Glen Eira, 
Kingston, Monash, Greater Dandenong, Casey, and Cardinia. 

The demographic characteristics of these rapidly evolving communities include:

Monash Medical 
Centre

Moorabbin
Hospital

Kingston
Centre Dandenong Hospital

Casey Hospital

Cranbourne Centre

Melbourne 
CBD

Hospitals

Monash Health Community

Springvale

Dandenong

Pakenham

Berwick

Doveton

Cranbourne

Cockatoo
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Cooper Johns and Emily
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Dipak Sanghvi, Board Chair. 

36Monash Health - Annual Report 2018-19



Manner of Establishment

Monash Health is a public health service; a body corporate 
established under Section 65P of the Health Services Act 1988, 
as amended in 2005 and listed in Schedule 5 of that Act.

The Board of Directors of Monash Health is appointed by the 
Governor in Council on the recommendation of the Minister for 
Health and Ambulance Services in accordance with the Health 
Services Act 1988.

The Ministers for Health and Mental Health 
during 2018–19 were: 

The Honourable Jill Hennessy, 
Minister for Health and Minister for Ambulance Services 
01/07/2018 - 29/11/2018 

The Honourable Jenny Mikakos, 
Minister for Health and Minister for Ambulance Services 
29/11/2018 - 30/06/2019 

The Honourable Martin Foley, 
Minister for Mental Health 
01/07/2018 - 30/06/2019

The function of the Board:

 ▪ To monitor the performance of Monash Health.

 ▪ To appoint and determine the terms and conditions (including 
remuneration) of the Chief Executive Officer.

 ▪ To monitor the management of Monash Health and 
performance of the Chief Executive Officer of Monash Health.

 ▪ To develop statements of priorities and strategic plans for the 
operation of Monash Health and to monitor compliance. 

 ▪ To develop financial and business plans, strategies and 
budgets to ensure the accountable and efficient provision of 
health services by Monash Health and the long term financial 
viability.

 ▪ To ensure that Monash Health operates within its budget and 
that its systems accurately reflect its financial position and 
viability.

 ▪ To ensure effective and accountable systems are in place to 
monitor and improve the quality and effectiveness of health 
services provided by Monash Health.

 ▪ To ensure any problems identified with the quality or 
effectiveness of the health services provided are addressed in 
a timely manner and that Monash Health continuously strives 
to improve the quality of the health services it provides and to 
foster innovation.

 ▪ To develop arrangements with other agencies and health 
service providers to enable effective and efficient service 
delivery and continuity of care.

 ▪ To establish the organisational structure, including the 
management structure, of Monash Health.

 ▪ To ensure that the Minister and the Secretary are advised 
about significant board decisions and are informed in a timely 
manner of any issues of public concern or risks that affect or 
may affect Monash Health.

 ▪ To establish a Finance Committee, an Audit Committee and a 
Quality and Safety Committee.

Our Board of Directors

Governance
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Mr Dipak Sanghvi 
BSc Pharm (UK), FAICD, FAIPM

 ▪ Chair of the Monash Health Board

 ▪ Chair of the Remuneration Committee

 ▪ Chair of the Aboriginal Health Strategic 
Partnership Committee

 ▪ Member of the Finance Committee

Term of appointment: 
December 2015 – current

Mr Sanghvi is a pharmacist who owns 
five pharmacies in Victoria. He is currently 
Chair of Member Benefits Australia Pty Ltd. 
Previous positions held include President of 
the Pharmacy Guild Victoria Branch during 
2006-2011, Chair of Gold Cross Products 
and Services Pty Ltd, Chair of Return of 
Unwanted Medicines, being a Board member 
of Guild Insurance and Superannuation 
and Meridian Lawyers, as well as several 
other board positions in the community and 
pharmaceutical industry. He is also currently 
Chair of Musculoskeletal Australia.

Ms Aurélia Balpe 
MBA, GAICD, GradDip Demog, BEc

 ▪ Chair of the Primary Care and Population 
Health Advisory Committee

 ▪ Member of the Quality Committee

Term of appointment: 
July 2018 – current

Ms Balpe is an international humanitarian 
leader with experience in the non-profit and 
for-profit sectors in Asia, the Pacific, the 
Americas, Africa and Europe. Ms Balpe has 
worked with boards and senior executive 
teams on the development of strategy and 
policy, legal compliance, risk management, 
organisational performance and the 
resolution of integrity issues. Ms Balpe has 

had oversight of multi-national programmes 
in organisational development, disaster 
response and law, water and sanitation and 
health. Ms Balpe has been a strategic advisor 
to governments, United Nations agencies, 
regional organisations and corporations on 
humanitarian action and coordination. Ms 
Balpe currently serves as a member of the 
Australian Red Cross Divisional Advisory 
Board. In 2015 she was awarded the Vanuatu 
Red Cross medal for her contribution to the 
Tropical Cyclone Pam Relief Operation. In 2017 
she was the recipient of the Monash University 
Top Achievement and Dean’s Awards for her 
MBA. Ms Balpe is currently undertaking a 
Graduate Diploma in Psychology to facilitate 
health research and education and any other 
functions advised under the Act.

Mrs Jane Bell 
BEc, LLB, LLM (Lond), FAICD

 ▪ Chair of the Audit Committee

 ▪ Director of Kitaya Holdings Board Pty Ltd*

Term of appointment: 
July 2018 – current

Mrs Bell is a banking and finance lawyer and 
non-executive director with more than 30 
years’ experience in leading law firms, financial 
services, corporate treasury operations and 
governance gained living in Melbourne, London, 
Toronto, San Francisco and Brisbane. Mrs Bell 
has been a non-executive director since 2002, 
serving on 11 Boards including eight health 
sector and medical research institute Boards. 

Mrs Bell currently serves as Deputy Chair of 
Biomedical Research Victoria, Director of UCA 
Funds Management Limited and as Chair of the 
Community Advisory Group of the Melbourne 
Genomics Health Alliance. Mrs Bell is a Member 
of the Administrative Appeals Tribunal. Mrs Bell 
is a former Board member of Melbourne Health 
(Royal Melbourne Hospital), WorkSafe Victoria, 
Hudson Institute of Medical Research, Monash 
Institute of Medical Research, Prince Henry’s 
Institute of Medical Research, Queensland 
Institute of Medical Research Trust, Victorian 
Women’s Housing Association, Australian Red 
Cross (Qld) and Deputy Chair of Westernport 
Water Corporation.

* Kitaya Holdings Pty Ltd operates Jessie McPherson 
Private Hospital

Members of the 
Board of Directors
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Ms Heather Cleland 
MBBS, FRACS (Plas)

 ▪ Member, Quality Committee

 ▪ Term of appointment: 
July 2016 – June 2019 

Ms Heather Cleland is a Plastic Surgeon who is 
currently head of the state-wide Victorian Adult 
Burns Service at the Alfred Hospital. In addition 
to clinical practice and service development, 
she is actively involved in clinical education, 
training, and research. 

She has been instrumental in establishing 
the clinical quality Burns Registry of Australia 
and New Zealand, and chairs its steering 
committee. She is a Board member of the 
Australian and New Zealand Burns Association 
and Past President. She has served on various 
departmental and professional committees, 
and is a member of the Donor Tissue Bank 
Committee of the Victorian Institute of Forensic 
Medicine, member of the Court of Examiners 
of the Royal Australasian College of Surgeons 
and an Adjunct Senior Lecturer at Monash 
University.

Mr Charles Gillies 
BSc/BA, MBA, SF Fin, GAICD

 ▪ Chair of the Finance Committee

Term of appointment: 
July 2011 – current

Mr Gillies is the co-founder of Jolimont Global 
Mining Systems, which specialises in investing 
in mining technology companies. These 
companies compete in fast-moving, highly 

competitive global technology markets. As 
an active investor himself, his approach has 
been to work closely with management to 
develop a plan to create economic value. He 
has been Director and Chairman of a number 
of technology and investment companies 
and has worked closely with CEOs and 
management teams, developing strategies 
and setting objectives and performance 
targets.

Dr Misty Jenkins 
BSc (Hons), PhD, MAICD

 ▪ Board Member of the Quality Committee

 ▪ Member of the Aboriginal Health Strategic 
Partnership Committee

Term of appointment: 
November 2016 – current

Dr Jenkins is an NHMRC fellow, biomedical 
scientist and laboratory head at Walter and 
Eliza Hall Institute for Medical Research, where 
she researches cellular immunology and new 
immunotherapies for cancer. Dr Jenkins has 
previously held postdoctoral positions at 

the Universities of Cambridge and Oxford, 
and The Peter MacCallum Cancer Centre 
in Melbourne. Dr Jenkins was awarded the 
L’Oreal for Women in Science Fellowship 
(2013), was Tall Poppy of the Year (2015) 
and won the Westpac/Australian Financial 
Review Top 100 Women of Influence award 
(2016). In addition to her research career, Dr 
Jenkins brings experience in governance as 
a Director and Deputy Chair of The National 
Centre for Indigenous Genomics at ANU, 
previous Director of the Aurora Education 
Foundation, Ambassador for the Poche Centre 
for Indigenous Health and Chair of NHMRC 
Project Grant Review Panels.
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Emeritus Professor Hatem Salem AM 
MB, ChB (Mosul, Iraq), FRACP, FRCPA, MRCP 
(UK) MD (Monash), LRCP, MRCS

 ▪ Chair of the Quality Committee

 ▪ Member of the Remuneration Committee

Term of appointment: 
May 2017 – current

Professor Salem is an Emeritus Professor at 
Monash University. Prior to this, Professor 
Salem was the Head of the Academic 
Department of Clinical Haematology at 
Monash University and the Head of Clinical 
Haematology at the Alfred Hospital. He 
served as President of Asia Pacific Society 
of Thrombosis and Haemostasis and past 

President and Executive Director of the 
Australasian Society of Thrombosis and 
Haemostasis. He is a senior Counsellor of 
the International Society of Thrombosis and 
Haemostasis. In 2005, his vision and ability to 
develop leading clinical and research programs 
was recognised by the Victorian Government’s 
Public Healthcare Award, where he was the 
recipient of the Health Minister’s Award for 
Outstanding Individual Achievement. In 2010, 
Professor Hatem Salem was awarded the 
Member of the Order of Australia (AM) for 
service to medicine in the field of haematology 
as a clinician, educator and researcher and 
also through the establishment of the Australian 
Centre for Blood Diseases.

Ms Jorden Lam 
LLM, LLB, BCom, GradDipLP

 ▪ Member, Audit Committee

 ▪ Member, Community Advisory Committee

Term of appointment: 
October 2016 – June 2019

Ms Jorden Lam is the Company Secretary & 
General Counsel at HESTA Super Fund, and 
also serves on the Board of BreastScreen 
Victoria and the Policy Committee of Women 
in Super. She has also previously served 

on the Community Advisory Committee for 
Ambulance Victoria. She is experienced 
in the development and implementation of 
corporate governance frameworks, regularly 
advises on director and trustee duties and is 
passionate about achieving high standards 
of governance practise in organisations. Ms 
Lam has previously practiced as a commercial 
lawyer with several leading firms, advising 
corporations across a range of complex 
matters. In 2015 she was a recipient of the 
Australian Financial Review’s ‘Young Executive 
of the Year Award’.

Ms Sarah Ralph 
BA, LLB, LLM

 ▪ Member, Audit Committee

 ▪ Member, Primary Care and Population 
Health Advisory Committee

Term of appointment: 
October 2016 – June 2019

Ms Sarah Ralph is a partner of global law 
firm, Norton Rose Fulbright. Ms Ralph has 
practised in employment and labour law for 

over 20 years and leads the firm’s national 
government practice. Ms Ralph regularly acts 
for public and private sector employers in 
complex employment matters including in the 
health sector. Ms Ralph’s experience includes 
working in government and the private sector 
in strategic and legal roles. Ms Ralph is a 
volunteer member of the Youth Support and 
Advocacy Service (YSAS) Risk and Audit 
Committee. Ms Ralph brings her experience in 
people management, corporate governance, 
and risk management to the Board.
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Quality Committee

The purpose of the Quality Committee is to support the Board’s 
function of providing strategic leadership in relation to the clinical 
governance of quality and safety at Monash Health. It serves to 
ensure, on behalf of the Board, that the following objectives are 
fulfilled: 

 ▪ Effective and accountable systems are in place to monitor 
and improve the quality and effectiveness of health services 
provided by Monash Health.

 ▪ Any problems identified with the quality or effectiveness of the 
health services provided are addressed in a timely manner. 

 ▪ Monash Health continuously strives to improve the quality of 
the health services it provides and to foster innovation.

Audit Committee 

The role of the Audit Committee is to advise the Board of 
Directors on audit matters and matters relating to the financial, 
accounting and legislative compliance and the operational 
effectiveness and efficiency of Monash Health. 

The committee also advises the Board on the level of business 
risk or exposure to which Monash Health might be subject and 
oversight of internal and external audit activities. 

Remuneration Committee

The principal role of the Remuneration Committee is to advise 
the Board of Directors on matters relating to the organisation’s 
remuneration policies and practices. In addition, the 
Remuneration Committee provides oversight with respect to 
succession planning for the Chief Executive and senior executive 
positions. 

Finance Committee

The role of the Finance Committee is to advise the Board of 
Directors on financial matters and to assist in the oversight of 
financial performance. The Finance Committee reviews and 
makes recommendations to the Board regarding financial 
strategy, financial policies, annual operating and capital budgets, 
cash flow and business plans to ensure alignment with key 
strategic priorities and performance objectives.

Community Advisory Committee

The Community Advisory Committee works to increase 
consumer, carer and community participation in all facets of 
Monash Health’s operations in partnership with the Monash 
Health Board of Directors. The roles of the committee are to 
provide leadership in relation to the integration of consumer, 
carer and community views into all levels of strategy, operations, 
planning and policy development, and to provide advice on 
priority areas and issues from a consumer, carer and community 
perspective.

Aboriginal Health Strategic 
Partnership Committee

Together with the Board and Executive of the Dandenong and 
District Aborigines Co-Operative Ltd. (DDACL), the Aboriginal 
Health Strategic Partnership Committee oversees the strategic 
work undertaken across Monash Health and provides a forum for 
partnerships with the DDACL, a consumer advisor from Monash 
Health Community Advisory Committee and DHHS. Monash 
Health has a formal Memorandum of Understanding and has 
signed a Statement of Intent with DDACL and the Aboriginal 
Community to close the health gap.

Primary Care and Population Health 
Advisory Committee

The Primary Care and Population Health Advisory Committee 
provides strategic advice to the Board of Directors on matters 
specific to the primary care and population health of our local 
community. The committee focuses on improving the health 
status of our community in its focus on areas such as the hospital 
primary care interface, mental health and wellbeing, health 
promotion, population health, health independence programs, 
research and education. In addition, there is a focus on the health 
and wellbeing of vulnerable groups such as refugees, Aboriginal 
peoples and culturally and linguistically diverse communities.

Board Committees
The following committees support the functions of the Board of Directors:
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Organisational Structure

Research
Clinical Trials; Monash Health Translation Precinct (MHTP); 
Research Governance; Research Strategy

Chief Executive
Andrew Stripp

Chief Operating 
Officer

Martin Keogh

Clinical Programs

 ▪ Acute Medicine, Subacute 
and Community

 ▪ Children’s

 ▪ Mental Health

 ▪ Specialty Medicine, Cancer 
and  Intensive Care

 ▪ Surgery and Interventional 
Services

 ▪ Women’s & Newborn 

Campuses

 ▪ Casey Hospital

 ▪ Community Campuses

 ▪ Cranbourne Centre

 ▪ Dandenong Hospital

 ▪ Kingston Centre

 ▪ Monash Medical Centre & 
Monash Children’s Hospital

 ▪ Moorabbin Hospital 

Other

 ▪ Health Information Services

Executive Director 
Medical Services/ 
Chief Medical 
Officer

Erwin Loh (2009 - 
Nov 2018)

Anjali Dhulia (Mar 
2019 - current)

Clinical Programs

 ▪ Pathology

 ▪ Pharmacy

 ▪ Radiology

Other

 ▪ Medical Workforce

 · Appointment

 · Credentialing

 ▪ Medical Education

 · Library

 · Simulation Centre

 ▪ Chief Allied Health Officer

Executive Director 
Quality, Safety & 
Patient Experience

Carlos Scheinkestel

 ▪ Quality & Safety

 ▪ Patient Experience

 ▪ Risk

Executive Director 
Financial Services/ 
Chief Financial 
Officer

Stuart Donaldson

 ▪ Audit

 ▪ Budget

 ▪ Clinical Costing

 ▪ Finance

 ▪ Payroll

 ▪ Procurement

 ▪ Revenue

Executive Director 
Residential Care & 
Support Services/ 
Chief Nursing & 
Midwifery Officer

Cheyne Chalmers

Clinical Programs

 ▪ Residential Care

Campuses

 ▪ Hostels & Nursing Homes

Other

 ▪ Monash Bureau

 ▪ Nursing & Midwifery 
Education & Workforce

 ▪ Security

 ▪ Food Services

 ▪ Cleaning Services

 ▪ Emergency Management & 
Business Continuity
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Chief Executive
Andrew Stripp

Office of the Chief Executive
Ron Fairchild - Director, Monash Health Foundation

Barry Bloch - Head of Organisational Transformation

Angus Henderson (Acting) - Director, Enterprise Strategy 
& Development

Peter Ryan - Director, Legal Services / Chief Legal Officer

Executive Director 
Digital Health

Emilio Pozo

 ▪ Information Technology 
Services

 ▪ Electronic Medical Record

Executive Director 
People & Culture

Karen Lowe

 ▪ Diversity & Inclusion

 ▪ Employee Development

 ▪ Employee Health & 
Wellbeing

 ▪ Employee Relations

 ▪ People & Culture

 ▪ Recruitment & Retention

 ▪ Occupational Health & 
Safety

Executive Director 
Public Affairs & 
Communication

Louise Kanis

 ▪ Public relations

 ▪ Media relations

 ▪ Internal & corporate 
communications

 ▪ Project communications

 ▪ Brand

 ▪ Web and digital 
communications

 ▪ Government and 
community relations

Executive 
Director Capital & 
Infrastructure

Geoff McDonald

Clinical Programs

 ▪ Biomedical Engineering

 ▪ Capital

 ▪ Engineering

 ▪ Infrastructure

 ▪ Property

 ▪ Major Projects
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Mr Andrew Stripp 
Chief Executive

Andrew has extensive experience in 
executive roles in a variety of hospitals 
and health care settings, and within the 
State Government’s Department of Health 
and Human Services as the Director 
for the State’s mental health system, as 
Regional Director for Health, Housing and 
Community Services and as Director of 
Strategy. 

Prior to joining Monash Health, he was 
the Deputy Chief Executive and Chief 
Operating Officer at Alfred Health.

Adjunct Professor Cheyne Chalmers 
Executive Director, Residential Care 
& Support Services 
Chief Nursing and Midwifery Officer

Geoff McDonald 
Executive Director, Capital & Infrastructure

Cheyne is a Registered Nurse who is 
a recognised nursing leader, with a 
clinical background of respiratory and 
palliative care nursing and was involved 
in the development of national standards 
and education pathways for nurses in 
New Zealand during the 1990s. In early 
2000 Cheyne was involved in leading 
the amalgamation of four large hospitals 
onto one site, in Auckland New Zealand. 
From 2005-2009 Cheyne was the 
Director of Nursing at Capital and Coast 
District Health Board, Wellington, New 
Zealand. After joining Monash Health in 
2009 as Executive Director, Residential 

Care and Support Services and Chief 
Nursing and Midwifery Officer, she led 
the ‘Living Within Our Means’ executive 
committee, developed the ‘Target Best 
Care’ approach to redesigning care within 
Monash Health, successfully migrated 
the new Monash Children’s Hospital 
and developed and implemented two 
successive Monash Health Nursing 
and Midwifery Strategies. Cheyne has 
represented Monash Health and Nursing 
on National and state-wide committees 
including serving as past chair of the 
Ministerial Advisory Committee for 
Nursing and Midwifery.

Our executive team

Mr Geoff McDonald 
Executive Director, Capital & Infrastructure

Geoff McDonald joined Monash Health 
in December 2016 after many years of 
experience working within the mining and 
petrochemical, sports and entertainment 
venue management and health industries. 
Most recently he has held executive roles 
with the Melbourne and Olympic Parks 
Trust where he has led the facilities’ 
maintenance and capital planning areas, 
and prior to this at Austin Health and Alfred 
Health.

Geoff has worked in both the private and 
public sectors managing infrastructure 
planning for large facilities and leading 
projects from feasibility planning through to 
commissioning and completion.
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Mr Stuart Donaldson 
Executive Director, Financial Services 
Chief Finance Officer

Ms Louise Kanis 
Executive Director, Public Affairs 
& Communication

Dr Anjali Dhulia 
Chief Medical Officer (Mar 2019 - current)

Stuart Donaldson joined Monash Health 
in January 2017. He is an experienced 
senior finance executive with a strong 
record of achievement and a wealth 
of experience within several multi-
national organisations. His track record 
demonstrates excellent financial acumen 
and strategic thinking combined with 
commercial know-how. He recognises 
the importance of partnering to deliver 
excellent outcomes aligned to the overall 
strategy of an organisation. Stuart’s 

Louise Kanis joined Monash Health in 
February 2018. In a career spanning 
more than 20 years, Louise has headed 
corporate affairs for a major Melbourne 
transport consortium, established the 
communications and marketing function 
for a multinational financial services firm, 
driven the communications for a university 
undergoing major change and built her 
own agency servicing marquee external 
clients across a diverse range of industries. 
Louise has served on Australian executive 

previous role was Chief Financial Officer 
at RMIT University. Stuart has also 
worked in senior finance roles with 
multinational fast moving consumable 
goods, including Cadbury Schweppes, 
Kraft Foods, Nestle and Pacific Dunlop. 
As Chief Financial Officer, Stuart has 
responsibility for procurement, logistics, 
internal audit and financial services, as 
well as being a Board member of Kitaya 
Holdings Pty Ltd.

management groups, an international 
marketing and communications executive 
team, as crisis management executive, as 
a director of a charitable foundation and 
as the co-owner and director of her own 
company.

Anjali Dhulia started her medical career 
in the Indian Army, where she served 
for eight years. She completed her post 
graduate training in Paediatrics at Delhi 
University and practised in paediatric 
intensive care before migrating to Australia. 
She worked as a Fellow in Neonatology 
at the Women’s and Children’s Hospital in 
Adelaide, the Royal Women’s and Royal 
Children’s Hospital in Melbourne and also 
with the Neonatal Emergency Transport 
Service.

She switched to a career in Medical 
Administration in 2008 and completed 
a Fellowship of the Royal Australasian 

College of Medical Administrators and has 
worked in various medical management 
roles.

Her professional interests and expertise 
include medical workforce management, 
healthcare safety, quality and patient 
experience and engagement, and 
wellbeing of medical staff. She has 
completed a Master of Public Health and 
a Master of Applied Positive Psychology. 
She has led the development and 
implementation of Monash Care: The 
Mental Health and Wellbeing Strategy for 
Monash Doctors and was the Co-Lead 
in implementing the Women in Medicine 
Program at Monash Health.

Mr Martin Keogh 
Chief Operating Officer

Martin Keogh joined Monash Health as 
Chief Operating Officer after many years 
of clinical and management experience in 
a variety of roles within acute healthcare 
settings. This has enabled him to develop 
a broad level of knowledge, skill and 
understanding of the contemporary 
drivers of health service performance 
and the need for continual organisational 
improvement. Before joining Monash 
Health, Martin was acting Chief Operating 
Officer of Alfred Health. Having originally 
trained as a registered nurse, Martin 

practised in the areas of emergency and 
cardiology before finally specialising in 
intensive care nursing. Subsequently, 
he embarked on a management 
career. Martin has a proven track 
record of identifying and implementing 
improvements to enhance patient safety, 
access, and importantly, enhancing the 
patients’ overall experience. He has a 
strong interest in patient safety and quality 
of care initiatives, incorporating evidence-
based practise.
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Mr Emilio Pozo 
Executive Director, Digital Health 

Professor Carlos Scheinkestel 
Executive Director Quality, Safety 
and Patient Experience

Emilio has more than 20 years experience 
in information technology, having 
undertaken appointments in a number 
of global enterprise organisations across 
various industries. This has enabled 
him to develop the skills necessary to 
successfully manage complex and major 
business transformation projects. Emilio 
has worked as an Executive Director at 
a tertiary health service, has led EMR 
related programs and developed solutions 
in acute, subacute and community health 

Carlos’ remit is to drive and support the 
organisation in the delivery of reliably safe, 
high quality care that consistently meets 
or exceeds best practice standards and 
expectations. His track record includes 
leading a large and complex department 
to achieve international recognition as a 
centre of excellence in patient outcomes, 
research and education, winning four 
Victorian Public Healthcare awards, 
the AHRI Wayne Cascio Award for 
organisational change and development, 
an Australian Business Award for Service 
Excellence, an Australian Mobile and 
App Design Award, The Best of the Best 

settings. As Executive Director Digital 
Health, Emilio has executive accountability 
for leading a multi-million dollar, multi-
year hospital-wide EMR program as well 
as having operational accountability for 
Information Technology across the entire 
health service. 

International Nutrition Competition four 
times and an ELSO Centre of Excellence 
twice. He has served on government 
committees, has produced a number 
of publications, received an NHMRC 
research grant, and given many invited 
presentations, both nationally and 
internationally. He is an adjunct clinical 
professor with Monash University and 
recently completed studies focusing on 
leadership in disruptive times, obtaining 
a Specialist Certificate in Executive 
Leadership at the Melbourne Business 
School.

Ms Karen Lowe 
Executive Director, People and Culture

Professor Erwin Loh  
Chief Medical Officer 
Executive Director, Innovation, Patient 
Safety & Experience (2009 - Nov 2018)

Karen joined Monash Health as 
Executive Director People and Culture 
in September 2016 with a broad range 
of experience across many industries, 
including chartered accounting, utilities, 
steel, professional services and banking. 
She developed her passion for people 
through a variety of roles, including shared 
services, finance, human resources and 
general management roles. Karen’s most 
recent role was Head of Human Resources 

Erwin has executive accountability for the 
professional governance of over 2,000 
doctors, which includes the medical 
workforce and education, as well as 
research governance across clinical and 
translational research, patient experience, 
and the implementation of the Electronic 
Medical Record.

Prior to this he was the Deputy Chief 
Medical Officer at the Peter MacCallum 
Cancer Centre and before that he 
worked full-time as a lawyer at Sparke 
Helmore, and has trained in psychiatry. 

– Branch Banking for NatWest, Royal Bank 
of Scotland and Ulster Bank, based in 
Scotland.

He has qualifications in medicine, law 
and management. He is an adjunct 
Clinical Professor at Monash University 
and Jurisdictional Coordinator of Training 
for the Royal Australasian College of 
Administrators training program in Victoria.

46Monash Health - Annual Report 2018-19



Karen Lowe, Executive Director, People and Culture.
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Our workforce
As an equal opportunity employer, Monash Health is committed 
to a fair and non-discriminatory workplace that maximises the 
talent, potential and contribution of all employees. We act with 
humility, respect, kindess and compassion for each other and 
for our consumers. We are committed to developing our people 
by providing a wide range of professional development activities, 
leadership and management capability. 

We value honesty, openness and taking responsibility for 
our performance by recognising innovation, quality and 
professionalism. This year, an Equity and Inclusion Strategy 
2018-2021 was launched, covering five priority areas: Gender, 
Aboriginal Health and Employment, LGBTI, Disability and Cultural 
and Linguistic Diversity.

Hospital labour category June current month FTE* Average monthly FTE**

2018 2019 2018 2019

Nursing 4,968 5,301 5,111 5,411

Administration and Clerical 1,698 1,768 1,771 1,807

Medical Support 1,179 1,230 1,233 1,250

Hotel and Allied Services 1,029 1,062 1,050 1,062

Medical Officers 188 195 192 208

Hospital Medical Officers 1,054 1,118 1,079 1,155

Sessional Clinicians 348 378 373 397

Ancillary Staff (Allied Health) 1,016 1,053 1,042 1,078

Total 11,480 12,105 11,851 12,368

*Full time equivalent (FTE) employees at Monash Health and Jessie McPherson Private Hospital as at 30 June 2019

** Average monthly FTE for financial year 

Inspiring, energising and connecting our workforce at our Healthwise Gymnasium classes.
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Occupational health and safety
The physical health, safety and overall wellbeing of our employees 
is of paramount importance. We are committed to providing a 
workplace that promotes and facilitates employee wellbeing and 
safety to ensure they return to work each day safe and well.

We implemented an Occupational Health and Safety Strategy 
2018-2023 this year and focused on supporting our people in the 
workplace by: 

 ▪ Developing safety leadership through development and 
implementation of eLearning modules, guidance material and 
tools

 ▪ Actively engaging people in their health, safety and wellbeing

 ▪ Enhancing injury management processes to be more people 
focused.

Definitions 

Occupational violence - Any incident where an employee is 
abused, threatened or assaulted in circumstances arising out of, 
or in the course of their employment.

Incident - An event or circumstance that could have resulted 
in, or did result in, harm to an employee. Incidents of all severity 
rating must be included. Code Grey reporting is not included, 
however, if an incident occurs during the course of a planned or 
unplanned Code Grey, the incident must be included.

Accepted WorkCover claims - Accepted Workcover claims 
that were lodged in 2017-18.

Lost time - Defined as greater than one day.

Injury, illness or condition - This includes all reported harm 
as a result of the incident, regardless of whether the employee 
required time off work or submitted a claim.

Full time equivalent (FTE) - FTE figures required in the 
above table should be calculated consistent with the Workforce 
information FTE calculation.

Our actions this year and the commitment of our people and 
managers has resulted in a 17 per cent reduction in lost time 
injuries, greater than 80 per cent completion of workplace 
inspections and more than 70 per cent of people completing 
mandatory Occupational Violence and Aggression and 
Occupational Health and Safety training.

We continue to work collaboratively to care for the physical and 
psychological health, safety and overall wellbeing of our people.

Occupational Health and Safety statistics

2016-17 2017-18 2018-19

The number of reported hazards/incidents for the year per 100 FTE 
employees 32.23 32.44 30.83

The number of ‘lost time’ standard claims for the year per 100 FTE 
employees 1.72 1.50 1.63

The average cost per claim for the year $49,604 $61,722 $52,495

The number of standard claims 190 179 204

Occupational violence

2017-18 2018-19

WorkCover accepted claims with an occupational violence cause 
per 100 FTE 0.35 0.39

Number of accepted WorkCover claims with lost time injury with an 
occupational violence cause per 1,000,000 hours worked 1.71 1.0

Number of occupational violence incidents reported 1,327 1,262

Number of occupational violence incidents reported per 100 FTE 11.47 10.20

Percentage of occupational violence incidents resulting in employee 
injury, illness or condition* 38.43 59.75

*In 2018-19 the definition of injury changed to include incidents where an illness or condition occurred, but no treatment was required.
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Clinical Governance Report

Environmental Sustainability Report

Our Clinical Governance Framework outlines the structure, 
processes, leadership and culture that are in place and the 
outcomes monitored to ensure we provide accountable, 
safe, effective, efficient patient-centred care, underpinned by 
continuous improvement. 

It is based on the Victorian Clinical Governance Framework 
(June 2017) and the Australian Safety and Quality Framework for 
Healthcare (December 2010). 

Our key quality indicators are available on dashboards 
customised for each ward, unit and program prominently 
displayed on quality boards across all campuses. The health 
service performance against pre-determined quality indicators 
are tracked and reported monthly to Clinical Council, Monash 
Health Executive and the Monash Health Board.

Environmental citizenship

Establish accountabilities and responsibilities for employees 
across Monash Health to improve our environmental impact and 
build a culture where we act and participate in society as agents 
of positive change.

Achievements:

 ▪ The Monash Health Eco Champions Committee communicate 
regularly to explore, discuss, prioritise and implement 
sustainability efforts organisation-wide. 

 ▪ Our membership in the Victorian Green Hospitals Round 
Table Group enables us to meet with Sustainability 
Representatives across metropolitan Melbourne to discuss 
innovative ideas, remain transparent in our activities and 
ensure our actions are guided by best practice.

Green procurement

Incorporate sustainable procurement in Monash Health’s 
products and services as part of any tendering processes.

Achievements:

 ▪ Our procurement team consider the sustainability practices 
and environmental policies of our suppliers during the tender 
process while tendering for pharmaceuticals, cleaning, 
washroom, and pest control services. 

 ▪ Our procurement team consider the sustainability practices 
and environmental policies of our suppliers when negotiating 
agreements for employee uniforms and gardening services.

 ▪ Our procurement team consider opportunities for sourcing 
environmentally-friendly products or methods for reducing 
waste and update our organisation-wide ordering system 
where possible.

We aim to engage, educate and empower our employees to create an environmentally sustainable 
workplace and demonstrate this across our six sustainability themes.

Excellence is our standard
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 ▪ Our warehouse and logistics team consider opportunities to 
reduce our cardboard footprint by transferring cartons directly 
to the relevant wards upon delivery.

Waste management

Encourage the reduction, re-use and recycling of resources, and 
increase diversion of resources from landfill.

Achievements:

 ▪ We are continually improving our waste segregation activities 
via access to multiple waste streams and tailored education. 

 ▪ Operating Theatres at Dandenong Hospital have tailor-
made some of their surgical packs, avoiding the wastage of 
unnecessary items.

 ▪ Monash Health has donated hundreds of unused curtains to a 
wildlife organisation who will re-purpose them.

 ▪ A supplier take-back partnership has been set up with some 
of our food suppliers, where they take back their packaging 
and re-use it.

 ▪ We have invested in the EMR where we will be phasing out 
our inpatient paper medical records and replacing them with 
an electronic record where we create, store and retrieve 
patient information. 

 ▪ The Clayton Pharmacy Department was successful in 
securing a grant from the Victorian Health and Human 
Services Building Authority. This grant will be used in an 
ambitious project aimed at eliminating plastic bag use 
throughout the pharmaceutical journey and will remove 
approximately 326,500 plastic bags from circulation at 
Clayton.

 ▪ Kingston Centre Food Services Department are trialling an 
innovative food waste management system that will divert 
approximately more than 25 tonnes of food waste from landfill 
per annum.

 ▪ Through our Polyvinyl Chloride (PVC) recycling stream, we 
have diverted almost two tonnes of PVC from landfill this 
financial year.

 ▪ Through our Electronic Waste Recycling Program, we have 
diverted over five tonnes of electronics from landfill this 
financial year.

 ▪ Through our Metal Instruments Recycling Program, we have 
diverted over three tonnes of single-use metal instruments 
from landfill this financial year.

Sustainable travel and active transport

Reduce greenhouse gas emissions from Monash Health’s fleet 
car service, and encourage the use of car-pooling and active 
transport.

Achievements:

 ▪ We have a Bicycle Users Group, and bike facilities across 
our campuses promoting and enabling the use of active bike 
transport.

 ▪ We are a part of Hospital Car Share, an organisation enabling 
workers to carpool to and from work.

 ▪ Our fleet car service operations are purchasing smaller, more 
fuel-efficient vehicles now the default for Monash Health and 
we are exploring the purchasing of hybrid vehicles where 
possible.

Sustainable buildings

Improve environmental standards for new and retrofit building 
projects.

Achievement:

 ▪ Monash Health plans to implement mandatory ecologically 
sustainable design principles and energy efficiency 
initiatives in new builds and major retrofits/refurbishments 
in accordance with the relevant sections of the National 
Construction Code.

Energy efficiency and emissions

Support the Victorian Government’s climate change framework 
for emissions reduction (net zero greenhouse gas emissions by 
2050 and renewable energy generation targets of 25% by 2020 
and 40% by 2025).

Achievements:

 ▪ Monash Health engaged an energy management consultant 
to conduct a level 2 energy audit for Monash Medical 
Centre and Dandenong Hospital. We are in the process 
of implementing several selected recommendations from 
this audit report, which will support our goal of emissions 
reduction and improve our energy efficiency.

 ▪ We have implemented a building analytics program for 
Monash Children’s Hospital to ensure early detection of any 
Heating, Ventilation and Air Conditioning faults, enabling the 
most efficient running of the building.

 ▪ Set point temperatures have been readjusted to 21°C for 
heating and 24°C for cooling where possible, and we have 
implemented control strategies to automatically reset set 
points, reducing the amount of energy used.

 ▪ We are replacing existing T5 fluorescent fittings to LED fittings 
where practicable, reducing energy usage and emissions.

 ▪ We plan to increase data storage of the Building Management 
System so as to improve the ability to interrogate BMS 
information. 

 ▪ We will investigate issues in air handling units associated with 
wasted reheating and unusually high outside air temperatures 
identified as part of spot checks of the BMS, ensuring we 
continue to operate at optimal efficiency. 

 ▪ We are identifying spaces where 24/7 air conditioning is not 
required and adjusting time clocks to correspond with actual 
working hours, ensuring energy efficiency and reducing 
emissions.

Monash Health is committed to reducing our ecological footprint with 
sustainability being one of our strategic principles.
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Summary
 

Operating result

2019 

$’000

2018 

$’000

2017 

$’000

2016 

$’000

2015 

$’000

Total revenue 2,066,252 1,882,075 1,850,723 1,751,511 1,512,340

Total expenses 2,046,513 1,877,401 1,754,104 1,647,800 1,528,277

Net result from transactions 19,740 4,674 96,619 103,711 -15,937

Total other economic flows -24,820 -4,659 10,838 184 62

Net result -5,080 15 107,457 103,895 -15,875

Total assets 2,252,249 1,818,761 1,715,387 1,591,476 1,420,199

Total liabilities 677,135 589,603 522,107 505,698 463,422

Net assets/Total equity 1,575,113 1,229,158 1,193,280 1,085,778 956,777

There are no significant changes or any subsequent events to balance date.

Financial Information

Reconciliation between the Net result from transactions
 2019 

$’000

2018 

$’000

2017 

$’000

2016 

$’000

2015 

$’000

Net operating result* -10,690 39 1,294 2,393 3,111

Capital and specific items

Capital purpose income 127,422 101,699 180,160 193,492 64,774

Share of Net profit of associates in other economic flows -29 -87 -147 -184 -62

Specific expenses -5,328 -372 -667 -5,741 -1,320

Assets provided free of charge 0 0 0 0 0

Assets received free of charge 0 0 0 0 0

Expenditure for capital purpose -10,094 -11,349 -10,226 -8,503 -6,971

Depreciation and amortisation -73,129 -77,310 -67,063 -70,184 -66,614

Impairment of non-financial assets 0 0 0 0 0

Bad and doubtful debt expense** -3,618 -2,729 -1,259 -1,887 -3,034

Finance costs - other -4,794 -5,217 -5,473 -5,675 -5,821

Net result from transactions 19,739 4,674 96,619 103,711 -15,937

Net result before capital and specific items, i.e. the result which the health service is monitored against in the Statement of Priorities.

*Note: Restated share of Net profit of associates is in other economic flows as of 2019, prior years restated.

**Note: Restated Net Operating Result to exclude Bad and Doubtful Debts Expense in 2015, 2016 and 2017.
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Details of Information and Communication Technology
The total ICT expenditure incurred during 2018-19 is $69.4 million (excluding GST).

 ($’000)

BAU ICT Expenditure 

Total  (excluding GST)

Non-BAU ICT Expenditure  

Total = A+B (excluding GST)

Operational Expenditure  

A (excluding GST)

Capital Expenditure 

B (excluding GST)

 $                                     32,903  $                                     36,524  $                                       1,429  $                                    35,095 

Consultancy engagement summary

Consultants 2019 2018 2017 2016 2015

Consultants’ cost ($)  3,251,980  1,587,973  1,228,225 996,437 1,265,500 

Total number of consultants 121 51 107 140 80 

Consultancies Information

Details of consultancies (under $10,000)
In 2018-19, there were 88 consultancies where the total fees payable to the consultants were less than $10,000. The total expenditure 
incurred during 2018-19 in relation to these consultancies is $220,652 (excluding GST).

Details of consultancies (valued at $10,000 or greater)
In 2018-19, there were 33 consultancies where the total fees payable to the consultants were $10,000 or greater. The total expenditure 
incurred during 2018-19 in relation to these consultancies is $3,031,328 (excluding GST). Details of individual consultancies are listed 
below and can be viewed at www.monashhealth.org

Consultancies details

Consultant Purpose of Consultancy Start date End date

Total approved 
project fee 

($'000)

Expenditure 
2018-2019 

($'000)

McKinsey & Company
Consultancy for Improvement in 
Financial Viability

1/07/18 30/06/19 1,150 1,150

Ernst & Young Internal Audit and FBT Services 1/07/18 30/06/19 528 528

Madison Cross Australia Pty Ltd
Consultancy for Organisational Growth 
and Development

1/07/18 30/06/19 163 163

Open Advisory Pty Ltd
Consultancy for Organisational Growth 
and Development

1/07/18 30/06/19 150 150

Innovative Thinking (IT)
Asset Management Framework 
Review

1/07/18 30/06/19 99 99

Carlile Philip Alexander Asset Management Consulting 1/07/18 30/06/19 91 91

Simpply Information Technology Consulting 1/07/18 30/06/19 87 87

Opteon Solutions Property Valuation Consultant 1/07/18 30/06/19 69 69

Carney Associates Strategic Planning Consulting 1/07/18 30/06/19 56 56

Cetec Pty Ltd Workplace Safety Review 1/07/18 30/06/19 52 52

Portland Group Pty Ltd Procurement Consulting 1/07/18 30/06/19 49 49

ClarkeHopkinsClarke Architectural Consultancy 1/07/18 30/06/19 47 47

K & L Gates Workplace Consultancy 1/07/18 30/06/19 47 47

Press Ganey Associates Pty Ltd Inpatient Surveying Consulting 1/07/18 30/06/19 45 45

HeadlinePR Media Consultation 1/07/18 30/06/19 42 42

MKM Health Pty Limited Information Technology Consulting 1/07/18 30/06/19 41 41

Insync Surveys Pty Ltd Workplace Research Consultancy 1/07/18 30/06/19 36 36

Global Public Safety Pty Ltd Workplace Safety Review 1/07/18 30/06/19 34 34
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Consultant Purpose of Consultancy Start date End date

Total approved 
project fee 

($'000)

Expenditure 
2018-2019 

($'000)

The Hilton Trust Strategic Planning Consulting 1/07/18 30/06/19 32 32

Magiq Software Ltd Information Technology Consulting 1/07/18 30/06/19 30 30

Wisely Workplace Review 1/07/18 30/06/19 28 28

Leslie White Paediatric Services Review 1/07/18 30/06/19 16 16

Griffiths Clinton John Paediatric Services Review 1/07/18 30/06/19 15 15

BCS Technology International 
Pty Ltd

Information Technology Consulting 1/07/18 30/06/19 15 15

Dr David Graham Fuller Paediatric Services Review 1/07/18 30/06/19 15 15

Applied Aged Care Solutions 
Pty Ltd

Strategic Planning Consulting 1/07/18 30/06/19 15 15

Margaret Charlton Paediatric Consulting 1/07/18 30/06/19 13 13

U-Bahn Design Pty Ltd Graphic Design Consulting 1/07/18 30/06/19 13 13

Azion Wellness Pty Ltd Workplace Culture Review 1/07/18 30/06/19 12 12

Spratt Phillip Maxwell Cardiothoracic Consulting 1/07/18 30/06/19 11 11

Allen Anthony Kenneth Workplace Culture Review 1/07/18 30/06/19 11 11

Piper Alderman Workplace Consultancy 1/07/18 30/06/19 11 11

Prime Prospects Pty Ltd Information Technology Consulting 1/07/18 30/06/19 10 10

Freedom of Information Act 1982

Rights of the public under the Freedom 
of Information Act 1982 are published on 
our website at monashhealth.org These 
include contact details for the Freedom of 
Information Team and guidance on how 
to make a freedom of information request.

A request for documents must be in 
writing and include sufficient detail to 
identify the correct medical record.

Contact details of our FOI team at 
foi@monashhealth.org

Summary of requests received 
under the Act from 1 July 2018 to 
30 June 2019

Total number of requests received: 1,827

Number of requests transferred to 
another agency: 0

Outcomes of Requests Received in the 
Period 1 July 2018 to 30 June 2019:

Access granted in full: 1,574

Access granted in part: 84

Access denied in full: 2

Other (no documents found): 37

Other (not proceeded with): 20

Not yet finalised: 110

Exemptions cited: a total of 137

Clause: 

25A(5) 2

30(1) 8

33(1) 56

35(1)(b) 49

38 22

Outcomes of Requests Outstanding 
from 2017-18

Total number of requests outstanding: 90

Access granted in full: 68

Access granted in part: 17

Access denied in full: 2

Other (no documents): 3

Freedom of Information Fees and 
charges:

Application fees collected $40,951.30

Application fees waived $11,8649

Copy charges collected $61,396.94

Copy charges waived $6,859.90

Initial decision makers:

Rachael Gillies (Release of Information 
Manager)

Frances Rogers (FOI Decision Maker)

Elaine Elliott (Health Information Manager)

Maija Dimits (Health Information Manager)

Monika Bosnich (Health Information 
Manager)

Tammy O’Connor (Senior Corporate 
Counsel)

Elle Bethune (Corporate Counsel)

Disclosures required under Legislation
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Building Act 1993

Monash Health campuses and 
facilities are managed through campus 
inspections, risk assessments and audits. 
We have contracts in place to maintain 
Essential Safety Measures and annual 
compliance audits by independent 
Registered Building Surveyors.

Building standards and condition 
assessments

The condition of our buildings are 
assessed through campus inspections 
and condition audits by architects and 
consultant engineers on an as needed 
basis. Fire audits and risk assessments 
are undertaken by consultant fire 
engineers to comply with the DHHS Fire 
Risk Management Guidelines Series 7.

Recommendations from fire audits are 
actioned through a series of projects 
developed in conjunction with the DHHS 
to maintain a high degree of fire safety. 
All bed-based facilities are audited on a 
five-yearly cycle.

Fire safety audits

The last five-yearly fire safety audit of 
Monash Health’s 12 bed-based facilities 
was completed in June 2018.

Essential safety measures 
maintenance

Contracts are in place to maintain all 
Essential Safety Measures elements 
at campuses owned by Monash 
Health. Audits were performed at 
these campuses by registered Building 
Surveyors to ensure compliance with 
Essential Safety Measures Maintenance 
regulations. Action plans to rectify 
defects identified during the audits are 
currently in place. In accordance with 
regulatory requirements, service and 
maintenance records are kept to enable 
completion of an annual Essential Safety 

Measures Report for all properties 
owned by Monash Health. This provides 
confirmation that all Essential Safety 
Measures are operational at the required 
level of performance for the safety of 
these facilities.

Risk assessment

Victorian Managed Insurance Authority 
conducts campus risk assessments 
at Monash Medical Centre, Moorabbin 
Hospital, Kingston Centre and 
Dandenong Hospital.

Risk treatment options generated from 
the SRS are monitored through action 
plans until they are completed.

Protected Disclosure Act 2012 

Monash Health has a procedure for 
protected disclosures and matters of this 
nature are referred to the Independent 
Broad-based Anti-Corruption 
Commission. Information is included 
in the ‘Patient & Visitors/Compliments, 
Complaints and Comments’ section 
of the Monash Health internet site for 
external parties and on our intranet for 
internal employees to view policies and 
procedures.

National Competition Policy

Monash Health continued to comply with 
the Victorian Government’s Competitive 
Neutrality Policy. In addition, the Victorian 
Government’s Neutrality Pricing Principles 
for all relevant business activities have 
been applied by Monash Health since 1 
July 1988.

Carers Recognition Act 2012

Monash Health is committed to partnering 
with and empowering our consumers. 
We understand that our consumers, 
their families and carers need to play an 
active role in their own healthcare and in 
helping us improve the quality and safety 

of our services. We take all practicable 
measures to ensure our employees 
and agents reflect the care relationship 
principles in developing, providing or 
evaluating support and assistance for 
persons in care relationships.

The Monash Health Consumer, 
Carer and Community Partnerships 
Framework provides an organisation-wide 
structure describing our approach to 
embedding relationship-centred care and 
partnerships in our culture, recognising 
that everyone in the organisation has 
an impact on patient, family, carer and 
consumer experience. Patient Experience 
education is mandatory for all new 
Monash Health employees, both clinical 
and clinical support and Partnering with 
Consumers education is provided for 
managers and leaders. Our learning tools 
draw particular attention to the needs of 
carers and families.

Monash Health reports on how we 
engage with our consumers, their families 
and carers in the annual Quality Account. 
The report is available on our website: 
https://monashhealth.org/about-us/
publications/monash-health-quality-
account/ 

There are no disclosures required to be 
made under the Carers Recognition Act 
2012.

Victorian Industry Participation 
Policy Act 2003

Monash Health complies with the intent 
of the Victorian Industry Participation 
Policy Act 2003 which requires, wherever 
possible, local industry participation 
in supplies; taking into consideration 
the principle of value for money and 
transparent tendering processes. 
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DataVic Access Policy

Consistent with the DataVic Access Policy issued by the Victorian Government in 2012, Monash Health data sets available on the DataVic 
website in 2018-19. The information included in this Annual Report will also be available at www.data.vic.gov.au in an electronic readable 
format. 

Safe Patient Act 2015

Monash Health have no matters to report in relation to its obligations under Section 40 of the Safe Patient Care Act 2015.

Car Parking Fees

Monash Health complies with the Department of Health and Human Services hospital circular on car parking fees and details of car 
parking fees and concession benefits can be viewed at https://www2.health.vic.gov.au/about/news-and-events/hospitalcirculars/
circ0515

Monash Health’s car parking fees and concession benefits can be found at www.monashhealth.org 

Additional information available on request

Details in respect of the items listed below have been retained by the Health Service and are available to the relevant Ministers, Members 
of Parliament and the public on request (subject to the Freedom of Information requirements, if applicable):

 ▪ Declarations of pecuniary interests have been duly completed by all relevant officers

 ▪ Details of shares held by senior officers as nominee or held beneficially

 ▪ Details of publications produced by the entity about itself, and how these can be obtained

 ▪ Details of changes in prices, fees, charges, rates and levies charged by the Health Service

 ▪ Details of any major external reviews carried out on the Health Service

 ▪ Details of major research and development activities undertaken by the Health Service that are not otherwise covered either in the 
report of operations or in a document that contains the financial statements and report of operations

 ▪ Details of overseas visits undertaken including a summary of the objectives and outcomes of each visit

 ▪ Details of major promotional, public relations and marketing activities undertaken by the Health Service to develop community 
awareness of the Health Service and its services

 ▪ Details of assessments and measures undertaken to improve the occupational health and safety of employees

 ▪ A general statement on industrial relations within the Health Service and details of time lost through industrial accidents and disputes, 
which are not otherwise detailed in the report of operations

 ▪ A list of major committees sponsored by the Health Service, the purposes of each committee and the extent to which those 
purposes have been achieved.

Local Jobs First-Victorian Industry Participation Policy

Projects Type Number of Projects Estimated Value

VIPP/LIDP Plan 

Required Completed In Progress

Standard >$3M 13 $63.33M 6 1 5

Strategic >$50M N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A
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Jo Vlahovich, Midwife.
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Attestations

Financial Management Compliance attestation

I, Dipak Sanghvi, on behalf of the Monash Health Board, certify 
that Monash Health has complied with the applicable Standing 
Directions of the Minister for Finance under the Financial 
Management Act 1994 and Instructions.

Dipak Sanghvi 
Chair, Board of Directors

Melbourne 
19 August 2019 

Data Integrity

I, Andrew Stripp, certify that Monash Health has put in place 
appropriate internal controls and processes to ensure that 
reported data accurately reflects actual performance. Monash 
Health has critically reviewed these controls and processes 
during the year.

Andrew Stripp 
Chief Executive

Melbourne 
19 August 2019 

Conflict of Interest

I, Andrew Stripp, certify that Monash Health has put in place 
appropriate internal controls and processes to ensure that it 
has complied with the requirements of hospital circular 07/2017 
Compliance reporting in health portfolio entities (revised) and 
has implemented a ‘Conflict of Interest’ policy consistent with 
the minimum accountabilities required by the VPSC. Declaration 
of private interest forms have been completed by all executive 
employees within Monash Health and members of the Board, 
and all declared conflicts have been addressed and are being 
managed. Conflict of interest is a standard agenda item for 
declaration and documenting at each executive board meeting.

Andrew Stripp 
Chief Executive

Melbourne 
19 August 2019 

Integrity, Fraud and Corruption

I, Andrew Stripp, certify that Monash Health has put in place 
appropriate internal controls and processes to ensure that 
integrity, fraud and corruption risks have been reviewed and 
addressed at Monash Health during the year.

Andrew Stripp 
Chief Executive

Melbourne 
19 August 2019 

Health Purchasing Victoria (HPV) Health Purchasing 
Policies

I, Andrew Stripp, certify that Monash Health has put in place 
appropriate internal controls and processes to ensure that it 
has complied with all requirements set out in the HPV Health 
Purchasing Policies including mandatory HPV collective 
agreements as required by the Health Services Act 1988 (Vic) and 
has critically reviewed these controls and processes during the 
year.

Andrew Stripp 
Chief Executive

Melbourne 
19 August 2019 
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Sue Kirsa, Director of Pharmacy and Patrick Lam, Senior Pharmacist.
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Reporting of outcomes from 
Statement of Priorities 2018-19
Part A

Goals Strategies Health Service Deliverables Comment

Better Health

A system geared to prevention 
as much as treatment

Everyone understands their 
own health and risks

Illness is detected and 
managed early

Healthy neighbourhoods 
and communities encourage 
healthy lifestyles 

Better Health

Reduce Statewide Risks

Build Healthy Neighbourhoods

Help people to stay healthy

Target health gaps

Optimise the provision of acute, 
sub-acute and community-based 
mental health services into the 
future by developing Monash 
Health’s Mental Health Program 
Service Plan.

Achieved 

Monash Health’s Mental Health 
Program Service Plan has been 
developed and was approved by 
the Board in June 2019. The Plan 
is currently being implemented 
and delivers a breadth of hospital 
and community-based services, 
broadly grouped to provide 
services across the lifespan from 
children and adolescents through 
to aged persons.

Continue to support and care 
for victims of family violence by 
implementing the Family Violence 
Education Plan into Monash 
Health’s paediatrics, maternity, 
emergency care, mental health 
and elder abuse services.

Achieved 

To support and care for 
victims of family violence, 
Monash Health has effectively 
implemented a Family Violence 
Education Plan and trained 70 
per cent of all employees in its 
Maternity Program, Emergency 
Department and the Monash 
Children’s Hospital.

Together with the Regional 
Chronic Disease Coalition, deliver 
the actions planned for 2018-19 
against the four key objectives 
of the Monash Health Chronic 
Disease Strategy.

In progress

Together with the Regional 
Chronic Disease Coalition, 
Monash Health has launched 
three Chronic Disease 
Management projects. These 
were presented to the Board 
Quality Committee in June 2019 
and will be followed up in six 
months time.

Plan for integrated health 
services for our community by 
developing a Monash Health 
Community Strategy to increase 
the provision of services in the 
community and people’s homes.

Achieved 

The Community Services 
Strategy Redesign Plan (including 
project phasing) has been 
completed and was presented 
to the Monash Health Executive 
Committee in June 2019. It 
was submitted to the Board for 
approval in July 2019.
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Goals Strategies Health Service Deliverables Comment

Better Access

Care is always there when 
people need it

A system geared to prevention 
as much as treatment

People are connected to the 
full range of care and support 
they need

There is equal access to care 

Better Access

Plan and invest

Unlock innovation

Provide easier access

Ensure fair access

Complete the Monash Health 
Strategic Service Plan to ensure 
Monash Health is well placed 
to deliver on its role in ensuring 
Victorians have ready access to 
a full range of safe, high quality 
services.

In progress

The Strategic Service Plan 
development has been delayed. 
It will be completed in 2019-20.

Together with Monash University 
and the Department of Health 
and Human Services, progress 
the planning for the Victorian 
Heart Hospital according to the 
project plan.

Achieved 

Planning for the Victorian Heart 
Hospital has progressed and is 
on schedule. Design concepts 
have been completed, and 
the detailed design phase 
is underway. Early works on 
campus have commenced.

Develop a Dandenong Hospital 
and Cranbourne Centre Service 
Plan in the context of the Monash 
Health system of care.

In progress

A draft Service Plan is in the 
advanced stages of development 
and will be circulated for review 
by the Monash Health Executive 
Committee in July 2019. 
Completion is anticipated for 
September 2019.

Provide easier access to the 
right care for people living in the 
south eastern growth corridor 
and Gippsland by finalising the 
operational commissioning 
plans for the expansion of Casey 
Hospital.

Achieved

Operational commissioning plans 
finalised.

Improve the access to, and 
experience of, emergency care 
for adult, paediatric and mental 
health patients by progressing 
the expansion of the Monash 
Medical Centre Emergency 
Department within project 
milestones.

Achieved 

Expansion planning has been 
completed and the tender 
process for capital works is 
underway. Preparatory works to 
move administrative areas within 
Monash Medical Centre are 
complete.

Improve access to specialist 
consulting clinics by: 

 ▪ Relocating children’s and 
high risk adult clinics

 ▪ Implementing a standardised 
electronic outpatient triage 
system (e-referral) to all 
adult specialist clinics and 
updating specialty referral 
guidelines to Monash Health 

 ▪ Scaling up Monash Health’s 
telehealth consultation in 
the Gippsland region for at 
least three additional adult 
services and, integrating the 
statewide referral guidelines 
for selected specialist clinics.

Achieved 

High risk clinics have been 
moved to improve access for 
specialist consulting.

E-referral for adult specialist 
clinics, including updating referral 
guidelines, is ongoing.

Telehealth consultation has 
been scaled up to include 12 
adult specialties. This has saved 
patients more than 435 hours of 
travel time and has saved $25,110 
of travel-related expenses. All 
patients felt telehealth improved 
access to specialist clinics, and 
they felt more involved in their 
healthcare.
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Goals Strategies Health Service Deliverables Comment

Better Care

Target zero avoidable harm

Healthcare that focuses on 
outcomes

Patients and carers are active 
partners in care

Care fits together around 
people’s needs

Better Care

Put Quality First

Join up care

Partner with patients

Strengthen the workforce

Embed evidence

Ensure equal care

Develop an implementation plan 
to support Monash Health’s 
recently-established Equity and 
Inclusion Strategy, including 
progressing the implementation 
of Monash Health’s Aboriginal 
employment plan to continue 
to increase the number and 
inclusion of Aboriginal Peoples at 
Monash Health.

Achieved 

Monash Health’s Equity and 
Inclusion Strategy has been 
developed and implemented. 
These include positive affirmation 
measures.

Since introducing its Aboriginal 
Employment Procedure in 
September 2018, Monash Health 
has welcomed 33 new Aboriginal 
employees with 52 employees 
now identifying as Aboriginal, an 
increase of 174 per cent.

Support effective clinical 
governance by embedding the 
clinical governance framework 
across Monash Health and 
continuing to train our clinical 
ward governance leaders and 
teams.

Achieved

Monash Health has implemented 
a strengthened clinical 
governance framework. A unit 
audit schedule has also been 
introduced to monitor uptake and 
compliance. Necessary training 
of employees is underway. 

Undertake the review, validation, 
testing and implementation of 
the first phase of the Electronic 
Medical Record.

In progress

On track for implementation from 
August 2019.

Partner with patients to improve 
their overall experience of 
the health service, and their 
experience of the discharge 
of their care, by implementing 
the discharge passport across 
the health service; and the 
cleanliness of the health service, 
by implementing the cleaning 
action plan.

Achieved

Discharge Passport – roll-
out across all adult inpatient 
wards has been completed and 
evaluation is underway.

In progress  

Cleaning – revised methodology 
for cleaning was endorsed by 
the Monash Health Executive 
Committee in March 2019. 
Full implementation of the new 
methodology has now taken 
place at Kingston, Moorabbin, 
and Casey. Training has been 
completed for Dandenong, 
Monash Medical Centre and 
Monash Children’s Hospital.

Strengthen the workforce 
by completing the Monash 
Health workforce strategy and 
developing clear actions for 2018-
19 to progress its delivery.

In progress 

Medical and nursing workforce 
plan has been completed. 

Workforce strategy actions have 
been deferred for pharmacy until 
all campuses have implemented 
the Electronic Medical Record.
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Goals Strategies Health Service Deliverables Comment

Specific 2018-19 
Priorities

Disability Action Plans

Draft disability action plans 
were completed in 2018-19.  

Submit a draft disability action 
plan to the Department of Health 
and Human Services by 30 
June 2019. The draft plan needs 
to outline the approach to full 
implementation within three years 
of publication.

Achieved

The 2019-2023 Draft Disability 
Action Plan was approved by the 
Monash Health Board at its July 
meeting. 

The draft was submitted to 
the Department of Health and 
Human Services on 9 July 2019.

Volunteer Engagement

Ensure that the health service 
executives have appropriate 
measures to engage and 
recognise volunteers.

Provide an annual report to 
the Monash Health Executive 
Committee to monitor the 
engagement of volunteers, 
and develop an award for the 
recognition of volunteers across 
Monash Health in alignment with 
Monash Health’s recognition 
program.

Achieved 

A draft annual report has 
been prepared by Community 
Services and will be submitted 
to the Monash Health Executive 
Committee.

Avenues for acknowledging 
outstanding volunteer activity 
have been introduced. These 
include recognition through the 
Monash Health STAR (Special 
Thanks and Recognition) 
Awards as well as by nominating 
Monash Health volunteers for 
acknowledgement through the 
annual Victorian Minister for 
Health Volunteer Awards.

Bullying and Harassment

Actively promote positive 
workplace behaviours and 
encourage reporting. Utilise 
employee surveys, incident 
reporting data, outcomes of 
investigations and claims to 
regularly monitor and identify 
risks related to bullying and 
harassment. In particular, 
including this information 
as a regular item in Board 
and Executive meetings. 
Appropriately investigate 
all reports of bullying and 
harassment and ensure there 
is a feedback mechanism 
to employees involved and 
the broader health service 
employees.

Occupational Violence

Ensure all staff who have 
contact with patients and 
visitors have undertaken 
core occupational violence 
training, annually. Ensure the 
department’s occupational 
violence and aggression 
training principles are 
implemented.

Continue to implement Monash 
Health’s bullying and harassment 
work plan: 

 ▪ provide quarterly reporting of 
related information, incident 
types and outcomes of 
investigations and claims to 
the Monash Health Executive 
Committee and Board, 
and make available to all 
employees; 

 ▪ monitor, action and 
communicate feedback from 
the People Matter and Best 
Practice Clinical Learning 
Environment Surveys; and, 
mandate all employees 
complete the ‘Introduction to 
OHS’ online training.

Achieved 

Quarterly reporting is also 
submitted to the Board and is 
made available to employees by 
email updates and the intranet.

People Matter survey is 
operational and conducted 
annually with results informing 
change initiatives.

Schwartz Rounds have been 
established to engage clinical 
and non-clinical employees to 
improve patient experience. 
These have a regular schedule 
that is posted on the intranet 
with venues at all Monash Health 
campuses. 

All Monash Health employees are 
required to complete an online 
introduction to OHS training 
module as a component of new 
employee induction and as a 
mandatory component of the 
annual performance review cycle.
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Goals Strategies Health Service Deliverables Comment

Occupational Violence

Ensure all employees who 
have contact with patients 
and visitors have undertaken 
core occupational violence 
training, annually. Ensure the 
department’s occupational 
violence and aggression 
training principles are 
implemented.

Based on the Department of 
Health and Human Services’ OVA 
training principles, provide all 
employees with access to online 
OVA training and those with 
patient and visitor contact with 
practical training, as measured 
by participation rates.

Achieved 

All Monash Health employees are 
required to complete online OVA 
training as an essential part of 
the annual performance review 
process. Across Monash Health, 
71.9 per cent of employees have 
completed the OVA training.

Environmental 
Sustainability

Actively contribute to the 
development of the Victorian 
Government’s policy to be 
net zero carbon by 2050 
and improve environmental 
sustainability by identifying 
and implementing projects, 
including:

 ▪ workforce education, 
to reduce material 
environmental impacts 

 ▪ particular consideration of 
procurement and waste 
management, and

 ▪ publicly reporting 
environmental 
performance data

 ▪ measureable targets 
related to the reduction of 
clinical, sharps and landfill

 ▪ waste, water and energy 
use and improved 
recycling.

Improve environmental 
sustainability by: identifying 
opportunities and an action plan 
to reduce our environmental 
impact through the completion 
of level two energy audits at 
Monash Medical Centre and 
Dandenong Hospital; and 
provide an Environmental Project 
Officer role to deliver a five year 
Environmental Sustainability 
Strategy.

Achieved 

Action plan - plan in place to 
implement economically feasible 
improvements with a guaranteed 
payback less than three years.

Energy audits – completed for 
Clayton and Dandenong with final 
reports received in November 
2018.

LGBTI

Develop and promote 
service level policies and 
protocols, in partnership 
with LGBTI communities, to 
avoid discrimination against 
LGBTI patients, ensure 
appropriate data collection, 
and actively promote rights 
to free expression of gender 
and sexuality in healthcare 
settings. Where relevant, 
services should offer leading-
practice approaches to 
trans and intersex-related 
interventions. 

Develop for Board endorsement 
and deliver actions to support 
Monash Health’s Equity and 
Inclusion Strategy, of which 
LGBTI is a key focus area. The 
strategy and work plan for 
development will be informed 
by the Department of Health 
and Human Services’ Rainbow 
eQuality Guide.

Achieved 

Monash Health organised a 
LGBTI subcommittee to advise 
and support the development 
and implementation of diversity 
and inclusion initiatives. Amongst 
communications and activities 
delivered to promote awareness, 
in May 2019, the Committee 
organised an event to celebrate 
IDAHOBIT (International Day 
Against Homophobia, Biphobia, 
Interphobia and Transphobia). 
The lunchtime event hosted an 
open Q&A session about LGBTI 
issues. 
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High quality and safe care

Target Result

Accreditation

Accreditation against the National Safety and Quality Health 
Service Standards

Accredited Accredited

Compliance with the Commonwealth’s Aged Care Accreditation 
Standards

Accredited Accredited

Infection prevention and control

Compliance with Hand Hygiene Australia program >=80% 81.8%

Healthcare worker immunisation >=80% 76.0%

Patient experience

Victorian Healthcare Experience Survey – data submission Full compliance Full compliance

Victorian Healthcare Experience Survey - Percentage of positive 
patient experience responses Quarter 1

>=95% 87.1%

Victorian Healthcare Experience Survey - Percentage of positive 
patient experience responses Quarter 2

>=95% 90.7%

Victorian Healthcare Experience Survey - Percentage of positive 
patient experience responses Quarter 3

>=95% 85.7%

Victorian Healthcare Experience Survey - Percentage of positive 
responses to questions on discharge care Quarter 1 

>= 75% 65.3%

Victorian Healthcare Experience Survey - Percentage of positive 
responses to questions on discharge care Quarter 2

>= 75% 71.7%

Victorian Healthcare Experience Survey - Percentage of positive 
responses to questions on discharge care Quarter 3

>= 75% 71.3%

Victorian Healthcare Experience Survey – Patients’ perception of 
cleanliness Quarter 1

>= 70% 55.0%

Victorian Healthcare Experience Survey – Patients’ perception of 
cleanliness Quarter 2

>= 70% 68.7%

Victorian Healthcare Experience Survey – Patients’ perception of 
cleanliness Quarter 3

>= 70% 64.0%

Healthcare associated infections (HAI’s)

Number of patients with surgical site infection No outliers Not met

Number of patients with ICU central-line-associated bloodstream 
infection (CLABSI)

Nil
Dandenong Hospital: 2.6

Monash Medical Centre:  0.3

Rate of patients with SAB1 per occupied bed day ≤ 1/10,000 0.8

Adverse events

Unplanned readmission hip replacement Annual rate <= 2.5% 2.3%

Sentinel events – root cause analysis (RCA) reporting
All RCA reports submitted 

within 30 business days
100%

Mental Health

Percentage of adult acute mental health inpatients who are 
readmitted within 28 days of discharge

14%
Casey Hospital: 14%

Dandenong Hospital: 16%
Monash Middle South MSH: 13%

Rate of seclusion events relating to a child and adolescent acute 
mental health admission

≤ 15/1,000 11.1

Rate of seclusion events relating to an adult acute mental health 
admission

≤ 15/1,000
Casey Hospital: 3%

Dandenong Hospital: 10%
Monash Middle South MSH: 7%

Part B: Performance Priorities
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Rate of seclusion events relating to an aged acute mental health 
admission

≤ 15/1,000
Dandenong Hospital: 0%

Monash Middle South MSH: 0%

Percentage of child and adolescent acute mental health inpatients 
who have a post-discharge follow-up within seven days

80% 97%

Percentage of adult acute mental health inpatients who have a 
post-discharge follow-up within seven days

80%

Casey Hospital: 85.5%
Dandenong Hospital: 89.9% 
Monash Middle South MHS: 

89.5% 

Percentage of aged acute mental health inpatients who have a 
post-discharge follow-up within seven days

80%
Dandenong Hospital: 98% 

Monash Middle South MHS: 100%

Continuing care

Functional independence gain from an episode of rehabilitation 
admission to discharge relative to length of stay

≥ 0.645 0.843

Maternity and newborn

Baby’s wellbeing at birth (Apgar score)

Casey Hospital <=1.6% 1.50%

Dandenong Hospital <=1.6% 1.50%

Monash Medical Centre <=1.6% 1.40%

Severe fetal growth restriction born at 40 or more weeks gestation (FGR rate)

Casey Hospital <=28.6% 25%

Dandenong Hospital <=28.6% 31.1%

Monash Medical Centre <=28.6% 15.0%

Strong governance, leadership and culture

Target Result

Organisational Culture

People matter survey - Employees with an overall positive 
response to safety culture question

>=80% 91%

People matter survey - I am encouraged by my colleagues to 
report any patient safety concerns I may have

>=80% 96%

People matter survey - Patient care errors are handled 
appropriately in my work area

>=80% 95%

People matter survey - My suggestions about patient safety would 
be acted upon if I expressed them to my manager

>=80% 93%

People matter survey - The culture in my work area makes it easy 
to learn from the errors of others

>=80% 90%

People matter survey - Management is driving us to be a safety-
centred organisation

>=80% 93%

People matter survey - This health service does a good job of 
training new and existing employees.

>=80% 83%

People matter survey - Trainees in my discipline are adequately 
supervised

>=80% 87%

People matter survey - I would recommend a friend or relative to 
be treated as a patient here

>=80% 92%
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Timely access to care

Target Result

Emergency Care

Emergency - Casey Hospital

Percentage of ambulance patients transferred within 40 minutes >=90% 70.3%

Percentage of Triage Category 1 emergency patients seen 
immediately

100% 100.0%

Percentage of Triage Categories 1-5 emergency patients seen 
within clinical recommended times

>=80% 57.3%

Percentage of emergency patients with length of stay less than 4 
hours

>=81% 63.8%

Number of patients with a length of stay in the emergency 
department greater than 24 hours

0 110

Emergency - Dandenong Hospital

Percentage of ambulance patients transferred within 40 minutes >=90% 69.5%

Percentage of Triage Category 1 emergency patients seen 
immediately

100% 100.0%

Percentage of Triage Categories 1-5 emergency patients seen 
within clinical recommended times

>=80% 60.6%

Percentage of emergency patients with length of stay less than 4 
hours

>=81% 56.4%

Number of patients with a length of stay in the emergency 
department greater than 24 hours

0 87

Emergency - Monash Medical Centre

Percentage of ambulance patients transferred within 40 minutes >=90% 69.0%

Percentage of Triage Category 1 emergency patients seen 
immediately

100% 100.0%

Percentage of Triage Categories 1-5 emergency patients seen 
within clinical recommended times

>=80% 57.2%

Percentage of emergency patients with length of stay less than 4 
hours

>=81% 58.2%

Number of patients with a length of stay in the emergency 
department greater than 24 hours

0 102

Elective Surgery

Percentage of Urgency Category 1 elective patients removed 
within 30 days

100% 100%

Percentage of Urgency Category 1, 2 and 3 elective patients 
admitted within clinically recommended timeframes

>=94% 85.9%

Reduce long waiting elective surgery patients <=5% 12.4%

Number of patients on the elective surgery waiting list (end of June 
2018)

<=5,050 6,251

Number of Hospital Initiated postponements  per 100 scheduled 
admissions

<=7% 7.0%

Number of patients admitted from the elective surgery waiting list 
– annual total

32,200 28,991

Specialist clinics

Percentage of urgent patients referred by a GP or external 
specialist who attended a first appointment within 30 days

100% 56.3%

Percentage of routine patients referred by GP or external specialist 
who attended a first appointment within 365 days

90% 95.7% 
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Effective financial management

Target Result

Finance

Operating Result ($m) $0.00 -10.7

Average number of days to paying trade creditors <60 days 47 days

Average number of days to receiving patient fee debtors <60 days 34 days

Public and Private WIES2 activity performance to target 100% 101%

Adjusted Current Asset Ratio >=0.7 0.59

Number of days with available cash >=14 days 10 days

Thomas Lew, Medical Solutions Architect.
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Part C: Activity and Funding

Acute Admitted

2018-19 Activity Achievement

WIES Public 163,345

WIES Private 15,819

WIES ( Public & Private) 179,165

WIES DVA 489

WIES TAC 598

WIES TOTAL 180,251

Acute Non-Admitted

2018-19 Activity Achievement

Home Enternal Nutrition 4,503

Home Renal Dialysis - Home ABF 159

Radiotherapy Non-Admitted Shared Care 153

Home Perinatal Nutrition 151

Sub-acute and Non-Acute Admitted

2018-19 Activity Achievement

Subacute WIES - Rehabilitation Public 2,564

Subacute WIES - Rehabilitation Private/TAC/WorkCover 367

Subacute WIES - GEM Public 2,057

Subacute WIES - GEM Private/TAC/WorkCover 305

Subacute WIES - Palliative Care Public 436

Subacute WIES - Palliative Care Private 45

Subacute WIES - DVA 29

Transition Care - Occupied Bed days 17,402

Transition Care  - Home day 10,192

Sub-Acute Non-Admitted

2018-19 Activity Achievement

Health Independent Program - Public 184,901

Aged Care

2018-19 Activity Achievement

Residential Aged Care 30,265

HACC - Service Time Hours 49,599
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Mental Health (Occupied Bed days) and Drug Services

2018-19 Activity Achievement

Mental Health Ambulatory 181,322

Mental Health Inpatient - Available bed days 54,033

Mental Health Inpatient - Secure Unit 15,580

Mental Health Residential 45,445

Mental Health Subacute 15,148

Mental Health Drug services 1,735

Primary Health

2018-19 Activity Achievement

Community Health/Primary Care Program -Service Time Hours 94,477

Community Health Other 3,140

Primary Health

2018-19 Activity Achievement

NFC- Pancreas Transplants 19

Health Workforce 494

Total Funding 1,467,804
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Disclosure Index

Charter and purpose

Legislation Requirement Page Reference

FRD 22H Manner of establishment and the relevant Ministers 37

FRD 22H Purpose, functions, powers and duties 27

FRD 22H Nature and range of services provided 31

FRD 22H Activities, programs and achievements for the reporting period 7

FRD 22H Significant changes in key initiatives and expectations for the future 5

Management and structure

Legislation Requirement Page Reference

FRD 22H Organisational structure 43

FRD 22H Workforce data, employment and conduct principles 48

FRD 22H Occupational Health and Safety 49

Financial information

Legislation Requirement Page Reference

FRD 22H Summary of the financial results for the year 52

FRD 11A Disclosure of ex-gratia expenses N/A

FRD 22H Significant changes in financial position during the year 52

FRD 22H Operational and budgetary objectives and performance against objectives 52

FRD 22H Subsequent events 52

FRD 22H Details of consultancies under $10,000 53

FRD 22H Details of consultancies over $10,000 53

FRD 22H Disclosure of ICT expenditure 53

The annual report of Monash Health is prepared in accordance with all relevant Victorian 
legislation. This index has been prepared to facilitate identification of the Department’s compliance 
with statutory disclosure requirements. 
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Legislation

Legislation Requirement Page Reference

FRD22H Application and operation of Freedom of Information Act 1982 54

FRD22H Compliance with building and maintenance provisions of Building Act 1993 55

FRD22H Application and operation of Protected Disclosure 2012 55

FRD22H Statement on National Competition Policy 55

FRD22H Application and operation of Carers Recognition Act 2012 55

FRD22H Summary of the entity’s environmental performance 50

FRD22H Additional information available on request 56

FRD 25C Victorian Industry Participation Policy disclosures 55

Reporting of outcomes from Statement of Priorities 2018–19 60-70

Occupational Violence reporting 49

Reporting obligations under the Safe Patient Care Act 2015 56

Reporting of compliance regarding Car Parking Fees 56

FRD 25C Local Jobs First-Victorian Industry Participation Policy 56

DataVic Access Policy 56

Attestations 

Legislation Requirement Page Reference

Data Integrity 58

Managing Conflicts of Interest 58

Integrity, Fraud and Corruption 58

SD 5.1.4 Financial Management Compliance attestation 58

SD 5.2.3 Declaration in Report of Operations 26

Reporting of compliance Health Purchasing Victoria policy 58
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13CABS

1st Mansfield Scouts Group

‘65km for Cystic Fibrosis’

AJL Fundraising Group

Alf’s Cafe

ASL Real Estate

Bailey’s Day

BankVic

Beletti Restaurant Cafe Bar

Bentleigh RSL

Berwick Opportunity Shop

Camp Quality

Chain Reaction

Channel 9

Children’s Cancer Foundation

Clayton Auxiliary

Commonwealth Bank - 
Springvale Branch

Edithvale Aspendale Sports Club

Effie Atkins’ Dr Hope 

Estate of Doris & Rupert Joseph

Estate of Arthur Lindhurst Blannin

Estate of Ernest Finlay Burns

Estate of George Pethard

Our Supporters:

Estate of John Lambrick

Estate of Keith Vladimir Tiedemann

Estate of Patricia Maloney

Estate of Rodney John Barr

Estate of Werge Batters

Estate of William Marshall

Exceland Real Estate

Farr Family Trust Pty Ltd

First State Super

Freemasons Foundation Victoria

Friends of McCulloch House

Friends of the Children Foundation

Health Smart Pharmacy

Henley Properties

Jack Townley Head Shave

Kids Fun Run With Thomas

Kids with Cancer Foundation 
Australia

Leader Community Newspapers

Kieng Hor Lou & Kouy Taing

Lifestyle Casey Fields

Lifestyle Communities

Lim’s Pharmacy

Lions Club of Dandenong Inc

Lions Club of Moorabbin Inc

Lorraine Lea Simply Home

Maxxia

McGrath Foundation Ltd

McKinnon Secondary College

Medtronic Australasia Pty Ltd

Moller Family Foundation

Monash Cystic Fibrosis Foundation

Monash Kids Support Group

Monash Lung & Sleep Institute

Moorabbin Hospital Ladies Auxiliary

Moose Toys

Mt Kilimanjaro Climbers

Murdoch Children’s Research 
Institute

My Room Children’s Cancer Charity

O’Brien Real Estate

Patterson Cheney Cars & Trucks

PPG Industries 

Pulari Victoria Inc.

Rapid Concrete

Redkite

Richard Lim

Ricky Taylor Foundation

Ron Fairchild

Rotary Club of Clayton

Rotary Club of Emerald District

Siemens Ltd

South Oakleigh Secondary College

Steve and Joanna Shore

Symbion Hospital Services

Thai Hoa Long

The Andrews Foundation

The Brightest Star

The Dandelion Wishes Gala

The Biggest Playdate

The Royal Australasian College of 
Surgeons

The Teo Chew Chinese Association 
of Vic

The Walk for Monash Children’s 
Hospital

The Walt Disney Company

Vogue Dental Studios

Watsons 

Yan Wo Tong Chinese Medicine 
Centre

73 Our Supporters



Financial 
Statements 
2018-19

74Monash Health - Annual Report 2018-19



Board member’s, accountable officer’s and 
chief finance & accounting officer’s declaration 76

Independent Auditor’s Report 78

Comprehensive Operating Statement 80

Balance Sheet as at 30 June 2019 81

Statement of Changes in Equity 82

Cash flow Statement 83

Notes to the Financial Statements 84

Basis of preparation 84

Note 1: Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 84

Note 2: Funding delivery of our services 85

Note 2.1: Income from Transactions 86

Note 3: The cost of delivering our services 87

Note 3.1: Expenses from transactions 87

Note 3.2: Other Economic Flows 88

Note 3.3:  Analysis of expense and revenue by 
internally managed and restricted specific 
purpose funds 89

Note 3.4: Specific expenses 89

Note 3.5: Employee benefits in the balance sheet 90

Note 3.6: Superannuation 92

Note 4: Key Assets to support service delivery 92

Note 4.1: Property, plant and equipment 92

Note 4.2: Intangible assets 101

Note 4.3: Depreciation and amortisation 102

Note 5: Other assets and liabilities 103

Note 5.1: Receivables 103

Note 5.2: Inventories 105

Table of Contents

How this report is structured

Monash Health has presented its audited general purpose financial statements for the 

financial year ended 30 June 2019 in the following structure to provide users with the 

information about Monash Health’s stewardship of resources entrusted to it.

Note 5.3: Payables 105

Note 5.4: Other Liabilities 106

Note 6: How we finance our operations 107

Note 6.1: Borrowings 107

Note 6.2: Cash and cash equivalents 109

Note 6.3: Commitments for expenditure 110

Note 7: Risks, contingencies and valuation uncertainties 113

Note 7.1: Financial instruments 113

Note 8: Other disclosures 117

Note 8.1:  Reconciliation of net result for the year to 
net cash inflow / (outflow) from operating 
activities 117

Note 8.2: Responsible persons disclosures 118

Note 8.3: Remuneration of Executives 119

Note 8.4: Related parties 120

Note 8.5: Remuneration of auditors 121

Note 8.6: Events occurring after the balance sheet date 121

Note 8.7: Controlled entities 122

Note 8.8:  Investments accounted for using the 
equity method 122

Note 8.9: Economic dependency 122

Note 8.10: Changes in accounting policy 123

Note 8.11: AASBs Issued that are not yet Effective 124

Note 8.12: Glossary of terms and style conventions 128

75 Financial Statements



Financial Year ended 
30 June 2019
Board Member’s, Accountable Officer’s and Chief 
Financial & Accounting Officer’s declaration
The attached financial statements for Monash Health and its 
consolidated entity have been prepared in accordance with 
Direction 5.2 of the Standing Directions of the Assistant Treasurer 
under the Financial Management Act 1994, applicable Financial 
Reporting Directions, Australian Accounting Standards including 
Interpretations, and other mandatory professional reporting 
requirements.

We further state that, in our opinion, the information set out in the 
comprehensive operating statement, balance sheet, statement of 

Dipak Sanghvi 
Chair, Board of Directors

Andrew Stripp 
Chief Executive

Stuart Donaldson 
Chief Financial Officer

Melbourne

19 August 2019

Melbourne

19 August 2019

Melbourne

19 August 2019

Financial Statements

changes in equity, cash flow statement and accompanying notes 
presents fairly the financial transactions during the year ended 30 
June 2019, and the financial position of Monash Health and its 
consolidated entity at 30 June 2019.

At the time of signing, we are not aware of any circumstance 
which would render any particulars included in the financial 
statements to be misleading or inaccurate.

We authorise the attached financial statements for issue  
on 19 August 2019.
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The 2018-2019 financial year saw continued growth 
in demand for services across Monash Health. 

Chief Financial Officer’s 
Summary

The key financial performance measure monitored by Monash 
Health management and the Department of Health and Human 
Services is the ‘Net Result Before Capital and Specific Items’ and 
in 2018-2019 Monash Health achieved a deficit result of $10.69 
million compared with the reported surplus result of $0.04 million 
in 2017-2018. 

Monash Health’s ‘Comprehensive Result’, which includes capital 
and specific items, was a surplus of $344.5 million in 2018-2019 
compared to a surplus of $35.0 million in 2017-2018. Included 
in the 2018-2019 ‘Comprehensive Result’ was the Revaluation 
of Land & Buildings increment of $349.6 million from the Valuer-
General Victoria’s independent assessment. 

Stuart Donaldson 
Chief Financial Officer

Melbourne

19 August 2019

Total revenue from operations for the 2018-2019 financial year 
was $1,935.5 million which is an increase of $158.8 million or 8.9 
per cent compared with the previous year. Despite the overall 
increase in revenue, our main measure of activity (Weighted 
Inlier Equivalent Separations) increased by 3.3 per cent over the 
previous year. 

Monash Health’s cash as at 30 June 2019 was $97.6 million 
compared with $145.9 million as at 30 June 2018. The decrease 
in cash holding was attributable to higher capital expenditure and 
financing activities. 
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Independent Auditor’s Report

 

 

Independent Auditor’s Report 
To the Board of Monash Health 

Opinion I have audited the consolidated financial report of Monash Health (the health service) and its 
controlled entities (together the consolidated entity), which comprises the: 

• consolidated entity balance sheet as at 30 June 2019 
• consolidated entity comprehensive operating statement for the year then ended 
• consolidated entity statement of changes in equity for the year then ended 
• consolidated entity cash flow statement for the year then ended 
• notes to the financial statements, including significant accounting policies 
• Board member's, accountable officer's and chief financial officer's declaration. 

In my opinion, the financial report presents fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the 
consolidated entity as at 30 June 2019 and their financial performance and cash flows for the year then 
ended in accordance with the financial reporting requirements of Part 7 of the Financial Management 
Act 1994 and applicable Australian Accounting Standards. 

Basis for 
Opinion 

I have conducted my audit in accordance with the Audit Act 1994 which incorporates the Australian 
Auditing Standards. I further describe my responsibilities under that Act and those standards in the 
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Report section of my report.  

My independence is established by the Constitution Act 1975. My staff and I are independent of the 
health service and the consolidated entity in accordance with the ethical requirements of the 
Accounting Professional and Ethical Standards Board’s APES 110 Code of Ethics for Professional 
Accountants (the Code) that are relevant to my audit of the financial report in Victoria. My staff and I 
have also fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.  

I believe that the audit evidence I have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my 
opinion. 

Key audit 
matters 

Key audit matters are those matters that, in my professional judgement, were of most significance in 
my audit of the financial report of the current period. I have determined that there are no matters that 
required my significant auditor attention and accordingly there are no key audit matters that l am 
required to communicate in my report. 

Board’s 
responsibilities 
for the financial 
report 

The Board of the health service is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial 
report in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and the Financial Management Act 1994, 
and for such internal control as the Board determines is necessary to enable the preparation and fair 
presentation of a financial report that is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or 
error. 

In preparing the financial report, the Board is responsible for assessing the health service and the 
consolidated entity’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to 
going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless it is inappropriate to do so. 
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Auditor’s 
responsibilities 
for the audit of 
the financial 
report 

As required by the Audit Act 1994, my responsibility is to express an opinion on the financial report 
based on the audit. My objectives for the audit are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the 
financial report as a whole is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to 
issue an auditor’s report that includes my opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, 
but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards 
will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error 
and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to 
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of this financial report.  

As part of an audit in accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards, I exercise professional 
judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. I also:  

• identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial report, whether due to 
fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit 
evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my opinion. The risk of not 
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from 
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the 
override of internal control. 

• obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an 
opinion on the effectiveness of the health service and the consolidated entity’s internal control 

• evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 
estimates and related disclosures made by the Board 

• conclude on the appropriateness of the Board's use of the going concern basis of accounting 
and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to 
events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the health service and the consolidated 
entity’s ability to continue as a going concern. If I conclude that a material uncertainty exists, I 
am required to draw attention in my auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial 
report or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify my opinion. My conclusions are based on 
the audit evidence obtained up to the date of my auditor’s report. However, future events or 
conditions may cause the health service and the consolidated entity to cease to continue as a 
going concern.  

• evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial report, including the 
disclosures, and whether the financial report represents the underlying transactions and events 
in a manner that achieves fair presentation 

• obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or 
business activities within the health service and consolidated entity to express an opinion on the 
financial report. I remain responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the audit 
of the health service and the consolidated entity. I remain solely responsible for my audit 
opinion. 

I communicate with the Board regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the 
audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that I 
identify during my audit. 

 

MELBOURNE 
26 August 2019 

Travis Derricott 
as delegate for the Auditor-General of Victoria 

79 Financial StatementsFinancial Statements



Comprehensive 
Operating Statement
For the Financial Year Ended 30 June 2019

This statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

Note

Consolidated 
2019 
$’000

Consolidated 
2018 
$’000

Income from Transactions 

Operating Activities 2.1  2,062,805  1,877,211 

Non-operating Activities 2.1  3,447  4,864 

Total Income from Transactions  2,066,252  1,882,075 

Expenses from Transactions 

Employee Expenses 3.1  (1,510,534)  (1,364,398)

Supplies and consumables 3.1  (290,975)  (281,322)

Finance costs 3.1  (4,908)  (5,216)

Other Operating Expenses 3.1  (148,042)  (134,704)

Other Non-operating Expenses 3.1  (18,926)  (14,451)

Depreciation and Amortisation 4.3  (73,129)  (77,310)

Total Expenses from Transactions  (2,046,513)  (1,877,401)

Net Result from Transactions - Net Operating Balance  19,740  4,674 

Other Economic Flows included in Net Result

Losses from Other Economic Flows 3.2  (24,820)  (4,659)

Total Other Economic Flows included in Net Result  (24,820)  (4,659)

Net Result for the year  (5,080)  15 

Other Comprehensive Income

Items that will not be reclassified to Net Result

Changes in Property, Plant and Equipment Revaluation Surplus 4.1(b)  349,623  35,000 

Total Other Comprehensive Income  349,623  35,000 

Comprehensive result for the year  344,543  35,015 
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As at 30 June 2019

Balance Sheet

Note

Consolidated
2019
$’000

Consolidated
2018
$’000

Current Assets

Cash and Cash Equivalents 6.2  111,749  160,932 

Receivables 5.1  66,987  48,487 

Inventories 5.2  18,528  17,320 

Other Financial Assets  4,595  2,087 

Total Current Assets 201,859  228,826 

Non-Current Assets

Receivables 5.1  113,467  90,917 

Investments using the equity method 8.8  4,129  4,099 

Property, Plant and Equipment 4.1(a)  1,868,135  1,459,737 

Intangible Assets 4.2  64,657  35,182 

Total Non-Current Assets 2,050,389  1,589,935 

TOTAL ASSETS 2,252,248  1,818,761 

Current Liabilities

Payables 5.3  126,946  121,735 

Borrowings 6.1  8,602  7,781 

Provisions 3.5  335,292  279,175 

Other Liabilities 5.4  27,052  30,911 

Total Current Liabilities  497,891  439,603 

Non-Current Liabilities

Borrowings 6.1  98,525  85,797 

Provisions 3.5  80,719  64,204 

Total Non-Current Liabilities  179,244  150,001 

TOTAL LIABILITIES  677,135  589,603 

NET ASSETS  1,575,113  1,229,158 

EQUITY

Property, Plant and Equipment Revaluation Surplus 4.1(f)  1,026,168  676,545 

Restricted Specific Purpose Surplus  23,901  20,715 

Contributed Capital  404,530  403,920 

Accumulated Surpluses  120,514  127,978 

TOTAL EQUITY  1,575,113  1,229,158 

This statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Consolidated

Property, Plant 
and Equipment 

Revaluation 
Surplus 

$’000

Restricted 
Specific 

Purpose Surplus

$’000

Contributed 
Capital

$’000

Accumulated 
Surpluses

$’000

Total

$’000

Balance at 1 July 2017 641,545 14,953 403,093 133,689 1,193,280 

Net result for the year  -  -  -  15 15 

Other comprehensive income for the year 35,000  -  -  - 35,000 

Transfer (from)/to accumulated surpluses  - 5,762  - (5,762)  - 

Contributed capital  -  - 827  - 827 

Prior year reclassification from subsidiary  -  -  - 36 36 

Balance at 30 June 2018 676,545 20,715 403,920 127,978 1,229,158 

Net result for the year  -  -  - (5,080) (5,080)

Other comprehensive income for the year 349,623  -  -  - 349,623 

Opening balance adjustment on adoption of AASB 9  -  -  - 802 802 

Transfer (from)/to accumulated surpluses  - 3,186  - (3,186)  - 

Contributed capital  -  - 610  - 610 

Balance at 30 June 2019 1,026,168 23,901 404,530 120,514 1,575,113 

Statement of Changes in Equity

This statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

For the Financial Year Ended 30 June 2019
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Cash flow Statement

Note

Consolidated
2019
$’000

Consolidated
2018
$’000

Cash Flows from Operating Activities 

Operating Grants from Government  1,636,770  1,528,862 

Capital Grants from Government  72,210  34,068 

Commercial Activities, Patient and Hospital Fees Received  187,823  199,698 

Donations and Bequests Received  4,626  7,407 

GST Received from/(paid to) ATO  38,392  35,101 

Interest and Investment Income Received  3,447  3,710 

Other Receipts  92,778  55,076 

Total Receipts  2,036,046  1,863,922 

Employee Expenses Paid  (1,484,541)  (1,268,805)

Payments for Supplies and Consumables  (315,155)  (282,833)

Finance Costs  (5,165)  (1,670)

Other Payments  (177,627)  (231,562)

Total Payments  (1,982,487)  (1,784,870)

Net Cash Flows from Operating Activities 8.1  53,558  79,052 

Cash Flows from Investing Activities 

Purchase of Intangible Assets, Property, Plant and Equipment  (96,480)  (44,908)

Net Cash Flows used in Investing Activities  (96,480)  (44,908)

Cash Flows from Financing Activities 

Proceeds from Borrowings  -  10,000 

Repayment of Borrowings  (5,380)  (1,647)

Receipt of Accommodation Deposits  3,634  5,263 

Repayment of Accommodation Deposits  (4,516)  (2,837)

Net Cash Flows used in Financing Activities  (6,262)  10,779 

Net Increase in Cash and Cash Equivalents Held  (49,183)  44,923 

Cash and Cash Equivalents at Beginning of Year  160,932  116,009 

Cash and Cash Equivalents at End of Year 6.2  111,749  160,932 

This statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

For the Financial Year Ended 30 June 2019
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Notes to the Financial Statements
For the Financial Year Ended 30 June 2019

Basis of preparation

These financial statements are in 
Australian dollars and the historical cost 
convention is used unless a different 
measurement basis is specifically 
disclosed in the note associated with the 
item measured on a different basis.

The accrual basis of accounting has 
been applied in preparing these financial 
statements, whereby assets, liabilities, 
equity, income and expenses are 
recognised in the reporting period to 
which they relate, regardless of when 
cash is received or paid.

Note 1: Summary of Significant 
Accounting Policies

These annual financial statements 
represent the audited general purpose 
financial statements for Monash Health 
and its controlled entities for the year 
ended 30 June 2019. The report provides 
users with information about Monash 
Health’s stewardship of resources 
entrusted to it.

(a) Statement of Compliance

These financial statements are general 
purpose financial statements which 
have been prepared in accordance 
with the Financial Management Act 
1994 and applicable AASBs, which 
include interpretations issued by the 
Australian Accounting Standards Board 
(AASB). They are presented in a manner 
consistent with the requirements of AASB 
101 Presentation of Financial Statements.

The financial statements also comply with 
relevant Financial Reporting Directions 
(FRDs) issued by the Department of 
Treasury and Finance, and relevant 
Standing Directions (SDs) authorised by 
the Assistant Treasurer.

Monash Health is a not-for-profit entity 
and therefore applies the additional AUS 
paragraphs applicable to ‘not-for-profit’ 
Health Service under the AASBs.

(b)  Reporting Entity 

The financial statements include all the 
controlled activities of Monash Health. 

Its principal address is: 

246 Clayton Road 
Clayton, Victoria 3168

A description of the nature of Monash 
Health’s operations and its principal 
activities is included in the report of 
operations, which does not form part of 
these financial statements.

(c) Basis of Accounting Preparation 
and Measurement

Accounting policies are selected and 
applied in a manner which ensures that 
the resulting financial information satisfies 
the concepts of relevance and reliability, 
thereby ensuring that the substance 
of the underlying transactions or other 
events is reported.

The accounting policies have been 
applied in preparing the financial 
statements for the year ended 30 June 
2019, and the comparative information 
presented in these financial statements 
for the year ended 30 June 2018.

The financial statements are prepared on 
a going concern basis (refer to Note 8.9 
Economic Dependency).

These financial statements are presented 
in Australian dollars, the functional 
and presentation currency of Monash 
Health. All amounts shown in the 
financial statements have been rounded 
to the nearest thousand dollars, unless 
otherwise stated. Minor discrepancies 
in tables between totals and sum of 
components are due to rounding.

Monash Health operates on a fund 
accounting basis and maintains three 
funds: Operating, Specific Purpose and 
Capital Funds. Monash Health’s Capital 
and Specific Purpose Funds include 
unspent donations and receipts from 
fundraising activities conducted solely in 
respect of these funds. 

The financial statements, except for cash 
flow information, have been prepared 
using the accrual basis of accounting. 
Under the accrual basis, items are 
recognised as assets, liabilities, equity, 
income or expenses when they satisfy 
the definitions and recognition criteria for 
those items, that is, they are recognised in 
the reporting period to which they relate, 
regardless of when cash is received or 
paid.

Judgements, estimates and assumptions 
are required to be made about the 
carrying values of assets and liabilities 
that are not readily apparent from other 
sources. The estimates and underlying 
assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing 
basis. The estimates and associated 
assumptions are based on professional 
judgements derived from historical 
experience and various other factors that 
are believed to be reasonable under the 
circumstances. Actual results may differ 
from these estimates.

Revisions to accounting estimates 
are recognised in the period in which 
the estimate is revised and in future 
periods that are affected by the revision. 
Judgements and assumptions made 
by management in the application of 
AASBs that have significant effects on the 
financial statements and estimates relate 
to: 

 ▪ The fair value of land, buildings and 
plant and equipment (refer to Note 4.1 
Property, Plant and Equipment);
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 ▪ Employee benefit provisions are 
based on likely tenure of existing 
employees, patterns of leave claims, 
future salary movements and future 
discount rates (refer to Note 3.5 
Employee Benefits in the Balance 
Sheet).

Goods and Services Tax (GST)

Income, expenses and assets are 
recognised net of the amount of 
associated GST, unless the GST incurred 
is not recoverable from the Australian 
Taxation Office (ATO). In this case the 
GST payable is recognised as part of the 
cost of acquisition of the asset or as part 
of the expense.

Receivables and payables are stated 
inclusive of the amount of GST receivable 
or payable. The net amount of GST 
recoverable from, or payable to, the ATO 
is included with other receivables or 
payables in the Balance Sheet. 

Cash flows are presented on a gross 
basis. The GST components of cash 
flows arising from investing or financing 
activities which are recoverable from, 
or payable to the ATO, are presented as 
operating cash flow.

Commitments and contingent assets and 
liabilities are presented on a gross basis.

(e) Principles of Consolidation

These statements are presented on 
a consolidated basis in accordance 
with AASB 10 Consolidated Financial 
Statements.

The consolidated financial statements 
of Monash Health includes all reporting 
entities controlled by Monash Health as 
at 30 June 2019.

Control exists when Monash Health has 
the power to govern the financial and 
operating policies of an organisation so 

as to obtain benefits from its activities. In 
assessing control, potential voting rights 
that presently are exercisable are taken 
into account. The consolidated financial 
statements include the audited financial 
statements of the controlled entities listed in 
Note 8.7 Controlled Entities.

The parent entity is not shown separately in 
the notes.

Where control of an entity is obtained 
during the financial period, its results are 
included in the Comprehensive Operating 
Statement from the date on which control 
commenced. Where control ceases during 
a financial period, the entity’s results are 
included for that part of the period in which 
control existed. Where entities adopt 
dissimilar accounting policies and their 
effect is considered material, adjustments 
are made to ensure consistent policies are 
adopted in these financial statements.

Intersegment Transactions

Transactions between segments within 
Monash Health have been eliminated 
to reflect the extent of Monash Health’s 
operations as a group.

(f) Equity

Contributed Capital

Consistent with the requirements of 
AASB 1004 Contributions, contributions 
by owners (that is, contributed capital 
and its repayment) are treated as equity 
transactions and, therefore, do not form 
part of the income and expenses of 
Monash Health. 

Transfers of net assets arising from 
administrative restructurings are treated as 
distributions to or contributions by owners. 

Transfers of net liabilities arising from 
administrative restructurings are treated as 
distributions to owners. 

Other transfers that are in the nature of 
contributions or distributions or that have 
been designated as contributed capital 
are also treated as contributed capital.
Specific Restricted Purpose Surplus

The Specific Restricted Purpose Surplus 
is established where Monash Health has 
possession or title to the funds but has no 
discretion to amend or vary the restriction 
and/or condition underlying the funds 
received.

(g) Comparatives 

Where applicable, the comparative figures 
have been restated to align with the 
presentation in the current year. Figures 
have been restated at Notes 2.1, 3.1, 3.6, 
5.1, 5.3, 5.4, 6.3, 7.1 and 8.1.

Note 2: Funding delivery of our 
services 

Monash Health’s overall objective is to 
deliver programs and services that support 
and enhance the wellbeing of its patients. 

Monash Health is predominantly funded 
by accrual based grant funding for the 
provision of outputs and also receives 
income from the supply of services.

Structure

 · 2.1 Income from Transactions
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Note 2.1: Income from Transactions

Consolidated
2019
$’000

Consolidated
2018
$’000

Government Grants - Operating  1,652,282  1,528,134 

Government Grants - Capital  119,021  81,886 

Other Capital purpose income  8,322  18,585 

Patient and Resident Fees  51,078  42,661 

Private Practice Fees  11,085  13,641 

Commercial Activities 1  131,935  126,849 

Assets received free of charge  -  136 

Other Revenue from Operating Activities  89,082  65,317 

Total Income from Operating Activities  2,062,805  1,877,211 

Other Interest  3,447  4,864 

Total Income from Non-Operating Activities  3,447  4,864 

Total Income from Transactions  2,066,252  1,882,075 

Revenue Recognition

Income is recognised in accordance with 
AASB 118 Revenue and is recognised as 
to the extent that it is probable that the 
economic benefits will flow to Monash 
Health and the income can be reliably 
measured at fair value. Unearned income 
at reporting date is reported as income 
received in advance.

Amounts disclosed as revenue are, where 
applicable, net of returns, allowances, 
duties and taxes.

Government Grants and Other 
Transfers of Income 

In accordance with AASB 1004 
Contributions, government grants and 
other transfers of income (other than 
contributions by owners) are recognised 
as income when Monash Health 
gains control of the underlying assets 
irrespective of whether conditions are 
imposed on Monash Health’s use of the 
contributions.

Contributions are deferred as income 
in advance when Monash Health has 
a present obligation to repay them and 
the present obligation can be reliably 
measured.

Patient and Resident Fees

Patient and resident fees are recognised 
as revenue on an accrual basis.

Private Practice Fees

Private practice fees are recognised as 
revenue at the time invoices are raised, 
and include recoupments from private 
practice for the use of hospital facilities.

Revenue from Commercial 
Activities

Revenue from commercial activities such 
as car park and property rental income 
are recognised on an accrual basis. 
Commercial laboratory medicine revenue 
is recognised when invoices are raised.

Non-cash contributions from the 
Department of Health and Human 
Services

The Department of Health and Human 
Services makes certain payments on 
behalf of Monash Health. These amounts 
have been brought to account as grants 
in determining the operating result for the 
year by recording them as revenue. These 
payments include:

 ▪ The Victorian Managed Insurance 
Authority non-medical indemnity 
insurance payments are recognised 
as revenue following advice from the 
Department of Health and Human 
Services.

 ▪ Long Service Leave (LSL) revenue 
is recognised upon finalisation of 
movements in LSL liability in line 

with the long service leave funding 
arrangements set out in the relevant 
Department of Health and Human 
Services Hospital Circular.

 ▪ Public Private Partnership (PPP) 
lease and service payments are 
paid directly to the PPP consortium. 
Revenue and the matching expense 
are recognised in accordance with the 
nature and timing of the monthly or 
quarterly service payments made by 
the Department of Health and Human 
Services.

Other Income

Other income includes recoveries for 
salaries and wages, non-property 
rental, external services provided, and 
donations and bequests. If donations 
are for a specific purpose, they may be 
appropriated to a surplus, such as the 
specific restricted purpose surplus.

Interest Revenue

Interest revenue is recognised on a 
time proportionate basis that takes into 
account the effective yield of the financial 
asset, which allocates interest over the 
relevant period.

1. Commercial activities represent business activities which Monash Health enter into to support its operations.
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Note 3: The cost of delivering our services

This section provides an account of the expenses incurred by the hospital in delivering services and 
outputs. In Section 2, the funds that enable the provision of services were disclosed and in this note 
the cost associated with provision of services are recorded. 

Structure

 · 3.1 Expenses from Transactions

 · 3.2 Other Economic Flows

 · 3.3 Analysis of expenses and revenue by internally managed and restricted specific purpose 
funds

 · 3.4 Specific Expenses

 · 3.5 Employee benefits in the Balance Sheet

 · 3.6 Superannuation

Note 3.1: Expenses from transactions
Consolidated

Total
2019
$’000

Consolidated
Total
2018
$’000

Salaries and Wages  1,304,126  1,190,524 

On-costs  169,667  142,247 

WorkCover Premium  14,767  12,081 

Agency Expenses  21,974  19,546 

Total Employee Expenses  1,510,534  1,364,398 

Drug Supplies  106,782  97,776 

Medical and Surgical Supplies (including Prostheses)  130,106  134,369 

Diagnostic and Radiology Supplies  19,204  19,034 

Other Supplies and Consumables  34,884  30,144 

Total Supplies and Consumables  290,975  281,322 

Finance Costs  1,601  1,670 

Finance Costs - PPP Arrangements  3,307  3,546 

Total Finance Costs  4,908  5,216 

Fuel, Light, Power and Water  17,681  16,795 

Repairs and Maintenance  23,201  19,925 

Medical Indemnity Insurance  27,343  25,985 

Other Administrative Expenses  79,817  72,000 

Total Other Operating Expenses  148,042  134,704 

Depreciation and Amortisation  (refer Note 4.3)  73,129  77,310 

Depreciation and Amortisation  73,129  77,310 

Expenditure for Capital Purposes  9,981  11,350 

Bad and Doubtful Debt Expense  3,618  2,730 

Specific Expense  5,328  372 

Total Other Non-Operating Expenses  18,926  14,451 

Total Expenses from Transactions  2,046,513  1,877,402 

Expenses are recognised as they are incurred and reported in the financial year to which they relate.
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Employee Expenses

Employee expenses include:

 ▪ Salaries and wages (including fringe benefits tax, leave 
entitlements, termination payments);

 ▪ On-costs;

 ▪ Agency expenses;

 ▪ Fee for service medical officer expenses;

 ▪ Work cover premium.

Supplies and consumables

Supplies and consumables - Supplies and services costs which 
are recognised as an expense in the reporting period in which 
they are incurred. The carrying amounts of any inventories held 
for distribution are expensed when distributed.

Finance costs 

Finance costs include:

 ▪ Interest on long-term borrowings, interest expense is 
recognised in the period in which it is incurred;

 ▪ Amortisation of discounts or premiums relating to borrowings;

 ▪ Finance charges in respect of finance leases which are 
recognised in accordance with AASB 117 Leases.

Other Operating Expenses

Other operating expenses generally represent the day-to-day 
running costs incurred in normal operations and include such 
things as: 

 ▪ Fuel, light and power;

 ▪ Repairs and maintenance;

 ▪ Other administrative expenses;

 ▪ Expenditure for capital purposes represents expenditure 
related to the purchase of assets that are below the 
capitalisation threshold. 

The Department of Health and Human Services also makes 
certain payments on behalf of Monash Health. These amounts 
have been brought to account as grants in determining the 
operating result for the year by recording them as revenue and 
also recording the related expense.

Non-operating expenses

Other non-operating expenses generally represent expenditure 
outside the normal operations such as depreciation and 
amortisation, and assets and services provided free of charge or 
for nominal consideration.

Note 3.2: Other Economic Flows

Consolidated
2019
$’000

Consolidated
2018
$’000

Net gain/(loss) on disposal of property plant and equipment  (760)  229 

Total net gain/(loss) on non-financial assets  (760)  229 

Share of net profits of associates  29  87 

Total Share of other economic flows from Joint Operations  29  87 

Net loss arising from revaluation of long service liability  (24,089)  (4,975)

Total other losses from other economic flows  (24,089)  (4,975)

Total other losses from economic flows  (24,820)  (4,659)

Other economic flows are changes in the volume or value of an 
asset or liability that do not result from transactions. Other gains/
(losses) from other economic flows include the gains or losses 
from the revaluation of the present value of the long service leave 
liability due to changes in the bond interest rates.

Net gain/ (loss) on non-financial assets

Net gain/ (loss) on non-financial assets and liabilities includes net 
gain/ (loss) on disposal of non-financial assets.

Any gain or loss on the disposal of non-financial assets is 
recognised at the date of disposal.

Other gains/ (losses) from other economic flows

Other gains/ (losses) include:

 ▪ the revaluation of the present value of the long service leave 
liability due to changes in the bond rate movements, inflation 
rate movements and the impact of changes in probability 
factors; and

 ▪ transfer of amounts from the reserves to accumulated 
surplus or net result due to disposal or derecognition or 
reclassification.

Fair Value of Assets, Services Provided Free of Charge 
or for Nominal Consideration

Contributions of resources provided free of charge or for 
nominal consideration are recognised at their fair value when the 
transferee obtains control over them.
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Note 3.3: Analysis of expense and revenue by internally managed and restricted specific purpose funds

Expense Revenue

Consolidated
2019
$’000

Consolidated
2018
$’000

Consolidated
2019
$’000

Consolidated
2018
$’000

Commercial Activities

Private Practice and Other Patient Activities  14,984  19,954  24,907  23,522 

Laboratory Medicine  2,099  2,289  2,089  2,289 

Diagnostic Imaging  8,558  12,149  12,755  12,227 

Other:

-Bequests and donations  1,611  1,478  2,632  2,530 

-Breast screen service  5,483  4,466  6,442  4,169 

-Cardiology  8,888  8,359  10,928  9,987 

-Other special purpose funds  8,552  8,980  12,160  13,444 

Property  -  -  122  119 

Total Commercial Activities  50,175  57,675  72,035  68,287 

Other Activities

Fundraising and Community Support  43  217  107  107 

Research and Scholarship  10,158  8,425  10,529  8,720 

Other  2,176  3,344  2,173  3,248 

Total Other Activities  12,377  11,986  12,809  12,075 

TOTAL  62,552  69,661  84,844  80,362 

Note 3.4: Specific expenses
Consolidated

2019
$’000

Consolidated
2018
$’000

Prior year adjustment  3,220  - 

Voluntary Departure Packages  1,419  372 

Discount interest expense on financial instruments  689  - 

Total Specific Expenses  5,328  372 
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Note 3.5: Employee benefits in the balance sheet
Consolidated

Total
2019
$’000

Consolidated
Total
2018
$’000

CURRENT PROVISIONS

Employee Benefits i

Accrued Days Off

- unconditional and expected to be settled wholly within 12 months ii  4,732  4,326 

Annual leave 

- unconditional and expected to be settled wholly within 12 months ii  89,475  77,929 

- unconditional and expected to be settled wholly after 12 months iii  15,070  13,154 

Long Service Leave

- unconditional and expected to be settled wholly within 12 months ii  22,431  19,886 

- unconditional and expected to be settled wholly after 12 months iii  170,913  136,833 

 302,620  252,128 

Provisions related to Employee Benefit On-Costs

Unconditional and expected to be settled within 12 months ii  12,298  10,733 

Unconditional and expected to be settled after 12 months iii  20,373  16,314 

 32,671  27,047 

TOTAL CURRENT PROVISIONS  335,292  279,175 

NON-CURRENT PROVISIONS

Conditional Long Service Leave iii  72,753  57,912 

Provisions related to Employee Benefit On-Costs  7,966  6,292 

TOTAL NON-CURRENT PROVISIONS  80,719  64,204 

TOTAL PROVISIONS  416,011  343,379 

i Employee benefits consist of amounts for accrued days off, annual leave and long service leave accrued by employees, not including on-costs.
ii The amounts disclosed are nominal amounts.
iii The amounts disclosed are discounted to present values.

Consolidated
2019
$’000

Consolidated
2018
$’000

Current Employee Benefits and Related On-Costs

Unconditional long service leave entitlements  214,515  173,747 

Annual leave entitlements  116,045  101,102 

Accrued days off  4,732  4,326 

Non-Current Employee Benefits and Related On-Costs

Conditional long service leave entitlements  80,719  64,204 

TOTAL EMPLOYEE BENEFITS AND RELATED ON-COSTS  416,011  343,380 

Note 3.5 (a) Employee Benefits and Related On-Costs
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Consolidated
2019
$’000

Consolidated
2018
$’000

Balance at start of year  27,047  24,116 

Additional provisions recognised  7,423  5,315 

Unwinding of discount and effect of changes in the discount rate  243  29 

Reduction due to transfer out  (2,042)  (2,413)

Balance at end of year  32,671  27,047 

Note 3.5 (b) Movement in On-Costs Provision

Employee Benefit Recognition

Provision is made for benefits accruing to employees in respect of 
accrued days off, annual leave and long service leave for services 
rendered to the reporting date as an expense during the period 
the services are delivered.

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when Monash Health has a present 
obligation, the future sacrifice of economic benefits is probable, 
and the amount of the provision can be measured reliably.

The amount recognised as a liability is the best estimate of the 
consideration required to settle the present obligation at reporting 
date, taking into account the risks and uncertainties surrounding 
the obligation. 

Annual Leave and Accrued Days Off

Liabilities for annual leave and accrued days off are recognised in 
the provision for employee benefits as ‘current liabilities’ because 
Monash Health does not have an unconditional right to defer 
settlements of these liabilities.

Depending on the expectation of the timing of settlement, 
liabilities for annual leave and accrued days off are measured at:

 ▪ Nominal value – if Monash Health expects to wholly settle 
within 12 months; or

 ▪ Present value – if Monash Health does not expect to wholly 
settle within 12 months.

Long Service Leave

The liability for long service leave (LSL) is recognised in the 
provision for employee benefits.

Unconditional LSL is disclosed in the notes to the financial 
statements as a current liability even where Monash Health does 
not expect to settle the liability within 12 months because it will 
not have the unconditional right to defer the settlement of the 
entitlement should an employee take leave within 12 months. An 
unconditional right arises after a qualifying period.

The components of this current LSL liability are measured at:

 ▪ Nominal value – if Monash Health expects to wholly settle 
within 12 months; or

 ▪ Present value – if Monash Health does not expect to wholly 
settle within 12 months.

Conditional LSL is disclosed as a non-current liability. Any gain 
or loss following a revaluation of the present value of non-current 
LSL liability is recognised as a transaction, except to the extent 
that a gain or loss arises due to changes in estimations e.g. 
bond rate movements, inflation rate movements and changes in 
probability factors which are then recognised as other economic 
flows.

Termination Benefits

Termination benefits are payable when employment is terminated 
before the normal retirement date or when an employee decides 
to accept an offer of benefits in exchange for the termination of 
employment.

On-Costs Related to Employee Benefits

Provision for on-costs such as workers’ compensation and 
superannuation are recognised separately from provisions for 
employee benefits.
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Note 3.6: Superannuation

Paid Contribution for the 
Year

Contribution Outstanding 
at Year End

Consolidated
2019
$’000

Consolidated
2018
$’000

Consolidated
2019
$’000

Consolidated
2018
$’000

Defined Benefit Plans: i

State Superannuation Fund 469  490  38  39 

First State Super 2826  3,064  223  237 

Unisuper 608  344  66  29 

Defined Contribution Plans:

First State Super  50,921  49,189  4,418  4,266 

Hesta  45,906  43,670  4,060  3,763 

VicSuper and Other  7,755  1,896  821  335 

Total  108,485  98,653  9,626  8,669 

i The basis for determining the level of contributions is determined by the various actuaries of the defined benefit superannuation plans.

Employees of Monash Health are entitled to receive 
superannuation benefits and it contributes to both defined benefit 
and defined contribution plans. The defined benefit plan provides 
benefits based on years of service and final average salary.

Defined Benefit Superannuation Plans

The amount charged to the Comprehensive Operating Statement 
in respect of defined benefit superannuation plans represents 
the contributions made by Monash Health to the superannuation 
plans in respect of the services of current Monash Health’s staff 
during the reporting period.  Superannuation contributions are 
made to the plans based on the relevant rules of each plan and 
are based upon actuarial advice.

Monash Health does not recognise any unfunded defined benefit 
liability in respect of the plans because Monash Health has no 
legal or constructive obligation to pay future benefits relating 
to its employees; its only obligation is to pay superannuation 
contributions as they fall due. The Department of Treasury and 
Finance discloses the State’s defined benefits liabilities in its 
disclosure for administered items.

However superannuation contributions paid or payable for the 
reporting period are included as part of employee benefits in the 
Comprehensive Operating Statement of Monash Health. 

The name, details and amounts that have been expensed 
in relation to the major employee superannuation funds and 
contributions made by Monash Health Service are disclosed 
above.

Defined Contribution Superannuation Plans

In relation to defined contribution (i.e. accumulation) 
superannuation plans, the associated expense is simply the 
employer contributions that are paid or payable in respect of 
employees who are members of these plans during the reporting 
period. Contributions to defined contribution superannuation 
plans are expensed when incurred.

Note 4: Key Assets to support 
service delivery

Monash Health controls infrastructure 
and other investments that are utilised 
in fulfilling its objectives and conducting 
its activities. They represent the key 
resources that have been entrusted to 
Monash Health to be utilised for delivery 
of those outputs.

Structure

 · 4.1 Property, plant & equipment

 · 4.2 Intangible assets 

 · 4.3 Depreciation and amortisation 

Note 4.1: Property, plant and 
equipment

Initial Recognition

Items of property, plant and equipment 
are measured initially at cost and 
subsequently revalued at fair value 
less accumulated depreciation and 
impairment loss. Where an asset is 
acquired for no or nominal cost, the cost 
is its fair value at the date of acquisition. 
Assets transferred as part of a change in 
government departments are transferred 
at their carrying amounts.

The cost of a leasehold improvement is 

capitalised as an asset and depreciated 
over the shorter of the remaining term of 
the lease or the estimated useful life of the 
improvements.

The initial cost for non-financial physical 
assets under finance lease (refer to Note 
6.1) is measured at amounts equal to 
the fair value of the leased asset or, if 
lower, the present value of the minimum 
lease payments, each determined at the 
inception of the lease.

Theoretical opportunities that may be 
available in relation to the assets are 
not taken into account until it is virtually 
certain that any restrictions will no longer 
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apply. Therefore, unless otherwise 
disclosed, the current use of these 
non-financial physical assets will be their 
highest and best uses.

Land and buildings are recognised initially 
at cost and subsequently measured at fair 
value less accumulated depreciation and 
accumulated impairment loss.

Revaluations of Non-Current 
Physical Assets

Non-current physical assets are 
measured at fair value and are revalued 
in accordance with FRD 103H Non-
Current Physical Assets. This revaluation 
process normally occurs every five years, 
based upon the asset’s Government 
Purpose Classification, but may occur 
more frequently if fair value assessments 
indicate material changes in values. 
Independent valuers are used to conduct 
these scheduled revaluations and any 
interim revaluations are determined 
in accordance with the requirements 
of the FRDs. Revaluation increments 
or decrements arise from differences 
between an asset’s carrying value and fair 
value.

Revaluation increments are recognised in 
‘Other Comprehensive Income’ and are 
credited directly to the asset revaluation 
surplus, except that, to the extent that 
an increment reverses a revaluation 
decrement in respect of that same class 
of asset previously recognised as an 
expense in net result, the increment is 
recognised as income in the net result.

Revaluation decrements are recognised 
in ‘Other Comprehensive Income’ to the 
extent that a credit balance exists in the 
asset revaluation surplus in respect of 
the same class of property, plant and 
equipment.

Revaluation increases and revaluation 
decreases relating to individual assets 
within an asset class are offset against 
one another within that class but are not 
offset in respect of assets in different 
classes. 

Revaluation surplus is not transferred to 
accumulated funds on de-recognition of 
the relevant asset, except where an asset 
is transferred via contributed capital.

In accordance with FRD 103H, Monash 
Health’s non-current physical assets 
were assessed to determine whether a 
revaluation of the non-current physical 
assets was required.

Fair value measurement

Fair value is the price that would be 
received to sell an asset or paid to 
transfer a liability in an orderly transaction 
between market participants at the 
measurement date. 

For the purpose of fair value disclosures, 
Monash Health has determined classes 
of assets on the basis of the nature, 
characteristics and risks of the asset and 
the level of the fair value hierarchy as 
explained below.

In addition, Monash Health determines 
whether transfers have occurred between 
levels in the hierarchy by reassessing 
categorisation (based on the lowest level 
input that is significant to the fair value 
measurement as a whole) at the end of 
each reporting period.

The Valuer-General Victoria (VGV) is 
Monash Health’s independent valuation 
agency.

The estimates and underlying 
assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing 
basis.

Valuation hierarchy

In determining fair values a number of 
inputs are used. To increase consistency 
and comparability in the financial 
statements, these inputs are categorised 
into three levels, also known as the fair 
value hierarchy. The levels are as follows: 

 ▪ Level 1 – quoted (unadjusted) market 
prices in active markets for identical 
assets or liabilities; 

 ▪ Level 2 – valuation techniques 
for which the lowest level input 
that is significant to the fair value 
measurement is directly or indirectly 
observable; and 

 ▪ Level 3 – valuation techniques 
for which the lowest level input 
that is significant to the fair value 
measurement is unobservable. 

Identifying unobservable inputs 
(Level 3) fair value measurements

Level 3 fair value inputs are unobservable 
valuation inputs for an asset or liability. 
These inputs require significant 
judgement and assumptions in deriving 
fair value for both financial and non-
financial assets.

Unobservable inputs are used to measure 
fair value to the extent that relevant 

observable inputs are not available, 
thereby allowing for situations in which 
there is little, if any, market activity for the 
asset or liability at the measurement date. 
However, the fair value measurement 
objective remains the same, i.e., an exit 
price at the measurement date from 
the perspective of a market participant 
that holds the asset or owes the liability. 
Therefore, unobservable inputs shall 
reflect the assumptions that market 
participants would use when pricing the 
asset or liability, including assumptions 
about risk

Consideration of highest and best 
use (HBU) for non-financial physical 
assets

Judgements about highest and best use 
must take into account the characteristics 
of the assets concerned, including 
restrictions on the use and disposal of 
assets arising from the asset’s physical 
nature and any applicable legislative/
contractual arrangements.

In accordance with paragraph AASB 
13.29, Monash Health has assumed the 
current use of a non-financial physical 
asset is its HBU unless market or other 
factors suggest that a different use by 
market participants would maximise the 
value of the asset.

Non-Specialised Land and Non-
Specialised Buildings 

Non-specialised land and non-specialised 
buildings are valued using the market 
approach. Under this valuation method, 
the assets are compared to recent 
comparable sales or sales of comparable 
assets which are considered to have 
nominal or no added improvement value.

For non-specialised land and non-
specialised buildings, an independent 
valuation was performed by the Valuer-
General Victoria to determine the fair 
value using the market approach. 
Valuation of the assets was determined by 
analysing comparable sales and allowing 
for share, size, topography, location and 
other relevant factors specific to the asset 
being valued. An appropriate rate per 
square metre has been applied to the 
subject asset. The effective date of the 
valuation is 30 June 2019.
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Specialised Land and Specialised Buildings

Specialised land includes Crown Land which is measured at fair 
value with regard to the property’s highest and best use after 
due consideration is made for any legal or physical restrictions 
imposed on the asset, public announcements or commitments 
made in relation to the intended use of the asset. Theoretical 
opportunities that may be available in relation to the assets 
are not taken into account until it is virtually certain that any 
restrictions will no longer apply. Therefore, unless otherwise 
disclosed, the current use of these non-financial physical assets 
will be their highest and best use.

During the reporting period, Monash Health held Crown Land. 
The nature of this asset means that there are certain limitations 
and restrictions imposed on its use and/or disposal that may 
impact their fair value.

The market approach is also used for specialised land and 
specialised buildings although it is adjusted for the community 
service obligation (CSO) to reflect the specialised nature of the 
assets being valued. Specialised assets contain significant, 
unobservable adjustments; therefore these assets are classified 
as Level 3 under the market based direct comparison approach.

The CSO adjustment is a reflection of the valuer’s assessment 
of the impact of restrictions associated with an asset to the 
extent that is also equally applicable to market participants. This 
approach is in light of the highest and best use consideration 
required for fair value measurement, and takes into account the 
use of the asset that is physically possible, legally permissible 
and financially feasible. As adjustments of CSO are considered 
as significant unobservable inputs, specialised land would be 
classified as Level 3 assets. 

For Monash Health, the depreciated replacement cost method 
is used for the majority of specialised buildings, adjusting for 
the associated depreciation. As depreciation adjustments are 
considered as significant and unobservable inputs in nature, 
specialised buildings are classified as Level 3 for fair value 
measurements.

An independent valuation of Monash Health’s specialised land 
and specialised buildings was performed by the Valuer-General 
Victoria. The valuation was performed using the market approach 
adjusted for CSO. The effective date of the valuation is 30 June 
2019.

Vehicles

Monash Health acquires new vehicles and at times disposes 
of them before completion of their economic life. The process 
of acquisition, use and disposal in the market is managed by 
Monash Health who set relevant depreciation rates during use to 
reflect the consumption of the vehicles. As a result, the fair value 
of vehicles does not differ materially from the carrying amount 
(depreciated cost).

Plant and Equipment

Plant and equipment (including medical equipment, computers 
and communication equipment and furniture and fittings) are held 
at carrying amount (depreciated cost). When plant and equipment 
is specialised in use, such that it is rarely sold other than as part 
of a going concern, the depreciated replacement cost is used 
to estimate the fair value. Unless there is market evidence that 
current replacement costs are significantly different from the 
original acquisition cost, it is considered unlikely that depreciated 
replacement cost will be materially different from the existing 
carrying amount. 

There were no changes in valuation techniques throughout the 
period to 30 June 2019. 

For all assets measured at fair value, the current use is 
considered the highest and best use.

Cultural Assets

Cultural assets are stated at their fair value.
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Consolidated
2019
$’000

Consolidated
2018
$’000

Land

 - Land at Fair Value  238,961  222,022 

Total Land  238,961  222,022 

Buildings

 - Buildings at Fair Value  1,190,954  676,088 

   Less Accumulated Depreciation  (206)  (120,453)

 1,190,748  555,635 

 - Buildings at Cost  5,026  461,591 

    Less Accumulated Depreciation  (86)  (49,291)

 4,940  412,300 

Building Work in Progress at Cost  158,435  52,505 

Total Buildings  1,354,123  1,020,440 

Plant and Equipment 

 - Plant and Equipment at Fair Value  62,920  57,559 

    Less Accumulated Depreciation  (28,659)  (23,814)

Total Plant and Equipment  34,261  33,745 

Motor Vehicles

 - Motor Vehicles at Fair Value  1,771  2,219 

    Less Accumulated Depreciation  (1,771)  (2,213)

Total Motor Vehicles  -  6 

Medical Equipment

 - Medical Equipment at Fair Value  166,211  160,752 

    Less Accumulated Depreciation  (101,665)  (94,766)

Total Medical Equipment  64,546  65,987 

Computers and Communication Equipment

 - Computers and Communication Equipment at Fair Value  20,900  20,089 

    Less Accumulated Depreciation  (18,544)  (16,681)

Total Computers and Communication Equipment  2,356  3,408 

Furniture and Fittings

 - Furniture and Fittings at Fair Value  12,406  11,766 

    Less Accumulated Depreciation  (3,891)  (2,750)

Total Furniture and Fittings  8,515  9,016 

Note 4.1 (a): Property, Plant and Equipment – Gross carrying amount and accumulated depreciation
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Cultural Assets 

 - Cultural Assets at Fair Value  2,792  2,792 

Total Cultural Assets  2,792  2,792 

Assets Under Construction

 - Other Assets Under Construction at Cost  1,362  3,315 

Total Assets Under Construction  1,362  3,315 

Consolidated 2019
$'000 

Consolidated 2018
$'000 

Leased Assets Contracted under PPP Agreement

 - Leased Buildings at Fair Value i  159,533  154,011 

   Less Accumulated Depreciation  (20)  (58,632)

 159,513  95,379 

 - Leasehold Improvements at Cost  893  1,448 

   Less Accumulated Depreciation  (584)  (547)

 309  901 

 - Plant and Equipment at Fair Value  160  164 

   Less Accumulated Depreciation  (160)  (164)

 -  - 

 -  - 

 - Leased Motor Vehicles  6,403  6,583 

   Less Accumulated Depreciation  (5,006)  (3,858)

 1,397  2,725 

 - Furniture and Fittings at Fair Value  12  12 

   Less Accumulated Depreciation  (12)  (12)

 -  - 

 - Medical Equipment at Fair Value  6,296  6,495 

   Less Accumulated Depreciation  (6,296)  (6,495)

 -  - 

 - Computers and Communication Equipment at Fair Value  303  305 

   Less Accumulated Depreciation  (303)  (305)

 -  - 

Total Leased Assets  161,219  99,005 

TOTAL PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT  1,868,135  1,459,737 

 

i Included in Leased Buildings at Fair Value is Casey Hospital. Casey Hospital commenced operation during the year ended 30 June 2005. Construction and fit out of 
Casey Hospital was funded as a Public Private Partnership under the Project Agreement between the State of Victoria and Plenary Health Pty Ltd (formerly Progress 
Health Pty Ltd). Monash Health is responsible for operating Casey Hospital and has recognised the leased asset and associated interest bearing liabilities (note 6.1). 
The State of Victoria is obligated to fund quarterly service payments due to the Project Agreement for the life of that agreement, a period of up to 25 years.

During the year ended 30 June 2019, the Casey Hospital Expansion Project continued. The project is still in the construction phase and 
is also funded as a Public Private Partnership under a Project arrangement between the State of Victoria and Plenary Health Pty Ltd. 
Monash Health has recognised the Building Work in Progress and associated liability (Note 6.1).
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Note 4.1 (b): Property, Plant and Equipment – Reconciliations of the carrying amounts of each class of asset

Consolidated
 Land 
 $'000 

 Buildings 
 $'000 

 Plant 
& Equipment  

 $'000 

 Medical  
 Equipment  

 $'000 

 Computers 
& 

 Comm 
 Equipment  

 $'000 

 Furniture & 
 Fittings  
 $'000 

 Cultural 
 Assets 
 $'000 

 Leased 
 Assets  
 $'000 

 Assets Under
Construction 

 $'000 

 Motor  
 Vehicles 

 $'000 
 Total 
 $'000 

Balance at 1 July 
2017

187,022 1,051,860 24,652 63,828 3,061 2,217 2,792 106,363 2,148 13 1,443,956

Additions  - 34,163 2,602 14,814 1,067 278  - 817 1,168  - 54,910

Disposals  - (189) (11) (16)  -  -  - (14)  -  - (229)

Revaluation 
increments/
(decrements)

35,000  -  - 0  -  -  -  -  -  - 35,000

Net Transfers 
between classes  - (22,322) 11,962 192 2,296 7,872  -  -  -  -  - 

Depreciation (refer 
Note 4.3)  - (43,072) (5,460) (12,831) (3,017) (1,351)  - (8,161)  - (7) (73,899)

Balance at 1 July 
2018 222,022 1,020,440 33,745 65,987 3,408 9,017 2,792 99,005 3,316 6 1,459,738

Additions  - 117,912 1,583 9,615 863 251  - 148 1,042  - 131,416

Disposals  - (79) (33) (562)  - (22)  - (61)  -  - (757)

Revaluation 
increments/
(decrements)

16,939 262,007  - 0  -  -  - 70,678  -  - 349,623

Net Transfers 
between classes  - (5,251) 4,350 1,984 364 459  -  - (2,995)  - (1,089)

Depreciation (refer 
Note 4.3)  - (40,907) (5,384) (12,478) (2,279) (1,189)  - (8,551)  - (6) (70,794)

Balance at 30 
June 2019

238,961 1,354,123 34,261 64,546 2,356 8,514 2,793 161,220 1,363 0 1,868,136
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Note 4.1 (c) Fair value measurement hierarchy for assets 

Fair value measurement at end of reporting 
period using:

Consolidated  
Carrying Amount 

$'000
Level 1 i

 $'000 
Level 2 i

 $'000 
Level 3 i

 $'000 

Balance at 30 June 2019

Land at Fair Value

 - Non-Specialised Land  14,084  -  14,084  - 

 - Specialised Land  224,877  -  -  224,877 

Total Land at Fair Value  238,961  -  14,084  224,877 

Buildings at Fair Value

 - Non-Specialised Building  3,216  -  3,216  - 

 - Specialised Buildings  1,187,532  -  -  1,187,532 

Total Building at Fair Value  1,190,748  -  3,216  1,187,532 

Plant and Equipment at Fair Value  34,261  -  -  34,261 

Motor vehicles at Fair Value - - - -

Medical Equipment at Fair Value  64,546  -  -  64,546 

Computers and Communication Equipment at Fair Value  2,356  -  -  2,356 

Furniture and Fittings at Fair Value  8,515  -  -  8,515 

Cultural Assets at Fair Value  2,792  -  2,792  - 

Total Property, Plant and Equipment  1,542,179  -  20,092  1,522,087 

i Classified in accordance with the fair value hierarchy.

There have been transfers between levels in the current year as per the full Land & Buildings revaluation as at 30 June 2019. There was 
no transfers between levels during the prior year.

Fair value measurement at end of reporting 
period using:

Consolidated
Carrying Amount 

$'000
Level 1 i

 $'000 
Level 2 i

 $'000 
Level 3 i

 $'000 

Balance at 30 June 2018

Land at Fair Value

 - Non-Specialised Land  47,085  -  47,085  - 

 - Specialised Land  174,937  -  -  174,937 

Total Land at Fair Value  222,022  -  47,085  174,937 

Buildings at Fair Value

 - Specialised Buildings  555,635  -  -  555,635 

Total Building at Fair Value  555,635  -  -  555,635 

Plant and Equipment at Fair Value  33,745  -  -  33,745 

Motor Vehicles at Fair Value  6  6 

Medical Equipment at Fair Value  65,987  -  -  65,987 

Computers and Communication Equipment at Fair Value  3,408  -  -  3,408 

Furniture and Fittings at Fair Value  9,016  -  -  9,016 

Cultural Assets at Fair Value  2,792  -  2,792  - 

Total Property, Plant and Equipment  892,611  -  49,877  842,734 

i Classified in accordance with the fair value hierarchy.

There have been transfers between levels in the current year as per the full Land & Buildings revaluation as at 30 June 2019. There was no 
transfers between levels during the prior year.
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Note 4.1 (d): Reconciliation of Level 3 Fair Value Measurement i

Consolidated
Land
$'000

Buildings
$'000

Plant and 
Equipment

$'000

Motor 
Vehicles

$'000

Medical 
Equipment

$'000

Computers 
& Comm 

Equipment
$'000

Furniture & 
Fittings
Fittings
$'000

Balance at 1 July 2017  147,509  581,625  24,652  13  63,828  3,061  2,217 

Additions/(Disposals)  -  -  14,553  -  14,990  3,363  8,150 

Gains/(Losses) recognised in Net 
Result

- Depreciation and Amortisation  -  (25,990)  (5,460)  (7)  (12,831)  (3,017)  (1,351)

Items recognised in Other 
Comprehensive Income

- Revaluation  27,428  -  -  -  -  -  - 

Balance at 30 June 2018  174,937  555,635  33,745  6  65,987  3,408  9,016 

Additions/(Disposals)  (79)  5,900  -  11,037  1,228  688 

Gains/(Losses) recognised in Net 
Result

- Depreciation and Amortisation  -  (40,678)  (5,384)  (6)  (12,478)  (2,279)  (1,189)

Reclassification on Valuation  414,000 

Reclassification in/(out) Level 3  36,101  (2,305)

- Revaluation  13,839  260,960 

Balance at 30 June 2019  224,877 1,187,532  34,261  (0)  64,546  2,356  8,515 

i Classified in accordance with the fair value hierarchy, refer Note 4.1(c).
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Note 4.1 (e): Property, Plant and Equipment (Fair value determination)

Asset class Likely valuation approach Significant inputs (Level 3 only) (a) 

Non-specialised land Market approach n.a.

Specialised land Market approach
Community Service Obligations 
Adjustments (a)

Non-specialised buildings Market approach n.a.

Specialised buildings Depreciated replacement cost approach - Cost per square metre

- Useful life

Vehicles Depreciated replacement cost approach - Cost per unit

- Useful life

Plant and equipment Depreciated replacement cost approach - Cost per unit

- Useful life

Medical equipment Depreciated replacement cost approach - Cost per unit

- Useful life

Computers and Communication 
Equipment

Depreciated replacement cost approach - Cost per unit

- Useful life

Furniture and Fittings Depreciated replacement cost approach - Cost per unit

- Useful life

Cultural assets Market approach n.a.

(a) In assessing the Fair Value of the Specialised Land for Financial Reporting purposes the Valuer General Victoria (VGV) adopted a notional Community Service 
Obligation allowance of 20%.

Note 4.1 (f): Property, Plant and Equipment Revaluation Surplus

Consolidated 
2019

 $'000 

Consolidated 
2018
$'000

Property, Plant and Equipment Revaluation Surplus 

Balance at the beginning of the reporting period  676,545  641,545 

Revaluation Increment

 - Land (refer Note 4.1(b))  16,939  35,000 

 - Buildings  262,007  - 

 - Leased Building  70,678  - 

Balance at the end of the reporting period*  1,026,168  676,545 

* Represented by: 

 - Land  175,802  158,864 

 - Buildings  778,924  516,917 

 - Leased Building  70,678  - 

 - Cultural Assets  447  447 

 - Motor Vehicles  317  317 

 1,026,168  676,545 
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Note 4.2 (a) Intangible assets - Gross carrying amount and accumulated amortisation

Consolidated
2019
$'000

Consolidated
2018

 $'000 

Intangible Produced Assets - Software  40,034  34,088 

Less Accumulated Amortisation  (32,458)  (30,123)

Intangible Work in Progress at Cost  57,081  31,217 

TOTAL INTANGIBLE ASSETS  64,657  35,182 

Reconciliation of the carrying amounts of intangible assets at the beginning and end of the previous and current financial year:

Consolidated
 Total 
$'000

Balance at 1 July 2017  3,476 

Additions  35,116 

Amortisation (Note 4.3)  (3,411)

Balance at 1 July 2018  35,182 

Additions  30,721 

Net Transfers between classes  1,089 

Amortisation (Note 4.3)  (2,335)

Balance at 30 June 2019  64,657 

Intangible assets represent identifiable non-monetary assets without physical substance such as computer software.

Intangible assets are initially recognised at cost. Subsequently, intangible assets with finite useful lives are carried at cost less 
accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment losses. Costs incurred subsequent to initial acquisition are capitalised when it is 
expected that additional future economic benefits will flow to Monash Health.

Expenditure on research activities is recognised as an expense in the period on which it is incurred.
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Note 4.3 (a): useful life of non-current assets

2019 2018

Buildings

- Structure Shell Building Fabric 45 to 70 years 45 to 70 years

- Site Engineering Services and Central Plant 22 to 30 years 22 to 30 years

Central Plant

- Fit Out 22 to 30 years 22 to 30 years

- Trunk Reticulated Building System 22 to 30 years 22 to 30 years

Plant and equipment 3 to 10 years 3 to 10 years

Medical Equipment 3 to 10 years 3 to 10 years

Computers and Communication 3 years 3 years

Furniture and Fitting Up to 10 years Up to 10 years

Motor Vehicles 4 years 4 years

Leased Buildings 45 Years 45 Years

Intangible Assets 5 years 5 years

As part of the building valuation, building values are separated into components and each component assessed for its useful life which is 
represented above.

Depreciation

All infrastructure assets, buildings, plant and equipment and other 
non-financial physical assets (excluding items under operating 
leases, assets held for sale, land and investment properties) that 
have finite useful lives are depreciated. Depreciation is generally 
calculated on a straight-line basis at rates that allocate the asset’s 
value, less any estimated residual value over its estimated useful 
life.

Amortisation

Amortisation is the systematic allocation of the depreciable 
amount of an asset over its useful life.

The following table indicates the expected useful lives of non-
current assets on which the depreciation and amortisation 
charges are based.

Note 4.3: Depreciation and amortisation

Consolidated 
2019
$'000

Consolidated
2018
$'000

Depreciation

Buildings  40,907  43,072 

Plant and Equipment  5,384  5,460 

Motor Vehicles  6  7 

Medical Equipment  12,478  12,831 

Computers and Communication Equipment  2,279  3,017 

Furniture and Fittings  1,189  1,351 

Leased Assets  8,551  8,161 

TOTAL DEPRECIATION  70,794  73,899 

Amortisation

Intangible Assets  2,335  3,411 

Total Amortisation  2,335  3,411 

Total Depreciation and Amortisation  73,129  77,310 
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Note 5: Other assets and liabilities

This section sets out those assets and liabilities that arose from Monash Health’s operations.

Structure

 · 5.1 Receivables

 · 5.2 Inventories

 · 5.3 Payables

 · 5.4 Other liabilities

Note 5.1: Receivables

 Consolidated  
 2019 
 $'000 

Consolidated
2018
$'000

CURRENT

Contractual

Inter-Hospital Debtors  1,952  1,799 

Trade Debtors  7,282  5,708 

Patient Fees  26,461  18,914 

Accrued Revenue  13,793  16,789 

Amounts Receivable from Governments and Agencies  18,126  5,591 

Less Allowance for Impairment losses of contractual receivables

Trade Debtors  (234)  (218)

Patient Fees  (3,638)  (3,071)

 63,742  45,513 

Statutory

GST Receivable  3,246  2,974 

 3,246  2,974 

TOTAL CURRENT RECEIVABLES  66,987  48,487 

NON-CURRENT

Statutory

Long Service Leave - Department of Health and Human Services  113,467  90,917 

 113,467  90,917 

TOTAL NON-CURRENT RECEIVABLES  113,467  90,917 

TOTAL RECEIVABLES  180,455  139,404 
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Note 5.1 (a): Movement in the Allowance for impairment losses of contractual receivables

 Consolidated  
2019

 $'000 

Consolidated
2018
$'000

Balance at beginning of year  3,289  2,756 

Opening retained earnings adjustment on adoption of AASB 9  (802)  - 

Amounts written off during the year  (2,233)  (2,180)

Increase in provision recognised in the net result  3,618  2,714 

Balance at end of year  3,872  3,289 

Receivables recognition

Receivables consist of:

 ▪ Contractual receivables, which consists of debtors in relation 
to goods and services. These receivables are classified as 
financial instruments and categorised as ‘financial assets at 
amortised costs’. They are initially recognised at fair value 
plus any directly attributable transaction costs. Monash 
Health holds the contractual receivables with the objective to 
collect the contractual cash flows and therefore subsequently 
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest 
method, less any impairment.

 ▪ Statutory receivables, which predominantly includes amounts 
owing from the Victorian Government and Goods and 
Services Tax (GST) input tax credits recoverable. Statutory 
receivables do not arise from contracts and are recognised 
and measured similarly to contractual receivables (except for 
impairment), but are not classified as financial instruments for 
disclosure purposes. Monash Health applies AASB 9 for initial 
measurement of the statutory receivables and as a result 
statutory receivables are initially recognised at fair value plus 
any directly attributable transaction cost.

Trade debtors are carried at nominal amounts due and are due 
for settlement within 30 days from the date of recognition.

In assessing impairment of statutory (non-contractual) financial 
assets, which are not financial instruments, professional 
judgement is applied in assessing materiality using estimates, 
averages and other computational methods in accordance with 
AASB 136 Impairment of Assets.

Monash Health is not exposed to any significant credit 
risk exposure to any single counterparty or any group of 
counterparties having similar characteristics. Trade receivables 
consist of a large number of customers in various geographical 
areas. Based on historical information about customer default 
rates, management consider the credit quality of trade 
receivables that are not past due or impaired to be good.

Impairment losses of contractual receivables

Refer to Note 7.1 (c) Contractual receivables at amortised costs 
for Monash Health’s contractual impairment losses.
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Inventories include goods and other property held either for 
sale, consumption or for distribution at no or nominal cost in the 
ordinary course of business operations. It excludes depreciable 
assets.

Inventories acquired at no cost or for nominal consideration are 
measured at current replacement cost at the date of acquisition. 
The bases used in assessing loss of service potential for 
inventories held for distribution include current replacement cost 
and technical or functional obsolescence. Cost is assigned to 
high value, low volume inventory items on a specific identification 
of cost basis.

Inventories held for distribution are measured at cost, adjusted for 
any loss of service potential. All other inventories are measured at 
the lower of cost and net realisable value.

Inventories acquired for no cost or nominal considerations are 
measured at current replacement cost at the date of acquisition.

The basis used in assessing loss of service potential for 
inventories held for distribution include current replacement 
cost and technical or functional obsolescence. Technical 
obsolescence occurs when an item still functions for some or all 
the tasks it was originally acquired to do, but no longer matches 
existing technologies. Functional obsolescence occurs when an 
item no longer functions the way it did when it was first acquired.

Note 5.2: Inventories

Consolidated 
2019
$'000

Consolidated
2018
$'000

Medical and surgical consumables:

At cost  8,163  7,336 

Pharmacy supplies:

At cost  8,192  7,961 

Pathology supplies:

At cost  1,569  1,464 

General Stores:

At cost  605  559 

TOTAL INVENTORIES  18,528  17,320 

Payables Recognition

Payables consist of:

 ▪ contractual payables, classified as financial instruments and 
measured at amortised cost. Accounts payable and salaries 
and wages payable represent liabilities for goods and services 
provided to the Monash Health prior to the end of the financial 
year that are unpaid; and

 ▪ statutory payables, that are recognised and measured 
similarly to contractual payables, but are not classified as 
financial instruments and not included in the category of 
financial liabilities at amortised cost, because they do not 
arise from contracts.

The normal credit terms for accounts payable are usually Nett 60 
days.

Maturity analysis of payables

Please refer to Note 7.1(b) for the ageing analysis of payables.

Note 5.3: Payables

Consolidated 
2019
$'000

Consolidated
2018
$'000

CURRENT

Contractual

Trade Creditors  30,385  30,323 

Accrued Salaries and Wages  51,294  50,333 

Accrued Expenses  34,575  31,562 

Other  10,692  9,517 

TOTAL CURRENT PAYABLES  126,946  121,735 

TOTAL PAYABLES  126,946  121,735 
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Refer to Note 2.1 for Unearned Income revenue recognition.

Refundable accommodation deposits (RAD) are paid by residents upon admission to Monash Health’s aged care facilities in accordance 
with the Aged Care Act,1997.

Note 5.4: Other liabilities

Consolidated 
2019
$'000

Consolidated 
2018
$'000

CURRENT

Unearned Income  12,889  15,867 

Monies Held in Trust*

   - Patient Monies Held in Trust*  219  219 

   - Accommodation Deposits (Refundable Entrance Fees)*  13,945  14,825 

Total Current  27,052  30,911 

* Total Monies Held in Trust

Represented by the following assets:

Cash Assets  14,163  15,044 

TOTAL  14,163  15,044 
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Note 6: How we finance our operations

This section provides information on the sources of finance utilised by Monash Health during its operations, along with interest expenses 
(the cost of borrowings) and other information related to financing activities of Monash Health.

This section includes disclosures of balances that are financial instruments (such as borrowings and cash balances). Note 7.1 provides 
additional, specific financial instrument disclosures.

Structure

 · 6.1 Borrowings

 · 6.2 Cash and cash equivalents

 · 6.3 Commitments for expenditure

Note 6.1: Borrowings

Consolidated 
2019
$'000

Consolidated 
2018
$'000

CURRENT

Finance Lease Liability (ii) 5,700  5,600 

TCV Loan (i) 1,254  1,181 

Advances from Government (iii) 1,000  1,000 

Other Financial Liability (iv) 648

Total Current  Borrowings 8,602  7,781 

NON CURRENT

Finance Lease Liability (ii) 47,375  51,945 

TCV Loan (i) 24,754  26,008 

Advances from Government (iii) 7,534  7,844 

Other Financial Liability (iv) 18,862

Total Non Current Borrowings 98,525  85,797 

Total Borrowings 107,126  93,578 

(i) During the year ended 30 June 2010 Monash Health entered into a loan agreement with the Treasury Corporation of Victoria to fund $19.6m improvements 
required to the car park at the Clayton site. The loan is repayable over 22 years with repayments made quarterly. In the 2014 financial year, Monash Health made a 
further drawdown under the existing loan arrangement with the Treasury Corporation of Victoria to fund $13.5m improvements required to the car park at the Clayton 
site. The loan is repayable over 22 years with repayments being made quarterly.

(ii) During the year ended 30 June 2005, Casey Hospital commenced operations. Construction and fit out of Casey Hospital was funded as a public private 
partnership under a project agreement between the State of Victoria and Plenary Health Pty Ltd (formerly Progress Health Pty Ltd). Monash Health is responsible for 
operating Casey Hospital and has recognised the leased asset (Note 4.1) and associated interest bearing liabilities. The State of Victoria is obligated to fund quarterly 
service payments due under the Project Agreement for the life of that agreement, a period of up to 25 years.

(iii) During the year ended 30 June 2018, the Department of Health and Human Services granted an interest free loan of $10m to Monash Health. The loan is 
repayable over 10 years with repayments being made annually.

(iv) During the year ended 30 June 2019, the Casey Hospital Expansion Project continued. The project is still in the construction phase and is also funded as a Public 
Private Partnership under a Project arrangement between the State of Victoria and Plenary Health Pty Ltd. Monash Health has recognised the Building Work in 
Progress (Note 4.1) and associated liability.
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Maturity analysis of borrowings

Please refer to Note 7.1(c) for the ageing analysis of borrowings.

Defaults and breaches

During the current and prior year, there were no defaults and 
breaches of any of the loans.

Finance Lease Liabilities

Minimum future lease payments Present value of minimum future 
lease payments

Consolidated
2019
$'000

Consolidated
2018
$'000

Consolidated 
2019
$'000

Consolidated 
2018
$'000

Finance Leases

Repayments in relation to finance leases are payable as follows:

Casey Hospital Public Private Partnership 

Not later than one year  6,592  6,592  3,613  3,399 

Later than one year and not later than five years  26,370  26,370  16,868  15,871 

Later than five years  35,160  41,752  29,944  34,553 

Other Finance Leases

Not later than one year  2,119  2,276  2,087  2,201 

Later than one year and not later than five years  577  1,555  564  1,521 

Minimum lease payments  70,819  78,546  53,075  57,545 

Less future finance charges  (17,744)  (21,001)

TOTAL                                                            53,075  57,545  53,075  57,545 

Included in the financial statements as:

Current borrowings finance lease liability  5,700  5,600 

Non-current borrowings finance lease liability  47,375  51,945 

TOTAL  53,075  57,545 

The interest rate implicit in the finance lease is 6.07% (2018:6.07%).

Borrowings Recognition

A lease is a right to use an asset for an agreed period of time in 
exchange for payment. Leases are classified at their inception 
as either operating or finance leases based on the economic 
substance of the agreement so as to reflect the risks and rewards 
incidental to ownership.

Leases of property, plant and equipment are classified as finance 
leases whenever the terms of the lease transfers substantially all 
the risks and rewards of ownership to the lessee. All other leases 
are classified as operating leases, in the manner described in 
Note 6.3 Commitments.

Finance Leases

Entity as lessor

Monash Health does not hold any finance lease arrangements 
with other parties.

Entity as lessee

Finance leases are recognised as assets and liabilities at amounts 
equal to the fair value of the lease property or, if lower, the 
present value of the minimum lease payment, each determined 
at the inception of the lease. The lease assets under the PPP 
arrangement are accounted for as a non-financial physical asset 

and is depreciated over the term of the lease plus five years. 
Minimum lease payments are apportioned between reduction of 
the outstanding lease liability, and the periodic finance expense 
which is calculated using the interest rate implicit in the lease, 
and charged directly to the Comprehensive Operating Statement. 
Contingent rentals associated with finance leases are recognised 
as an expense in the period in which they are incurred.

Borrowings

All borrowings are initially recognised at fair value of the 
consideration received, less directly attributable transaction 
costs. The measurement basis subsequent to initial recognition 
depends on whether the Monash Health has categorised its 
liability as either ‘financial liabilities designated at fair value 
through profit or loss’, or financial liabilities at ‘amortised cost’.

Subsequent to initial recognition, interest bearing borrowings 
are measured at amortised cost with any difference between 
the initial recognised amount and the redemption value being 
recognised in the net result over the period of the borrowing using 
the effective interest method. Non-interest bearing borrowings are 
measured at ‘fair value through profit or loss’.

Please refer to Note 8.9 – Economic Dependency, that addresses 
Monash Health’s ability to meet its current and future obligations.
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Note 6.2: Cash and Cash Equivalents

Consolidated
2019
$'000

Consolidated
2018
$'000

Cash and Cash Equivalents  111,749  160,932 

TOTAL CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS  111,749  160,932 

Represented by:

Cash at Bank(i)  97,511  145,814 

Monies Held in Trust 14,163  15,044 

Cash on Hand  74  74 

TOTAL CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS  111,749  160,932 

i Includes $7.6m (2018: $7.6m) funding from the Commonwealth Department of Health for the Monash Health Translation Precinct and funds deposited in accordance 
with Centralised Banking System requirements.
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Note 6.3: Commitments for expenditure

Future finance lease payments are recognised on the balance sheet, refer to Note 6.1 Borrowings.

Consolidated
2019
$'000

Consolidated
2018
$'000

Capital Expenditure Commitments

Less than 1 year  28,612  22,133 

Longer than 1 year but not longer than 5 years  1,286  16,061 

Total Capital Expenditure Commitments  29,898  38,194 

Operating Expenditure Commitments 

Less than 1 year  59,611  41,921 

Longer than 1 year but not longer than 5 years  97,419  104,856 

5 years or more  18,358  26,806 

Total Operating Expenditure Commitments  175,388  173,583 

Non-cancellable Operating Lease Commitments

Less than 1 year  9,081  5,671 

Longer than 1 year but not longer than 5 years  23,289  13,042 

5 years or more  18,037  12,872 

Total Non-cancellable Operating Lease Commitments  50,407  31,585 

Public Private Partnership Commitments (commissioned) 

Less than 1 year  17,838  22,437 

Longer than 1 year but not longer than 5 years  77,201  66,768 

5 years or more  114,031  143,591 

Total Public Private Partnership Commitments  209,070  232,796 

Public Private Partnership Commitments (uncommissioned) 

Less than 1 year  5,069  140 

Longer than 1 year but not longer than 5 years  32,340  29,127 

5 years or more  55,245  63,528 

Total Public Private Partnership Commitments  92,654  92,794 

Total Commitments for Expenditure (inclusive of GST)  574,481  608,760 

Less GST recoverable from the Australian Tax Office  (50,674)  (51,723)

TOTAL COMMITMENTS FOR EXPENDITURE (exclusive of GST)  523,807  557,037 
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PPPs commitments (a)(b)(i) 2019
Minimum lease 

payments
Other Commitments Total Commitments 

"Present value 
$'000"

"Present value 
$'000"

"Nominal value 
$'000"

Commissioned PPPs (c)(d)

Casey Hospital Public Private Partnership Lease  73,174  54,853  190,063 

Sub-total  73,174  54,853  190,063 

Uncommissioned PPPs (f)(g)(h)

Casey Hospital Public Private Partnership Expansion  28,249  37,192  84,231 

Sub-total  28,249  37,192  84,231 

Total commitments for PPPs  101,423  92,045  274,294 

PPPs commitments (a)(b)(i) 2018
Minimum lease 

payments
Other Commitments Total Commitments 

"Present value 
$'000"

"Present value 
$'000"

"Nominal value 
$'000"

Commissioned PPPs (c)(d)

Casey Hospital Public Private Partnership Lease  62,031  76,478  211,633 

Sub-total  62,031  76,478  211,633 

Uncommissioned PPPs (f)(g)(h)

Casey Hospital Public Private Partnership Expansion  26,973  35,636  84,358 

Sub-total  26,973  35,636  84,358 

Total commitments for PPPs  89,005  112,113  295,991 

(a) The present values of the minimum lease payments for commissioned PPPs are recognised on the balance sheet (not disclosed as commitments).

(b) The discounted values of the minimum lease payments for uncommissioned PPPs have been discounted to the expected dates of commissioning and the present 
values of other commitments have been discounted to 30 June of the respective financial years. After adjusting for GST, the discounted values of minimum lease 

payments reflect the expected impact on the balance sheet when the PPP’s are commissioned.

(c) The year on year reduction in the nominal amounts of the other commitments reflects the payments made.

(d) The year on year reduction in the present values of other commitments reflects payments, offset by the impact of one fewer year used for discounting.

(e) The table discloses only other operating and maintenance commitments for the Casey Hospital.

(f) The year on year increase in the present values of the other commitments for uncommissioned projects is due to one less year used for discounting.

(g) The total commitments will not equal the sum of the minimum lease payments and other commitments because they are at present value, whereas total 
commitments are at nominal value.

(h) The minimum lease payments of uncommissioned PPPs include the government capital contributions. If the government capital contributions are made upfront, 
the amount represents the nominal value of the payments that will be made when the project is commissioned.

(i) The nominal amounts are exclusive of GST.
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Commitments

Commitments for future expenditure include operating and 
capital commitments arising from contracts. These commitments 
are disclosed at their nominal value and are inclusive of the 
GST payable. In addition, where it is considered appropriate 
and provides additional relevant information to users, the net 
present values of significant projects are stated. These future 
expenditures cease to be disclosed as commitments once the 
related liabilities are recognised on the Balance Sheet.

Monash Health has entered into commercial leases on certain 
medical equipment, computer equipment and property where it 
is not in the interest of Monash Health to purchase these assets. 
These leases have an average life of between 1 and 20 years 
with renewal terms included in the contracts. Renewals are at the 
option of Monash Health. There are no restrictions placed upon 
the lessee by entering into these leases.

Service concession arrangements (SCA)

Monash Health is party to a service concession arrangement 
(SCA), which is an arrangement entered into with private sector 
participants to design and construct or upgrade assets used 
to provide public services. These arrangements are typically 
complex and usually include the provision of operational and 
maintenance services for a specified period of time. These 
arrangements are also referred to as public private partnerships 
(PPP).

With these arrangements, the Department of Health and Human 
Services pays the operator over the period of the arrangement 
subject to specified performance criteria being met. At the date of 
commitment to the principal provisions of the arrangement, these 
estimated periodic payments are allocated between a component 
related to the design and construction or upgrading of the 
asset and components related to the ongoing operation and 
maintenance of the asset. The former component is accounted 
for as a lease payment in accordance with the lease policy. 
The remaining components are accounted for as commitments 
for operating costs which are expensed in the comprehensive 
operating statement as they are incurred.

Pursuant to the requirements of the Operating Deed between the 
State and Monash Health, the Department of Health and Human 
Services agrees to meet all payments (including leasing and 
operating) for which the State is liable and which are associated 
with the project. Monash Health has agreed to record and report 
all of the obligations of the state reflecting Monash Health’s 
position as the government agency that controls the assets. 
Pursuant to the agreement for the project, the state contributed 
to the constructions costs of the project during the construction 
phase. The Department of Health and Human Services made 
capital contributions to Monash Health to fund these payments.

Monash Health recognises a leased asset and corresponding 
lease liability in respect of the arrangement in accordance with 
the State’s stated accounting policy for such arrangements.

Quarterly service payments will be made to Monash Health. Each 
payment includes an allowance for the remaining capital cost of 
the facility, the facilities maintenance and ancillary services to be 
delivered by Monash Health over the 25 year operating phase, 
interest rate service payments and equity return.

Pass through payments in relation to Monash Health utilities, 
medical and laboratory gases and waste disposal services are 
not included in PPP commitments as they are contingent on 
future amounts utilised in operating the hospital.
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Note 7: Risks, contingencies and valuation uncertainties

Monash Health is exposed to risk from its activities and outside factors. In addition, it is often necessary to make judgements and 
estimates associated with recognition and measurement of items in the financial statements. This section sets out financial instrument 
specific information, including exposures to financial risks, as well as those items that are contingent in nature or require a higher level of 
judgement to be applied which, for Monash Health, is related mainly to fair value determination.

Structure

 · 7.1 Financial Instruments

Note 7.1: Financial instruments

Financial instruments arise out of contractual agreements that give rise to a financial asset of one entity and a financial liability or equity 
instrument of another entity. Due to the nature of Monash Health’s activities, certain financial assets and financial liabilities arise under 
statute rather than a contract. Such financial assets and financial liabilities do not meet the definition of financial instruments in AASB 132 
Financial Instruments: Presentation.

Note 7.1 (a): Financial Instruments

Consolidated

Financial Assets at 
Amortised Cost

$’000

Financial Liabilities at 
Amortised Cost 

$’000
Total
$’000

2019

Contractual Financial Assets

Cash and Cash Equivalents  111,749  -    111,749 

Receivables

 - Trade Debtors  7,048  -    7,048 

 - Other Receivables  56,694  -    56,694 

Total Financial Assets (i)  175,491  -    175,491 

Financial Liabilities

Payables  -    126,946  126,946 

Borrowings  -    107,126  107,126 

Other Financial Liabilities

 - Accommodation bonds  -    13,945  13,945 

 - Other  -    219  219 

Total Financial Liabilities (i)  -    248,236  248,236 
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i The carrying amount excludes statutory receivables (i.e. GST receivable and DHHS receivable) and statutory payables (i.e. Revenue in Advance and DHHS payable).

From 1 July 2018, Monash Health applies AASB 9 and classifies all of its financial assets based on the business model for managing the 
assets and the asset’s contractual terms.

Consolidated

Contractual Financial 
Assets - Loans and 

Receivables and Cash
$’000

Contractual 
Financial Liabilities 
at Amortised Cost

$’000
Total
$’000

2018

Contractual Financial Assets

Cash and Cash Equivalents  160,932  -    160,932 

Receivables

 - Trade Debtors  5,490  -    5,490 

 - Other Receivables  42,997  -    42,997 

Total Financial Assets(i)  209,419  -    209,419 

Financial Liabilities

Payables  -    121,735  121,735 

Borrowings  -    93,578  93,578 

Other Financial Liabilities

 - Accommodation bonds  -    14,825  14,825 

 - Other  -    219  219 

Total Financial Liabilities(i)  -    230,357  230,357 

Categories of financial assets 
under AASB 9

Financial assets at amortised cost

Financial assets are measured at 
amortised costs if both of the following 
criteria are met and the assets are not 
designated as fair value through net 
result:

 ▪ the assets are held by Monash Health 
to collect the contractual cash flows, 
and

 ▪ the assets’ contractual terms give rise 
to cash flows that are solely payments 
of principal and interests.

These assets are initially recognised at 
fair value plus any directly attributable 
transaction costs and subsequently 
measured at amortised cost using 
the effective interest method less any 
impairment.

Monash Health recognises the following 
assets in this category:

 ▪ cash and deposits; and

 ▪ receivables (excluding statutory 
receivables).

Categories of financial assets 
previously under AASB 139

Loans and receivables and cash are 
financial instrument assets with fixed 
and determinable payments that are not 
quoted on an active market. These assets 
and liabilities are initially recognised at 
fair value plus any directly attributable 
transaction costs. Subsequent to initial 
measurement, loans and receivables are 
measured at amortised cost using the 
effective interest method (and for assets, 
less any impairment). Monash Health 
recognises the following assets in this 
category:

 ▪ cash and deposits; and

 ▪ receivables (excluding statutory 
receivables).

Categories of financial liabilities 
under AASB 9 and previously under 
AASB 139

Financial liabilities at amortised cost are 
initially recognised on the date they are 
originated. They are initially measured 
at fair value plus any directly attributable 
transaction costs. Subsequent to initial 
recognition, these financial instruments 
are measured at amortised cost with any 
difference between the initial recognised 
amount and the redemption value being 
recognised in profit and loss over the 
period of the interest bearing liability, 
using the effective interest rate method. 
Monash Health recognises the following 
liabilities in this category:

 ▪ payables (excluding statutory 
payables); and

 ▪ borrowings (including finance lease 
liabilities).

Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a 
part of a financial asset or part of a group 
of similar financial assets) is derecognised 
when the rights to receive cash flows from 
the asset have expired.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

A financial liability is derecognised 
when the obligation under the liability is 
discharged, cancelled or expires.
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Note 7.1 (b): Maturity analysis of Financial Liabilities as at 30 June

The following table discloses the contractual maturity analysis for Monash Health’s financial liabilities. For interest rates applicable to each 
class of liability refer to individual notes to the financial statements.

Maturity Dates

Note

Carrying 
Amount
$'000

Nominal 
Amount
$'000

Less than 1 
Month
$'000

1-3 Months
$'000

3 months - 
1 Year
$'000

1-5 Years
$'000

Over 5 
Years
$'000

2019

Financial Liabilities

At amortised cost

  Payables 5.3  126,947  126,947  102,206  15,256  4,139  5,346  - 

  Borrowings 6.1  107,126  107,126  1,553  3,221  5,166  38,747  58,440 

  Other Financial Liabilities (i)

   - Accommodation Deposits 5.4  13,945  13,945  -  628  13,317  -  - 

   - Other 5.4  219  219  219  -  -  -  - 

Total Financial Liabilities 248,236 248,236  103,978  19,104  22,622  44,093  58,440 

2018

Financial Liabilities

At amortised cost

Payables 5.3  121,735  121,735  94,803  19,001  3,172  4,759  - 

Borrowings 6.1  93,578  93,578  1,648  858  8,544  36,499  49,298 

Other Financial Liabilities (i)

 - Accommodation Deposits 5.4  14,825  14,825  -  667  14,159  -  - 

 - Other 5.4  219  219  219  -  -  -  - 

Total Financial Liabilities 230,358 230,358  96,670  20,525  25,875  41,257  49,298 

(i) Ageing analysis of financial liabilities excludes statutory financial liabilities (i.e. GST payable).

Impairment of financial assets

At the end of each reporting period, 
Monash Health assesses whether there 
is objective evidence that a financial asset 
or group of financial assets is impaired. All 
financial instrument assets, except those 
measured at fair value through profit or 
loss, are subject to annual review for 
impairment.

The allowance is the difference between 
the financial asset’s carrying amount and 
the present value of estimated future cash 
flows, discounted at the effective interest 
rate. 

In assessing impairment of statutory 
(non-contractual) financial assets, which 
are not financial instruments, professional 

judgement is applied in assessing 
materiality using estimates, averages 
and other computational methods in 
accordance with AASB 136 Impairment 
of Assets.
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Note 7.1 (c): Contractual receivables at amortised costs

Impairment of financial assets under AASB 9 – 
applicable from 1 July 2018

From 1 July 2018, Monash Health has been recording the 
allowance for expected credit loss for the relevant financial 
instruments, replacing AASB 139’s incurred loss approach with 
AASB 9’s Expected Credit Loss approach. Subject to AASB 9 
impairment assessment include the Monash Health’s contractual 
receivables, statutory receivables and its investment in debt 
instruments.

Equity instruments are not subject to impairment under AASB 
9. Other financial assets mandatorily measured or designated 
at fair value through net result are not subject to impairment 
assessment under AASB 9. While cash and cash equivalents 
are also subject to the impairment requirements of AASB 9, the 
identified impairment loss was immaterial.

Contractual receivables at amortised cost

Monash Health applies AASB 9 simplified approach for all 
contractual receivables to measure expected credit losses using 
a lifetime expected loss allowance based on the assumptions 
about risk of default and expected loss rates. Monash Health 
has grouped contractual receivables on shared credit risk 
characteristics and days past due and select the expected credit 
loss rate based on Monash Health’s past history, existing market 
conditions, as well as forward-looking estimates at the end of the 
financial year.

On this basis, Monash Health determines the opening loss 
allowance on initial application date of AASB 9 and the closing 
loss allowance at end of the financial year as disclosed above.

Reconciliation of the movement in the loss allowance for contractual receivables

Credit loss allowance is classified as other economic flows in the 
net result. Contractual receivables are written off when there is 
no reasonable expectation of recovery and impairment losses are 
classified as a transaction expense. Subsequent recoveries of 
amounts previously written off are credited against the same line 
item.

In prior years, a provision for doubtful debts is recognised when 
there is objective evidence that the debts may not be collected 
and bad debts are written off when identified. A provision is 
made for estimated irrecoverable amounts from the sale of goods 
when there is objective evidence that an individual receivable is 
impaired. Bad debts considered as written off by mutual consent.

Statutory receivables and debt investments at amortised cost 
[AASB2016-8.4]

Monash Health’s non-contractual receivables arising from 
statutory requirements are not financial instruments. However, 
they are nevertheless recognised and measured in accordance 
with AASB 9 requirements as if those receivables are financial 
instruments.

Statutory receivables are considered to have low credit risk, 
taking into account the counterparty’s credit rating, risk of default 
and capacity to meet contractual cash flow obligations in the near 
term. As a result, the loss allowance recognised for these financial 
assets during the period was limited to 12 months expected 
losses. No loss allowance recognised at 30 June 2018 under 
AASB 139. No additional loss allowance required upon transition 
into AASB 9 on 1 July 2018.

2019
$'000

2018
$'000

Balance at beginning of the year  3,289  2,756

Opening retained earnings adjustment on adoption of AASB 9  (802)  - 

Opening Loss Allowance  2,488  2,756 

Increase in provision recognised in the net result  3,618  2,714 

Reversal of provision of receivables written off during the year as uncollectable  (2,233)  (2,180)

Balance at end of the year  3,872  3,289 

1-Jul-18 Current

Less than 1 
Month
$'000

1-3 Months
$'000

3 months - 
1 Year
$'000

1-5 Years
$'000

Total
$'000

Expected loss rate % 1.0% 6.2% 22.0% 31.0% - 5.1%

Gross carrying amount of contractual receivables $’000 37,502 4,557 2,818 3,925 - 48,802

Loss Allowance $’000 (370) (282) (621) (1,215) (2,488)

30-Jun-19 Current

Less than 1 
Month
$'000

1-3 Months
$'000

3 months - 
1 Year
$'000

1-5 Years
$'000

Total
$'000

Expected loss rate % 0.9% 7.0% 28.4% 37.0% - 5.7%

Gross carrying amount of contractual receivables $’000 53,091 5,458 4,096 4,968 - 67,613

Loss Allowance $’000 (492) (380) (1,163) (1,837) (3,872)
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Note 8: Other disclosures

This section includes additional material disclosures required by accounting standards or otherwise, for the understanding of this financial 
report.

Structure

 · 8.1 Reconciliation of Net Result for the Year to Net Cash Flow from Operating Activities

 · 8.2 Responsible Persons Disclosures

 · 8.3 Remuneration of Executives

 · 8.4 Related Parties

 · 8.5 Remuneration of Auditors

 · 8.6 Events Occurring after the Balance Sheet Date

 · 8.7 Controlled Entities

 · 8.8 Investments accounted for using the Equity Method

 · 8.9 Economic Dependency

 · 8.10 Changes in Accounting Policy

 · 8.11 AASBs Issued that are not yet Effective

 · 8.12 Glossary

Note 8.1: Reconciliation of net result for the year to net cash inflow / (outflow) from operating activities

Consolidated
2019
$'000

Consolidated
2018
$'000

Net Result for the Year (5,080) 15

Non-cash movements: 

Depreciation and amortisation 73,129 77,310

Provision for doubtful debts 1,384 533

Adjustment Prior year capital contribution  - 11

Share of net results in associates (29) (87)

Net movement in Finance Lease Liability and Borrowings 18,239 (3,198)

Government Non Cash Funding for Hospital Expansion  (65,050) (44,380)

Discount (interest)/ expense on Loan 690 (1,155)

Movements included in investing and financing activities 

Net gain from Sale of Plant and Equipment 760 342

Movements in assets and liabilities: 

Change in Operating Assets and Liabilities

     (Increase)/Decrease in Receivables (41,633) 54

     (Increase)/Decrease in Other Assets (2,509) 806

     Increase/(Decrease) in Payables 5,211 (2,227)

     Increase/(Decrease) in Provisions 72,633 41,375

     Increase/(Decrease) in Other Liabilities (2,978) 11,232

     (Increase)/Decrease in Inventories (1,208) (1,579)

NET CASH INFLOW/(OUTFLOW) FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES  53,558  79,052 
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Note 8.2: Responsible persons disclosures

In accordance with the Ministerial Directions issued by the Assistant Treasurer under the Financial Management Act 1994, the following 
disclosures are made regarding responsible persons for the reporting period.

Responsible Ministers: Period

The Honourable Jill Hennessy, Minister for Health and Minister for Ambulance Services 01/07/2018 - 29/11/2018

The Honourable Jenny Mikakos, Minister for Health and Minister for Ambulance Services 29/11/2018 - 30/06/2019

The Honourable Martin Foley, Minister for Mental Health 01/07/2018 - 30/06/2019

The Honourable Martin Foley, Minister for Housing, Disability and Ageing 01/07/2018 - 29/11/2018

The Honourable Luke Donnellan, Minister for Child Protection, Minister for Disability, Ageing and 
Carers

29/11/2018 - 30/06/2019

Governing Boards Period

Mr Dipak Sanghvi 01/07/2018 - 30/06/2019

Ms Heather Cleland (term expired 30 June 2019) 01/07/2018 - 30/06/2019

Dr Misty Jenkins 01/07/2018 - 30/06/2019

Mr Charles Gillies 01/07/2018 - 30/06/2019

Ms Sarah Ralph (term expired 30 June 2019) 01/07/2018 - 30/06/2019

Ms Jorden Lam (term expired 30 June 2019) 01/07/2018 - 30/06/2019

Prof. Hatem Salem 01/07/2018 - 30/06/2019

Ms Aurélia Balpe 01/07/2018 - 30/06/2019

Ms Jane Bell 01/07/2018 - 30/06/2019

Accountable Officers Period

Mr Andrew Stripp (Chief Executive) 01/07/2018- 30/06/2019

Remuneration of Responsible Persons

The number of Responsible Persons are shown in their relevant income bands. Kitaya Holding Pty Ltd is Monash Health’s controlled 
entity. Amounts relating to Kitaya Holding Pty Ltd’s Governing Board Members and Accountable Officer are disclosed in its financial 
statements. Amounts relating to Responsible Ministers are reported within the Department of Parliamentary Services’ Financial Report.

Income Band

Consolidated 
2019
No.

Consolidated 
2018
No.

$30,000 - $39,999  -    8 

$50,000 - $59,999  8  -   

$70,000 - $79,999  -    1 

$100,000 - $109,999  1  -   

$460,000 - $469,999  -    1 

$540,000 - $549,999  1  -   

Total Numbers  10  10 

2019
$'000

2018
$'000

Total remuneration received or due and receivable by Responsible Persons from 
the reporting entity amounted to: $1,079  $855 
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Note 8.3: Remuneration of Executives

The number of executive officers, other than Ministers and Accountable Officers, and their total remuneration during the reporting period 
are shown in the table below. Total annualised employee equivalent provides a measure of full time equivalent executive officers over the 
reporting period.

Consolidated 
Total Remuneration

Remuneration of Executive Officers
2019
$'000

2018
$'000

Short-term Benefits  3,041  2,351 

Post-employment Benefits  233  213 

Other Long-term Benefits  207  74 

Total Remuneration (i)  3,481  2,638 

Total Number of Executives  11  9 

Total Annualised Employee Equivalent (ii)  11  9 

Total remuneration payable to executives during the year included 
additional executive officers and a number of executives who 
received bonus payments during the year. These bonus payments 
depend on the terms of individual employment contracts.

Remuneration comprises employee benefits in all forms of 
consideration paid, payable or provided in exchange for services 
rendered, and is disclosed in the following categories:

Short-term Employee Benefits

Salaries and wages, annual leave or sick leave that are usually 
paid or payable on a regular basis, as well as non-monetary 
benefits such as allowances and free or subsidised goods or 
services.

Post-employment Benefits

Pensions and other retirement benefits paid or payable on a 
discrete basis when employment has ceased.

Other Long-term Benefits

Long service leave, other long-service benefit or deferred 
compensation.

i The total number of executive officers includes persons who meet the definition of Key Management Personnel (KMP) of Monash Health under AASB 124 Related 
Party Disclosures and are also reported within Note 8.4 Related Parties.

ii Annualised employee equivalent is based on working 38 ordinary hours per week over the reporting period.
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Note 8.4: Related parties

Monash Health is a wholly owned and controlled entity of the State of Victoria. Related parties of Monash Health include:

 ▪ All key management personnel (KMP) and their close family members;

 ▪ Cabinet ministers (where applicable) and their close family members;

 ▪ Controlled Entity – Kitaya Holdings Pty Ltd; and

 ▪ All hospitals and public sector entities that are controlled and consolidated into the State of Victoria financial statements.

KMPs are those people with the authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the activities of the Monash Health and its 
controlled entities, directly or indirectly.

The Board of Directors and the Chief Executive of Monash Health and its controlled entities are deemed to be KMPs.

KMPs Position Title

Mr Dipak Sanghvi Chair of the Board

Ms Heather Cleland (term expired 30 June 2019) Board Member

Dr Misty Jenkins Board Member

Mr Charles Gillies Board Member

Ms Sarah Ralph (term expired 30 June 2019) Board Member

Ms Jorden Lam (term expired 30 June 2019) Board Member

Prof. Hatem Salem Board Member

Ms Aurelia Balpe Board Member

Ms Jane Bell Board Member

Mr Andrew Stripp Chief Executive Officer

Kitaya Holdings Pty Ltd’s KMPs are disclosed in the company’s financial statements.

The compensation detailed below excludes the salaries and benefits the Portfolio Ministers receive. The Minister’s remuneration and 
allowances is set by the Parliamentary Salaries and Superannuation Act 1968, and is reported within the Department of Parliamentary 
Services’ Financial Report.

Consolidated 
2019
$'000

Consolidated
2018
$'000

Compensation - KMPs

Short-term Employee Benefits (i)  956  779 

Post-employment Benefits  76  62 

Other Long-term Benefits  47  14 

Total (ii)  1,079  855 

i Total remuneration paid to KMPs employed as a contractor during the reporting period through accounts payable has been reported under short-term employee 
benefits.

ii KMPs are also reported in Note 8.2 Responsible Persons or Note 8.3 Remuneration of Executives.

Significant Transactions with Government Related 
Entities

Monash Health received funding from the Department of Health 
and Human Services of $1,541 m (2018: $1,451 m) and indirect 
contributions of $23.6 m (2018: $9m).

The Department of Health and Human Services (DHHS) granted 
an interest free loan of $10m to Monash Health in 2018. The loan 
is repayable over 10 years with repayments made annually. At 30 
June 2019, the total amount due to DHHS in relation to this loan 
was $8.5m (2018: $8.8m)

Monash Health has two loan agreements with Treasury 
Corporation of Victoria (TCV) for $19.6m and $13.3m with 
amounts borrowed repayable over 22 and 20 years respectively. 
At 30 June 2019, the total amount due to TCV in relation to these 
loans was $26.0m (2018: $27.2m)

Expenses incurred by Monash Health in delivering services 
and outputs are in accordance with Health Purchasing Victoria 
requirements. Goods and services including procurement, 
diagnostics, patient meals and multi-site operational support 
are provided by other Victorian Health Service Providers on 
commercial terms.
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Note 8.6: Events occurring after the balance sheet date

There are no events occurring after the Balance Sheet Date.

Professional medical indemnity insurance and other insurance 
products are obtained from the Victorian Managed Insurance 
Authority.

The Standing Directions of the Assistant Treasurer require 
Monash Health to hold cash (in excess of working capital) in 
accordance with the State’s centralised banking arrangements. 
All borrowings are required to be sourced from Treasury 
Corporation Victorian unless an exemption has been approved by 
the Minister for Health and Human Services and the Treasurer.

Transactions with KMPs and Other Related Parties

Given the breadth and depth of State government activities, 
related parties transactions with the Victorian public sector occur 
in a manner consistent with other members of the public. Further, 
employment of processes within the Victorian public sector occur 
on terms and conditions consistent with the Public Administration 
Act 2004 and Codes of Conduct and Standards issued by the 
Victorian Public Sector Commission. Procurement processes 
occur on terms and conditions consistent with the Victorian 
Government Procurement Board requirements.

Outside of normal citizen type transactions with Monash Health, 
there were no related party transactions that involved key 
management personnel, their close family members and their 
personal business interests. No provision has been required, 
nor any expense recognised, for impairment of receivables from 
related parties. There were no related party transactions with 
Cabinet Ministers required to be disclosed in 2019.

There were no related party transactions required to be disclosed 
for the Monash Health Board of Directors and the Chief Executive 
Officer in 2019.

Related party transactions required to be disclosed for Kitaya 
Holding Pty Ltd’s Board of Directors in 2019 are disclosed in its 
financial statements.

Controlled Entities Related Party Transactions

Kitaya Holdings Pty Ltd

Ms Jane Bell is a member of both the Monash Health Board and 
the Kitaya Holdings Pty Ltd Board.

Mr Andrew Stripp is Chief Executive of Monash Health and a 
member of the Kitaya Holdings Pty Ltd Board.

Mr Stuart Donaldson is Chief Financial Officer of Monash Health 
and a member of the Kitaya Holdings Pty Ltd Board.

Kitaya Holdings Pty Ltd operates Jessie McPherson Private 
Hospital. Monash Health is reimbursed by its controlled entity, 
Kitaya Holdings Pty Ltd, for the provision of goods and services 
required to run the private hospital. The fee includes charges for 
labour, power, food, cleaning and other services. All transactions 
are conducted on normal commercial terms and conditions.

2019
$'000

2018
$'000

Rental income received from its controlled entity 1,166  1,149 

Contracted goods and services provided to its controlled entity  22,935  24,228 

Amount owing to controlled entity at balance date  11,479  13,188 

Note 8.5: Remuneration of auditors
Consolidated 

2019
$'000

Consolidated
2018
$'000

Victorian Auditor-General's Office

Audit of the Financial Statements  336  335 

TOTAL REMUNERATION OF AUDITORS  336  335 

The aggregate amounts brought to account in respect of the following types of transactions were:
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Note 8.7: Controlled entities

Monash Health’s interest in the jointly controlled operations are detailed below. The amounts are included in the consolidated financial 
statements under their respective categories:

Name of Entity Country of Incorporation Ownership Interest % Equity Holding

Kitaya Holdings Pty Ltd Australia 100 100%

(trading as Jessie McPherson Private Hospital)

Monash Health’s interest in revenues and expenses resulting from this is detailed below:

CONTROLLED ENTITIES CONTRIBUTION TO THE CONSOLIDATED RESULTS

NET RESULT FOR THE YEAR
2019
$'000

2018
$'000

Kitaya Holdings Pty Ltd  (2,872)  1,604 

Contingent Liabilities and Capital Commitments

There are no known contingent liabilities or capital commitments held by the jointly controlled operations at balance date.

Note 8.8: Investments accounted for using the equity method

Ownership Interest Published Fair Value

Name of Entity Principal Activity
Country of 

Incorporation
2019

%
2018

%
2019
$'000

2018
$'000

Associates

Monash Health Research Precinct Pty 
Ltd (a)(b)

Property 
Investment

Australia 20.33 20.33  4,129  4,099 

(a) As at 30 June 2019, the fair value of Monash Health’s interest in Monash Health Research Precinct Pty Ltd was based on its share of the company’s net assets 
which is a level 3 input in terms of AASB 13 Fair Value Measurement.

(b) The financial year end date in Monash Health Research Precinct Pty Ltd is 31 December. This was the reporting date established when that company was 
incorporated. For the purpose of applying the equity method of accounting, the financial statements of Monash Health Research Precinct Pty Ltd have been used, 
and appropriate adjustments have been made for the effects of significant transactions between that date and 30 June 2019.

Note 8.9: Economic dependency

Monash Health is wholly dependent on the continued financial 
support of the State Government and in particular, the 
Department of Health and Human Services.

The Department of Health and Human Services has provided 
confirmation that it will continue to provide Monash Health 
adequate cash flow support to meet its current and future 
obligations as and when they fall due for a period up to 
September 2020. On that basis, the financial statements have 
been prepared on a going concern basis.

Monash Health’s current asset ratio continues to be below an 
adequate short term position (2019: 0.41 and 2018: 0.51) while 
cash generated from operations has deteriorated from a $ 79m 
surplus in 2018 to a $54m surplus in 2019 and cash reserves 
have moved from $160m in 2018 to $112m in 2019. A letter 
confirming adequate cash flow was also provided in the previous 
financial year.
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Note 8.10: Changes in accounting policy

Monash Health has elected to apply the limited exemption in 
AASB 9 paragraph 7.2.15 relating to transition for classification 
and measurement and impairment, and accordingly has not 
restated comparative periods in the year of initial application. As 
a result:

(a) any adjustments to carrying amounts of financial assets 
or liabilities are recognised at beginning of the current 
reporting period with difference recognised in opening 
retained earnings; and

(b) financial assets and provision for impairment have not 
been reclassified and/or restated in the comparative 
period.

This note explains the impact of the adoption of AASB 9 Financial 
Instruments on the Department’s financial statements.

Changes to measurement

On initial application of AASB 9 on 1 July 2018, Monash Health’s 
management has assessed all financial assets based on the 
Monash Health’s business models for managing the assets. The 
following are the changes in the measurement of the Monash 
Health’s financial assets:

Contractual receivables previously classified as other loans and 
receivables under AASB 139 are now reclassified as financial 
assets at amortised cost under AASB 9. A decrease of $801,600 
in loss allowance for these assets was recognised in opening 
retained earnings for the period

($ ‘000)

AASB 9 Measurement 
Categories

As at 30 June 2018AASB
AASB 139 Measurement 

Categories Amortised cost

AASB 139 Measurement Categories

Loan and receivables

Sale of goods and services 32,013 32,013

Impairment loss allowance  (3,289)  (2,488)

As at 1 July 2018 28,724 29,525

Changes to the impairment of financial assets 

Under AASB 9, all loans and receivables as well as other debt 
instruments not carried at fair value through net result are subject 
to AASB 9’s new expected credit loss (ECL) impairment model, 
which replaces AASB 139’s incurred loss approach. 

Application of the lifetime ECL allowance method results in a 
decrease in the impairment loss allowance of $801,600.  

Transition impact 

The transition impact of first-time adoption of AASB 9 on 
Comprehensive Operating Statement and Balance Sheet has 
been summarised in the following tables.  

The following table shows the required reclassification upon adoption of AASB 9 as follows:-

Impact on Comprehensive Operating Statement as at 1 July 2018 as follows:

($ ‘000)

Comprehensive operating statement 30/06/2018

Impairment of financial assets (802)

Other economic flows included in net result 802

Comprehensive income 802
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Note 8.11: AASBs Issued that are not yet Effective

Certain new Australian accounting standards have been published that are not mandatory for the 30 June 2019 reporting period. 
Department of Treasury and Finance assesses the impact of all these new standards and advises Monash Health Service of their 
applicability and early adoption where applicable.

As at 30 June 2019, the following standards and interpretations had been issued by the AASB but were not yet effective. They become 
effective for the first financial statements for reporting periods commencing after the stated operative dates as detailed in the table below. 
Monash Health Service has not and does not intend to adopt these standards early.

Standard/ Interpretation Summary

Applicable for annual 
reporting periods 

beginning on Impact on public sector entity financial statements

AASB 15 Revenue 
from Contracts with 
Customers

The core principle of AASB 15 requires 
an entity to recognise revenue when the 
entity satisfies a performance obligation by 
transferring a promised good or service to 
a customer. Note that amending standard 
AASB 2015 8 Amendments to Australian 
Accounting Standards – Effective Date of 
AASB 15 has deferred the effective date 
of AASB 15 to annual reporting periods 
beginning on or after 1 January 2018, 
instead of 1 January 2017 for Not-for-Profit 
entities.

1 Jan 2019 The changes in revenue recognition 
requirements in AASB 15 may result 
in changes to the timing and amount 
of revenue recorded in the financial 
statements. Revenue from grants that are 
provided under an enforceable agreement 
that have sufficiently specific obligations, 
will now be deferred and recognised as the 
performance obligations attached to the 
grant are satisfied.

Monash Health has performed an impact 
assessment of AASB 15 and the potential 
impact in the initial year of application has 
been estimated to have minimal impact.

AASB 2018-4 
Amendments 
to Australian 
Accounting 
Standards 
– Australian 
Implementation 
Guidance for Not-
for-Profit Public-
Sector Licensors

AASB 2018-4 amends AASB 15 and 
AASB 16 to provide guidance for revenue 
recognition in connection with taxes and 
Non-IP licences for Not-for-Profit entities.

1 Jan 2019 AASB 2018-4 provides additional guidance 
for not-for-profit public sector licenses, 
which include:

 ▪ Matters to consider in distinguishing 
between a tax and a license, with all 
taxes being accounted for under AASB 
1058;

 ▪ IP licenses to be accounted for under 
AASB 15; and

Non-IP, such as casino licenses, are to 
be accounted for in accordance with the 
principles of AASB 15 after first having 
determined whether any part of the 
arrangement should be accounted for as a 
lease under AASB 16.

($ ‘000)

Balance sheet Amount at 30/6/2018 Reclassification Remeasurement (ECL)
Restated amount at 

1/7/2018

Impairment loss allowance  (3,289) - 802  (2,488)

Other Current Assets 226,399 0 0 226,399

Total current assets 223,110 0 802 223,912

Total liabilities 583,887 .. .. 583,887

Accumulated surplus/(deficit) 127,978 0 802 128,780

Other items in equity 1,101,180 .. .. 1,101,180

Total equity 1,229,158 0 802 1,229,960

Impact on Balance Sheet is illustrated with the following reconciliation between the carrying amounts under AASB 139 at 30 June 2018 
and the balances reported under AASB 9 at 1 July 2018 for each affected balance sheet line items:
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Standard/ Interpretation Summary

Applicable for annual 
reporting periods 

beginning on Impact on public sector entity financial statements

AASB 2016-8 
Amendments 
to Australian 
Accounting 
Standards 
– Australian 
Implementation 
Guidance for Not 
for-Profit Entities

AASB 2016-8 inserts Australian 
requirements and authoritative 
implementation guidance for not-for-profit-
entities into AASB 9 and AASB 15.

This Standard amends AASB 9 and AASB 
15 to include requirements to assist not-
for-profit entities in applying the respective 
standards to particular transactions and 
events.

1 Jan 2019 This standard clarifies the application of 
AASB 15 and AASB 9 in a not-for-profit 
context. The areas within these standards 
that are amended for not-for-profit 
application include:

AASB 9

Statutory receivables are recognised and 
measured similarly to financial assets.

AASB 15

The ‘customer’ does not need to be the 
recipient of goods and/or services;

The “contract” could include an 
arrangement entered into under the 
direction of another party;

Contracts are enforceable if they are 
enforceable by legal or ‘equivalent means’;

Contracts do not have to have commercial 
substance, only economic substance; and

Performance obligations need to be 
‘sufficiently specific’ to be able to apply 
AASB 15 to these transactions.

AASB 16 Leases The key changes introduced by AASB 16 
include the recognition of most operating 
leases (which are currently not recognised) 
on balance sheet.

1 Jan 2019 The assessment has indicated that most 
operating leases, with the exception 
of short term and low value leases will 
come on to the balance sheet and will be 
recognised as right of use assets with a 
corresponding lease liability.

In the operating statement, the operating 
lease expense will be replaced by 
depreciation expense of the asset and an 
interest charge.

There will be no change for lessors as 
the classification of operating and finance 
leases remains unchanged.

Monash Health has performed an impact 
assessment of AASB 16 and the potential 
impact in the initial year of application has 
been estimated as follows:

 ▪ increase in Right of Use ($41m),

 ▪ increase in related depreciation ($8m),

 ▪ increase in lease liability ($41m),

 ▪ increase in related interest ($1.0m) 
calculated using effective interest 
method, and

 ▪ decrease in rental expense ($7.7m).
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Standard/ Interpretation Summary

Applicable for annual 
reporting periods 

beginning on Impact on public sector entity financial statements

AASB 2018-8 
Amendments 
to Australian 
Accounting 
Standards – Right of 
Use Assets of Not-
for-Profit entities

This standard amends various other 
accounting standards to provide an option 
for not-for-profit entities to not apply the 
fair value initial measurement requirements 
to a class or classes of right of use assets 
arising under leases with significantly 
below-market terms and conditions 
principally to enable the entity to further 
its objectives. This Standard also adds 
additional disclosure requirements to AASB 
16 for not-for-profit entities that elect to 
apply this option.

1 Jan 2019 Under AASB 1058, not-for-profit entities are 
required to measure right-of-use assets at 
fair value at initial recognition for leases that 
have significantly below-market terms and 
conditions.

For right-of-use assets arising under leases 
with significantly below market terms and 
conditions principally to enable the entity to 
further its objectives (peppercorn leases), 
AASB 2018-8 provides a temporary option 
for Not-for-Profit entities to measure at 
initial recognition, a class or classes of 
right-of-use assets at cost rather than at 
fair value and requires disclosure of the 
adoption.

The State has elected to apply the 
temporary option in AASB 2018-8 for not-
for-profit entities to not apply the fair value 
provisions under AASB 1058 for these 
right-of-use assets.

In making this election, the State 
considered that the methodology of 
valuing peppercorn leases was still being 
developed.

AASB 1058 Income 
of Not-for-Profit 
Entities

AASB 1058 will replace the majority 
of income recognition in relation to 
government grants and other types 
of contributions requirements relating 
to public sector not-for-profit entities, 
previously in AASB 1004 Contributions.

The restructure of administrative 
arrangement will remain under AASB 1004 
and will be restricted to government entities 
and contributions by owners in a public 
sector context,

AASB 1058 establishes principles for 
transactions that are not within the scope 
of AASB 15, where the consideration to 
acquire an asset is significantly less than 
fair value to enable not-for-profit entities to 
further their objective.

1 Jan 2019 Grant revenue is currently recognised up 
front upon receipt of the funds under AASB 
1004 Contributions.

The timing of revenue recognition for grant 
agreements that fall under the scope 
of AASB 1058 may be deferred. For 
example, revenue from capital grants for 
the construction of assets will need to be 
deferred and recognised progressively as 
the asset is being constructed.

The impact on current revenue recognition 
of the changes is the potential phasing 
and deferral of revenue recorded in the 
operating statement.
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Standard/ Interpretation Summary

Applicable for annual 
reporting periods 

beginning on Impact on public sector entity financial statements

AASB 1059 Service 
Concession 
Arrangements: 
Grantor

This standard applies to arrangements 
that involve an operator providing a public 
service on behalf of a public sector grantor. 
It involves the use of a service concession 
asset and where the operator manages 
at least some of the public service at its 
own direction. An arrangement within the 
scope of this standard typically involves 
an operator constructing the asset used to 
provide the public service or upgrading the 
assets and operating and maintaining the 
assets for a specified period of time.

1 January 2020

(The State is 
intending to early 
adopt AASB 1059 
for annual reporting 
periods beginning 
on or after 1 
January 2019)

For an arrangement to be in scope 
of AASB 1059 all of the following 
requirements are to be satisfied:

 ▪ Operator is providing public services 
using a service concession asset;

 ▪ Operator manages at ‘least some’ 
of public services under its own 
discretion;

 ▪ The State controls / regulates:

 - what services are to be provided;

 - to whom; and

 - at what price

 ▪ State controls any significant residual 
interest in the asset.

If the arrangement does not satisfy all 
the above requirements the recognition 
will fall under the requirements of another 
applicable accounting standard.

Monash Health has assessed that AASB 
1059 will not apply to their current services.

AASB 2018-5 
Amendments 
to Australian 
Accounting 
Standards – Deferral 
of AASB 1059

This standard defers the mandatory 
effective date of AASB 1059 from 1 
January 2019 to 1 January 2020.

1 January 2020

(The State is 
intending to early 
adopt AASB 1059 
for annual reporting 
periods beginning 
on or after 1 
January 2019)

This standard defers the mandatory 
effective date of AASB 1059 for periods 
beginning on or after 1 January 2019 to 
1 January 2020. As the State has elected 
to early adopt AASB 1059, the financial 
impact will be reported in the financial 
year ending 30 June 2019, rather than the 
following year.

AASB 17 Insurance 
Contracts

The new Australian standard eliminates 
inconsistencies and weaknesses in existing 
practices by providing a single principle 
based framework to account for all types of 
insurance contracts, including reissuance 
contract that an insurer holds. It also 
provides requirements for presentation 
and disclosure to enhance comparability 
between entities.

This standard currently does not apply to 
the not-for-profit public sector entities.

1 Jan 2021 The assessment has indicated that there 
will be no significant impact for the public 
sector.

AASB 2018-7 
Amendments 
to Australian 
Accounting 
Standards – 
Definition of Material

This Standard principally amends AASB 
101 Presentation of Financial Statements 
and AASB 108 Accounting Policies, 
Changes in Accounting Estimates and 
Errors. The amendments refine and clarify 
the definition of material in AASB 101 and 
its application by improving the wording 
and aligning the definition across AASB 
Standards and other publications. The 
amendments also include some supporting 
requirements in AASB 101 in the definition 
to give it more prominence and clarify the 
explanation accompanying the definition of 
material

1 Jan 2020 The standard is not expected to have a 
significant impact on the public sector.
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Actuarial gains or losses on superannuation defined 
benefit plans

Actuarial gains or losses are changes in the present value of the 
superannuation defined benefit liability resulting from:

 ▪ experience adjustments (the effects of differences between 
the previous actuarial assumptions and what has actually 
occurred); and

 ▪ the effects of changes in actuarial assumptions.

Amortisation

Amortizations is the expense which results from the consumption, 
extraction or use over time of a non-produced physical or 
intangible asset.

Associates

Associates are all entities over which an entity has significant 
influence but not control, generally accompanying a shareholding 
and voting rights of between 20 per cent and 50 per cent.

Comprehensive result

The net result of all items of income and expense recognized 
for the period. It is the aggregate of operating result and other 
comprehensive income.

Commitments

Commitments include those operating, capital and other 
outsourcing commitments arising from

non-cancellable contractual or statutory sources.

Current grants

Amounts payable or receivable for current purposes for which 
no economic benefits of equal value are receivable or payable in 
return.

Depreciation

Depreciation is an expense that arises from the consumption 
through wear or time of a produced physical or intangible asset. 
This expense reduces the ‘net result for the year’.

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is used to calculate the amortized 
cost of a financial asset or liability and of allocating interest 
income over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the 
rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts through 
the expected life of the financial instrument, or, where appropriate, 
a shorter period.

Employee benefits expenses

Employee benefits expenses include all costs related to 
employment including wages and salaries, fringe benefits tax, 
leave entitlements, redundancy payments, defined benefits 
superannuation plans, and defined contribution superannuation 
plans.

Ex-gratia expenses

Ex-gratia expenses mean the voluntary payment of money or 
other non-monetary benefit (e.g. a write off) that is not made 
either to acquire goods, services or other benefits for the entity 
or to meet a legal liability, or to settle or resolve a possible legal 
liability, or claim against the entity.

Financial asset

A financial asset is any asset that is:

 ▪ cash;

 ▪ an equity instrument of another entity;

 ▪ a contractual or statutory right:

 - to receive cash or another financial asset from another 
entity; or

 - to exchange financial assets or financial liabilities with 
another entity under conditions that are potentially 
favorable to the entity; or

 ▪ a contract that will or may be settled in the entity’s own equity 
instruments and is:

 - a non-derivative for which the entity is or may be 
obliged to receive a variable number of the entity’s own 
equity instruments; or

 - a derivative that will or may be settled other than by the 
exchange of a fixed amount of cash or another financial 
asset for a fixed number of the entity’s own equity 
instruments.

Financial instrument

A financial instrument is any contract that gives rise to a financial 
asset of one entity and a financial liability or equity instrument 
of another entity. Financial assets or liabilities that are not 
contractual (such as statutory receivables or payables that arise 
as a result of statutory requirements imposed by governments) 
are not financial instruments.

Financial liability

A financial liability is any liability that is:

 ▪ A contractual obligation:

 - to deliver cash or another financial asset to another 
entity; or

 - to exchange financial assets or financial liabilities with 
another entity under conditions that are potentially 
unfavorable to the entity; or

 ▪ A contract that will or may be settled in the entity’s own equity 
instruments and is:

 - a non-derivative for which the entity is or may be 
obliged to deliver a variable number of the entity’s own 
equity instruments; or

 - a derivative that will or may be settled other than by 
the exchange of a fixed amount of cash or another 
financial asset for a fixed number of the entity’s own 
equity instruments. For this purpose the entity’s own 
equity instruments do not include instruments that are 
themselves contracts for the future receipt or delivery of 
the entity’s own equity instruments.

Note 8.12: Glossary of terms and style conventions
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Financial statements

A complete set of financial statements comprises:

 ▪ Balance sheet as at the end of the period;

 ▪ Comprehensive operating statement for the period;

 ▪ A statement of changes in equity for the period;

 ▪ Cash flow statement for the period;

 ▪ Notes, comprising a summary of significant accounting 
policies and other explanatory information;

 ▪ Comparative information in respect of the preceding period 
as specified in paragraph 38 of AASB 101 Presentation of 
Financial Statements; and

 ▪ A statement of financial position at the beginning of the 
preceding period when an entity applies an accounting policy 
retrospectively or makes a retrospective restatement of items 
in its financial statements, or when it reclassifies items in its 
financial statements in accordance with paragraphs 41 of 
AASB 101.

Grants and other transfers

Transactions in which one unit provides goods, services, assets 
(or extinguishes a liability) or labor to another unit without 
receiving approximately equal value in return. Grants can either 
be operating or capital in nature.

While grants to governments may result in the provision of some 
goods or services to the transferor, they do not give the transferor 
a claim to receive directly benefits of approximately equal value. 
For this reason, grants are referred to by the AASB as involuntary 
transfers and are termed non-reciprocal transfers. Receipt 
and sacrifice of approximately equal value may occur, but only 
by coincidence. For example, governments are not obliged to 
provide commensurate benefits, in the form of goods or services, 
to particular taxpayers in return for their taxes. Grants can be 
paid as general purpose grants which refer to grants that are not 
subject to conditions regarding their use. Alternatively, they may 
be paid as specific purpose grants which are paid for a particular 
purpose and/or have conditions attached regarding their use.

General government sector

The general government sector comprises all government 
departments, offices and other bodies engaged in providing 
services free of charge or at prices significantly below their 
cost of production. General government services include those 
which are mainly non-market in nature, those which are largely 
for collective consumption by the community and those which 
involve the transfer or redistribution of income. These services are 
financed mainly through taxes, or other compulsory levies and 
user charges.

Intangible produced assets

Refer to produced assets in this glossary.

Intangible non-produced assets

Refer to non-produced asset in this glossary.

Interest expense

Costs incurred in connection with the borrowing of funds 
includes interest on bank overdrafts and short-term and long-
term liabilities, amortization of discounts or premiums relating to 
liabilities, interest component of finance leases repayments, and 
the increase in financial liabilities and non-employee provisions 
due to the unwinding of discounts to reflect the passage of time.

Interest income

Interest income includes unwinding over time of discounts on 
financial assets and interest received on bank term deposits and 
other investments.

Investment properties

Investment properties represent properties held to earn rentals 
or for capital appreciation or both. Investment properties exclude 
properties held to meet service delivery objectives of the State of 
Victoria.

Joint Arrangements

A joint arrangement is an arrangement of which two or more 
parties have joint control. A joint arrangement has the following 
characteristics:

 ▪ The parties are bound by a contractual arrangement.

 ▪ The contractual arrangement gives two or more of those 
parties joint control of the arrangement

A joint arrangement is either a joint operation or a joint venture.

Liabilities

Liabilities refers to interest-bearing liabilities mainly raised from 
public liabilities raised through the Treasury Corporation of 
Victoria, finance leases and other interest-bearing arrangements. 
Liabilities also include non-interest-bearing advances from 
government that are acquired for policy purposes.

Net acquisition of non-financial assets (from 
transactions)

Purchases (and other acquisitions) of non-financial assets less 
sales (or disposals) of non-financial assets less depreciation plus 
changes in inventories and other movements in non-financial 
assets. It includes only those increases or decreases in non-
financial assets resulting from transactions and therefore excludes 
write-offs, impairment write-downs and revaluations.

Net result

Net result is a measure of financial performance of the operations 
for the period. It is the net result of items of income, gains and 
expenses (including losses) recognized for the period, excluding 
those that are classified as ‘other comprehensive income’.

Net result from transactions/net operating balance, Net result 
from transactions or net operating balance is a key fiscal 
aggregate and is income from transactions minus expenses 
from transactions. It is a summary measure of the ongoing 
sustainability of operations. It excludes gains and losses resulting 
from changes in price levels and other changes in the volume of 
assets.
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Style conventions

Figures in the tables and in the text have been rounded. 
Discrepancies in tables between totals and sums of components 
reflect rounding. Percentage variations in all tables are based on 
the underlying unrounded amounts.

The notation used in the tables is as follows:

zero, or rounded to zero

(xxx.x) negative numbers

Net worth

Assets less liabilities, which is an economic measure of wealth.

Non-financial assets

Non-financial assets are all assets that are not ‘financial assets’. 
It includes inventories, land, buildings, infrastructure, and road 
networks, land under roads, plant and equipment, investment 
properties, cultural and heritage assets, intangible and biological 
assets.

Non-produced assets

Non-produced assets are assets needed for production that 
have not themselves been produced. They include land, subsoil 
assets, and certain intangible assets. Non-produced intangibles 
are intangible assets needed for production that have not 
themselves been produced. They include constructs of society 
such as patents.

Non-profit institution

A legal or social entity that is created for the purpose of producing 
or distributing goods and services but is not permitted to be a 
source of income, profit or other financial gain for the units that 
establish, control or finance it.

Payables

Includes short and long term trade debt and accounts payable, 
grants, taxes and interest payable.

Produced assets

Produced assets include buildings, plant and equipment, 
inventories, cultivated assets and certain intangible assets. 
Intangible produced assets may include computer software, 
motion picture films, and research and development costs 
(which does not include the startup costs associated with capital 
projects).

Public financial corporation sector

Public financial corporations (PFCs) are bodies primarily engaged 
in the provision of financial intermediation services or auxiliary 
financial services. They are able to incur financial liabilities on their 
own account (e.g. taking deposits, issuing securities or providing 
insurance services).

Estimates are not published for the public financial corporation 
sector.

Public non-financial corporation sector

The public non-financial corporation (PNFC) sector comprises 
bodies mainly engaged in the production of goods and services 
(of a non-financial nature) for sale in the market place at prices 
that aim to recover most of the costs involved (e.g. water and port 
authorities). In general, PNFCs are legally distinguishable from the 
governments which own them.

Receivables

Includes amounts owing from government through appropriation 
receivable, short and long term trade credit and accounts 
receivable, accrued investment income, grants, taxes and interest 
receivable.

Sales of goods and services

Refers to income from the direct provision of goods and services 
and includes fees and charges for services rendered, sales of 
goods and services, fees from regulatory services and work 
done as an agent for private enterprises. It also includes rental 
income under operating leases and on produced assets such as 
buildings and entertainment, but excludes rent income from the 
use of non-produced assets such as land. User charges includes 
sale of goods and services income.

Supplies and services

Supplies and services generally represent cost of goods sold 
and the day-to-day running costs, including maintenance costs, 
incurred in the normal operations of the Department.

Taxation income

Taxation income represents income received from the State’s 
taxpayers and includes:

 ▪ payroll tax; land tax; duties levied principally on conveyances 
and land transfers;

 ▪ gambling taxes levied mainly on private lotteries, electronic 
gaming machines, casino operations and racing;

 ▪ insurance duty relating to compulsory third party, life and non-
life policies;

 ▪ insurance company contributions to fire brigades;

 ▪ motor vehicle taxes, including registration fees and duty on 
registrations and transfers;

 ▪ levies (including the environmental levy) on statutory 
corporations in other sectors of government; and

 ▪ other taxes, including landfill levies, license and concession 
fees.

Transactions

Revised Transactions are those economic flows that are 
considered to arise as a result of policy decisions, usually an 
interaction between two entities by mutual agreement. They also 
include flows in an entity such as depreciation where the owner is 
simultaneously acting as the owner of the depreciating asset and 
as the consumer of the service provided by the asset.

Taxation is regarded as mutually agreed interactions between 
the government and taxpayers. Transactions can be in kind (e.g. 
assets provided/given free of charge or for nominal consideration) 
or where the final consideration is cash.
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